
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Audit Board

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Wednesday 6 September 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Swinerd



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT BOARD

 AGENDA

Wednesday 6 September 2017

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Declarations of Interest. 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any  Grant(s) of Dispensation. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 
2017. 

MD
(Pages 1 - 14)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. References from Other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees at present for 
Members to consider. 

6. Report from the External Auditor 
(Pages 15 - 54)

To consider the report from the Council’s External Auditor, Grant 
Thornton UK, LLP.

7. Financial Statements (Statement of Accounts) 2016/17 
(Pages 55 - 

186)

This report present’s the Council’s Statement of Accounts for the 
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

8. Progress Report on Internal Audit Annual Plan 2017/18 
(Pages 187 - 

192)



This report provides Member of the Board with information 
regarding the progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2017/18.

9. Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress 
Report (Pages 193 - 

200)

This report is to update Members on progress of the 
implementation of recommendations agreed with Management 
during 2017 and to report on outstanding recommendations due 
for implementation by 31 July 2017.

10. Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board 
(Pages 201 - 

208)

This report is to inform Audit Board Members of the outcomes of 
the audits completed since the previous report to the Board on 28 
June 2017 and to provide Members with the opportunity to 
request clarification or further information, if considered 
necessary.

11. Selective Invoice Checks 
(Pages 209 - 

212)

During the June 2017 meeting of the Board, Members selected 
five creditor payments for checking. This report summarises the 
findings of that exercise and provides the opportunity for 
Members to select further payments for audit checking.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

AUDIT BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit Board held on Wednesday 28 June 2017 at 
7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor J S Hawkes (Shadow Chairman)
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor D Swinerd

ABSENT: None

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
& Chief Audit Executive (CAE)

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services) & Monitoring Officer 

Lisa Nyon – Principal Internal Auditor
Glen Moore – Counter Fraud Manager
Liz Jackson – Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton 

UK (External Auditor)
David Hook – Committee Co-ordinator (Member 

Services)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

There were no apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 
APRIL 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Audit Board meeting held on 12 April 2017 be 
confirmed as accurate.

4. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees for the Board to consider.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

2

5. ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 OF THE MONITORING OFFICER ON THE 
REVIEW OF ETHICAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
ANCILLARY MATTERS 

The report asked Members to review and endorse the Council’s ethical 
governance arrangements and ancillary matters for 2016/2017 as set out in 
Appendix A to the report.

The Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer reminded Members 
that the report was a standard item considered by the Board each year and 
that the format of the report remained unchanged. She advised of one 
correction to the published document for 2016-17 concerning the copying of 
Audit Board agendas and minutes to Parish/Town Clerks [Appendix A para 10 
(c) agenda p. 47 refers]. This was an historical reference dating back to the 
days of the Standards Committee. Parish/Town Clerks in fact viewed the 
Board’s papers via the Council’s website; this would be stated in future 
reports. 

Members were also advised that the Government appeared committed to a 
review of the ethical governance framework for Members [report para 6 
agenda pages 33-43] most likely now in 2018 and invited questions.

The Shadow Chairman asked why the Audit Board received the report on an 
annual basis and what was there for Members to consider, as opposed to 
simply noting the report’s contents.

The Head of Legal Services advised Members that it was not a statutory 
requirement for the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report to come before the 
Audit Board. It was presented to Members on the grounds of ‘good practice’, 
given that it supported and acted as a good reference document for the 
Annual Governance Statement presented elsewhere in the agenda papers 
[Item 15 Min. No. 14 refers]. In addition, inclusion of the report in the agenda 
made the document public and the Council’s processes transparent and 
accountable.

In response to several follow-up questions from the Shadow Chairman, the 
following points were confirmed by Officers:

 In compiling the annual report the Head of Legal Services would review 
areas of operation relating to Members e.g. Gift & Hospitality Protocol 
and ensure it was fit for purpose;

 The Financial Services Manager undertook a review of all financial 
matters and ensured that all procedures in place complied with and 
supported the Annual Governance Statement document;

 The desk-top review of the Council’s processes to insure fitness for 
purpose did not require consultation with Members;

 The related Annual Governance Statement picked up on matters of 
clarity and transparency in the Council’s daily operation and production 
of services to residents;



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

3

 The MO’s Annual Report stated what arrangements were in place: the 
related Annual Governance Statement picked up any discrepancies 
and incorporated revised arrangements/targets into its Governance 
Action Plan-Progress Review document for the following year.

At the suggestion of the Vice-Chairman, the Shadow Chairman agreed that 
his line of questioning might be more pertinent to consideration of the Annual 
Governance Statement [Item 15 – Min. No. 14 refers].

RESOLVED:

1. That the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report 2016/17 on the Review of 
Ethical Governance Arrangements and Ancillary Matters, as set out in 
Appendix A to the report, be endorsed. 

6. COMPLAINTS MONITORING AND PROCEDURE REVIEW -  2016/2017 

The Head of Legal Services advised Members that this was another standard 
report presented to the Board each year. Appendices A and B provided 
information on the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure, including the 
number and nature of complaints received in respect of the services provided 
by the Council during the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

A Member noted that the number of complaints at Stage 1 had almost 
doubled from 60 in 2015/16 to 113 in 2016/17 [report para 3.20 (a) agenda 
p.59] and that complaints upheld had risen by some 10% in 2016/17 over the 
previous year [report para 3.20 (b) p.59].

The Strategic Director (External Services) & Monitoring Officer advised 
Members that Dartford’s continuing traffic problems and housing demands 
were responsible for the majority of the increase in complaints received and 
upheld. It was often a moot point whether a complaint was in fact a denied 
service request e.g. a refused housing move became a complaint about a 
valid policy decision. Council Officers had noted an increase in complaints 
across all neighbouring local authorities in the period under review. Dartford 
could draw comfort from the fact that complaints referred to the Ombudsman 
continued to be low and the number of complaints where compensation was 
paid by the Council even lower [2 cases].

In response to a specific question from a Member, the Monitoring Officer 
confirmed that complaints logged on-line by residents concerning the 
Council’s household waste collection service (undertaken by the contractor 
Amey) were incorporated into the complaint’s totals and responded to in the 
same way as written complaints.

The Vice-Chairman; speaking in his role as Lead Member for Waste, Re-
Cycling and Household Services; advised Members that residents were 
encouraged to report any discrepancies in service by the contractor to better 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

4

enable the Council to hold Amey to account and to consistently meet their 
contractual obligations. He also confirmed that complaints were escalated 
with the contractor as required e.g. when a household waste collection was 
missed on 2 or more consecutive occasions at a property.

The Shadow Chairman expressed his disquiet that complaints had increased 
in the period under review. Drilling down into the data might help to reveal 
good reasons for the significant rise in complaints in the period under review. 
However, he saw all complaints as a ‘failure of policy’. He asked what the 
process was to escalate the Officer-centric complaints process to the 
appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder as the responsible elected politician; to 
ensure that lessons over service delivery failure were properly learnt and 
where necessary, policy changes made to address those service failures.

The Strategic Director (External Services) did not agree that a rise in or of 
multiple complaints necessarily equated to a failure in Council policy. In the 
specific case of the Council’s waste service contract with Amey, there were 
many variable outside factors that could impact on daily service delivery e.g. a 
closure of the Pepperhill waste facility [preventing waste collection by Amey 
on a given day] – these were operational issues not policy failures.

The Shadow Chairman maintained his view that multiple complaints against a 
specific service area indicated a potential failure in policy rather than an 
operational issue and that in such cases the Cabinet Portfolio Holder (PH); as 
the elected accountable politician; should meet his/her responsibilities. The 
key point was one of timing: at what stage did a Cabinet Member decide that 
too many complaints had been received about a service area and that a 
change of Council policy was required.

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the Vice-Chairman; in 
his role as Lead Member for Waste, Recycling & Household Services; held 
regular meetings with the Council’s Waste Manager and the contractor Amey, 
over individual service issues. The Vice-Chairman and the Council’s Waste 
Manager also actively participated in their respective Member and Officer 
Kent Resource Partnership Working Groups to address wider issues.

The Vice-Chairman confirmed that as the relevant Lead Member, he reviewed 
complaints on a regular basis and any perceived failures in Council policy 
were brought to the attention of Cabinet as appropriate and by extension, the 
Scrutiny Committee as a Cabinet decision. If complaints involved outside 
partners, the Council’s role was limited. But it was always open to the Scrutiny 
Committee to invoke the Draw-Down process and have the matter addressed 
in that forum, with the outside body invited to respond.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital 
Projects (attending in his capacity as a member of the Audit Board); confirmed 
that Cabinet Members held close working relationships with their Heads of 
Service. He said that the escalation process to deal with repeated complaints 
in a specific service area was justified and that Cabinet Members saw and 
helped to process all complaints within their Portfolios.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

5

The Chairman advised that as ‘designated person’ for the Council in the 
resolution of complaints [relating to the Council’s function as landlord] it was 
often the case that the complainant did not ‘like’ a Council policy, rather than 
the policy in question being deficient. Most complaints were mundane in 
nature, however he monitored all complaints within his portfolio for any policy 
aspects or implications and would consult Cabinet as necessary with any 
findings. His training as ‘designated person’ had included the review of many 
Ombudsman cases to augment his appreciation of policy issues.

The Head of Legal Services reminded Members that it was always open to 
individual complainants to seek redress from the Ombudsman/Housing 
Ombudsman if they so wished. However, in the vast majority of such cases 
the Ombudsman had found in the Council’s favour. The Ombudsman’s annual 
review letter detailing the number of complaints received against the Council 
and outcomes are reported to Cabinet. 

Member discussion moved on to the subject of Satisfaction Surveys and their 
correlation to the Council’s complaints process. 

The Head of Legal Services advised Members that inclusion of a Satisfaction 
Survey was an historical requirement within the Council’s current complaints 
process, which also enabled the Council to include an Equalities & Diversity 
Questionnaire. Estimating the ‘satisfaction’ element achieved through the 
Council’s complaints procedure was a useful tool in assessing outcomes.

The Strategic Director (External Services) warned Members that in some 
cases, complainants used the Satisfaction Survey to continue their complaint 
if it had been unsuccessful or they did not like the outcome. Complainants 
wanted foremost to be heard and to receive an apology, but it was not always 
appropriate to give one. However, she continued to view the Satisfaction 
Survey as a useful and helpful tool in the Council’s complaints process. 

RESOLVED;

1. That the Complaints Monitoring and Procedure Review 2016/17 be 
endorsed by the Board;

2. That the Head of Legal Services and the Strategic Director (External 
Services) be thanked for their further explanations to the Board in 
support of the comprehensive review document and appendix.

7. PLANNED AUDIT FEE FOR 2017/18 

The covering report from the Financial Services Manager (FSM) asked 
Members to consider the Audit Fee letter from the Council’s External Auditor, 
Grant Thornton UK [attached as Appendix A to the report] and to note the 
proposed audit fee for 2017/18.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

6

Liz Jackson, Engagement Lead for the Council’s External Auditors advised 
Members that she had nothing to add to her self-explanatory letter [Appendix 
A] which set the planned audit fee for the Council for 2017/18 as £46,405. 

The separate Grant’s fee had yet to be set, due to the fluctuating nature of the 
two year cycle for that work. A proposed Grant’s fee would be presented to a 
future meeting of the Audit Board in 2018. 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members’ note the proposed Audit Fee for 2017/18 set out in the 
External Auditor’s letter attached as Appendix A to the covering report;

2. That Members note that the External Auditor will present a proposed 
Grant’s fee to a future meeting of the Board in 2018.

8. FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

The report from the Financial Services Manager (FSM) was presented by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services).

Members were reminded that a full review of Financial Regulations had been 
identified in the 2016 Annual Governance Review previously presented to the 
Board. A thorough review had been undertaken in the intervening 12 month 
period and a new set of ‘Officer friendly’ easy to read Financial Regulations 
agreed by the Managing Director under his delegated powers, was attached 
as Appendix A to the report for Members to note.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the new Financial Regulations 2017 as attached at 
Appendix A to the report.

9. COUNTER FRAUD & COMPLIANCE TEAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 

The report updated the Audit Board on the work undertaken by the Counter 
Fraud & Compliance Team during the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Counter Fraud Manager advised the Board that his Team continued to 
recover sizeable sums of money through their investigations of Council Tax 
fraud, Council Tax Reduction fraud and local housing related fraud issues; 
based within the joint Revenues & Benefits Service based in Sevenoaks 
Council. His Team had continued to forge an increasingly effective working 
relationship with the R & B Services in the period under review.

The Counter Fraud Team adopted a progressive three strand approach in 
their work to counter incidents of fraud in the local authority system of 
Prevent, Detect and Investigate; in support of the wider efforts of the 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

7

Department of Work & Pensions’ Single Fraud Investigation Service (S-FIS) to 
investigate Housing Benefit fraud on a nation-wide basis since February 2016.
External funding at County level had assisted in the purchase of credit 
reference technology and further training of the dedicated Counter Fraud 
Team to augment their proven investigative powers. 

‘Successes’ for the Team in the period under review were summarised in 
table format in paragraph 4 of Appendix A to the covering report. The table 
gave a flavour of the types of fraud and actual loss amounts incurred [which 
fell to the taxpayer to repay] together with a projection of future losses which 
would have been incurred, had the original irregularity not been discovered.

The Chairman expressed his thanks to the Counter Fraud Manager and his 
Team in their continued efforts to protect the funds and reputation of the 
Council, with one suggestion for future reports. That the current wording in the 
table of ‘Projected Additional Loss’ be amended to read ‘Projected Potential 
Loss’ in future reports for greater clarity and public consumption.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder present commended the report to his fellow 
Members and noted that, in addition to countering Council Tax Reduction and 
related fraud, the Counter Fraud Team had also been successful in detecting 
and preventing Business Rate fraud amongst the better-off residents within 
the Dartford community.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the work undertaken by the Counter Fraud & 
Compliance Team during 2016/17;

2. That the Board’s thanks and congratulations be passed to the Counter 
Fraud Team and recorded in the Minutes.

10. ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL AUDIT 
SERVICE 2016-17 

The report provided Members with a summary of the findings from the review 
of the effectiveness of the system of the Internal Audit Service 2016/17 
against the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The details of the 
self-assessment review were attached at Appendix A to the report. The 
opinion of the Principal Auditor following the review was that the Council's 
arrangements in place for Internal Audit in 2016/17 were substantially 
compliant with the PSIAS with one exception.

Members were advised that the position of Chief Audit Executive (CAE) 
continued to be held by the Council’s section 151 Officer (S151) & Strategic 
Director for Internal Services; in the continued long-term absence of the Audit, 
Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager (ARAFM). 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

8

The Council’s External Auditors were aware of the continuing arrangement 
and the matter had been highlighted within the Annual Governance Statement 
for 2016/17 [Agenda Item 15 Min. No. 14 refers]. Mitigating steps taken to 
safeguard the independence off the CAE role, were set out in para 3.3 of the 
report [agenda p.151]. 

Any partial compliance with the PSIAS identified in Appendix A would be 
addressed in the Action Plan.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the outcome of the review of the self-assessment 
of the effectiveness of the Internal Audit Service for 2016/17 as set out 
in Appendix A to the report.

 

11. REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS - PROGRESS 
REPORT 

The standard report and appendices updated Members on progress of the 
implementation of recommendations agreed with Management and to report 
on outstanding recommendations due for implementation by 30 April 2017.

The Principal Auditor referred Members to the significant list of achievements 
made by the Internal Audit Team since the last update report to the Board [as 
listed in Appendix A - Agenda p.193]. Where recommendations remained 
outstanding [Appendix B - Agenda pages 195-201] extra audit days had been 
allocated to complete the work. An added supervisory measure introduced in 
the period under review, was that all individual audit recommendations were 
now side-copied to the Principal Auditor, to help monitor progress. 

Resolved:

1. That Members note the reasons for delayed implementation of the 
audit recommendations as set out in Appendix B to the report;

2. That Members endorse the revised dates for implementation provided 
by Management as noted in Appendix B to the report.

12. AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD 

The report (and attached Appendices A and B) informed Members of the 
outcomes of the audits completed since the previous report to the Board on 
12 April 2017 and provided Members with the opportunity to request 
clarification or further information as deemed necessary.

The Principal Auditor referred Members to the table in Appendix A to the 
report [Agenda p. 205] which listed the 6 audit reports issued, since the Board 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

9

last met in April. Five (5) reports had achieved Full or Substantial Opinions. 
The 6th audit undertaken - ‘Payroll 2016/17’ - had achieved a Limited 
Assurance Opinion. Details of that review were set out in Appendix B [Agenda 
pages 207/8]. Members would be fully advised of the implementation of 
recommendations made at a future meeting of the Board.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report and attached 
Appendices A and B.

13. SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS 

At the last meeting of the Audit Board on 12 April 2017 Members selected five 
creditor payments for checking. The report advised Members of the outcome 
of that exercise.

The results of the review by Internal Audit confirmed that all spend decisions 
taken were appropriate and in compliance with Council procedures, as 
summarised in the report.

Members were invited to select five (5) further creditor payments for 
examination by the Internal Audit team and subsequent reporting to the Board 
in September 2017.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report;

2. That five (5) further creditor payments be selected by Members for 
checking by Internal Audit with the outcome of that exercise reported 
back to the Board at its next meeting in September 2017.

14. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

The report reminded Members that the Council was responsible for ensuring 
that its business was conducted in accordance with the law and proper 
standards and that public money was safeguarded and properly accounted 
for. 

In discharging this responsibility the Council had to ensure that it had good 
governance arrangements in place and that it operated a sound system of 
internal control and that it reviewed those arrangements on an annual basis. 
The report and Appendices considered the review process of governance and 
system of internal control which had operated in the 2016/17 financial cycle.  

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) & Section 152 Officer presented the 
report and Appendices to the Board in the absence of the Financial Services 
Manager (FSM). She advised Members that a detailed review process had 
been undertaken by the FSM, in conjunction with the Monitoring Officer, Head 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

10

of Legal Services and herself as SD (IS) & Section 151 Officer. The review 
had been conducted against the Local Code of Practice which incorporated 
the CIPFA/SOLACE Principles, as set out in the publication ‘Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government (2016)’.  

Management Team had approved the review and agreed that the draft Annual 
Governance Statement for the year ended 31 March 2017 [attached as 
Appendix A to the report] be referred to the Board for approval. Appendix B to 
the report set out the Review of the Council’s Governance Arrangements 
2016/17; including the current and future role of the Chief Account Executive 
(CAE); Appendix C comprised the Governance Action Plan 2016/17 and 
Appendix D the Action Plan for 2017/18. 

In addition, a number of other reports fed-into the Annual Governance 
Statement, including the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Review of Ethical 
Governance Arrangements and Ancillary Matters [Min. No. 5 refers].  

The Shadow Chairman advised that he had no comments on the internal 
controls in place. However, he judged the Council’s Corporate Plan as a 
prime example of a policy document which lacked clarity in its Objectives and 
the ownership of those Objectives by individual Cabinet Portfolio Holders. The 
fact that Cabinet voted collectively made for a lack of clarity and transparency 
for the public as to which Cabinet Member should be held to account for any 
failings in policy or service provision.

He perceived a similar lack of clarity regarding policy implementation, service 
delivery and public accountability, concerning the Council’s current Committee 
system. He gave as an example his Chairmanship of the Council’s Scrutiny 
Committee. As Chairman, he was entitled to request the attendance of 
officers and representatives from other organisations and outside bodies to 
e.g. examine policy/service delivery in a given area. But he did not have the 
power to command such attendance. He viewed the Council’s Cabinet 
Advisory Committees [CAP A and CAP B] and the Policy Overview 
Committee [POC] to operate under similar restrictions of organisational 
structure. He stressed that his comments were not a personal reflection on 
the Chairmen of those Committees or indeed individual Cabinet Portfolio 
Holders. It was the current system of collective decision making by Cabinet 
that was at fault. In his estimation, collective decision making engendered a 
lack of policy ownership in individual Cabinet Portfolio Holders and led to a 
lack of clarity/transparency for the public. His experience was that such 
Committees and individual Cabinet Portfolio Holders operated with far greater 
individual ownership in other local authorities. He was not sure that the 
Council had reached the same level of good governance in its Cabinet model.

The Chairman reminded the Board that all Members of all Committees were 
bound by a duty of collective responsibility, with Cabinet being the ultimate 
example of that principle. The collective responsibility obligation prevented 
individual Members from shooting-off at tangents and taking decisions in 
isolation that conflicted with stated Council policy.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

11

The Shadow Chairman agreed that all Members were governed by a duty of 
collective responsibility. Indeed, he noted that the Leader of the Council 
reminded all Members of this policy at Annual Council each year, underlining 
the fact that Cabinet Portfolio Holders held no individual responsibility and by 
extension accountability. He accepted that the Council had governance 
arrangements in place, but questioned whether that governance policy of 
Cabinet decision making was the most effective model available.

The External Auditor advised that were Members to reject the Annual 
Governance Statement detailing the governance arrangements that had been 
in place for 2016/17 [as presented in the report] such a serious step should be 
voted upon by the Board. Grant Thornton, as External Auditor, did not have 
an opinion on the collective Cabinet decision making model of governance. 
Some Council’s had strong Leaders, others operated on a more collegiate 
basis within Cabinet. Provided that no major failures of policy occurred, either 
mode of operation was deemed to be effective.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Finances & Major Capital Projects - 
attending as a Board Member - spoke in support of the present Cabinet model 
of governance. It had been adopted following the change of Administration in 
2004 to take authority away from Committees and invest it collectively in 
Cabinet. He believed the model to be a reflection of open and transparent 
governance and advised that Portfolio Holders spoke openly and authoritively 
at Cabinet. The addition of Cabinet Advisory Panels [CAP A and B] under the 
current Administration with independent Chairmen, gave all Members of 
Council the opportunity to feed into the Cabinet decision making process. An 
added measure of balance and transparency was that the Shadow Leader of 
the Council always assumed the role of Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee.

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman spoke separately in support of the Cabinet 
Member’s advocacy of the Cabinet model of governance, which worked well 
in their estimation; aided by the introduction of the additional Cabinet Advisory 
Panels, to help feed into the overall governance arrangements of the Council. 
The Chairman added that he had experienced both the former Committee 
system and the current Cabinet model of governance. He expressed a strong 
preference for the Cabinet model of collective decision making over power 
being invested in individual Committees and their Chairmen.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) & Section 151 Officer confirmed for 
Members that the majority of Kent’s local authorities followed the Cabinet 
model of governance. Dartford’s addition of Cabinet Advisory Panels was a 
further positive refinement of the Cabinet model, which her last local authority 
employer had lacked.

The Shadow Chairman advised that it was not a question of Cabinet v 
Committee, for a model of governance arrangements. There were shades of 
grey between the two systems and an integrated model would be more 
effective in his opinion. He proposed an independent review of the current 
governance arrangements; outside the remit of the Audit Board; to give 
Committee Chairman real power. He also advocated that Cabinet Portfolio 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

12

Holders (rather than officers) present reports at Scrutiny, POC and the CAP 
Advisory Panels, to help underline their ownership of policy and accountability 
for implementation, thus increasing transparency for the public. He believed 
there was space for such a review, whilst accepting the current governance 
arrangements, as set out in the Annual Governance Statement.  

Following additional advice from the Committee Co-ordinator, Members 
agreed that a formal vote should take place to address the concerns voiced 
by the Shadow Chairman and that the outcome of that vote be recorded in the 
Minutes of the meeting.

The Shadow Chairman clarified the following wording for the record:

‘That Audit Board Members agree that a review of the current policy of 
collective Cabinet decision making be undertaken, with a view to increasing 
the decision making powers, responsibility and public accountability of 
individual Cabinet Portfolio Holders’.

Upon a vote being taken by a show of hands, the Resolution was defeated by 
6 votes to 1. Members in favour of the resolution as stated above were: 
Councillor J S Hawkes (Shadow Chairman). 

Members who voted against the Resolution as stated above were:

Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A Lloyd (Cabinet Portfolio Holder)
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor D Swinerd
 
Following the recorded vote, the Board on a unanimous basis RESOLVED: 

1. That Members note the review of the Council’s Corporate Governance 
arrangements for 2016-17 as summarised in the report;

2. That Members approve the Annual Governances Statement enclosed 
as Appendix A to the report for inclusion in the Annual Statement of 
Accounts;

3. That Members approve the 2017-18 Corporate Governance Action 
Plan enclosed as Appendix D to the report.

15. INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 

The report provided Members with a summary of the work of the Internal Audit 
Service during the 2016-17 financial year to 31 March 2017. It outlined the 
achievements of the Internal Audit Section during the year under review and, 
based on the work completed, informed the Board of the Chief Audit 
Executives overall opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

13

control environment, which was timed to support the Annual Governance 
Statement considered elsewhere in the Agenda [Min. No. 14 refers].

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) in her role as Chief Audit Executive 
(CAE) in the period under review, referred Members to her Opinion, regarding 
the Council’s internal control environment as set out in Appendix A to the 
report [para 2.3 agenda p. 311 refers]. 

She had concluded that the Council’s Control Environment had contributed 
effectively to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources in 
achieving the Council’s objectives. In reaching her conclusion, the CAE had 
regarded the work of the Internal Audit Service during the 2016-17 financial 
cycle and the work undertaken in that period by the Council’s External 
Auditors, Grant Thornton UK, together with other sources of assurance.

The CAE confirmed that her continued position as CAE would be reviewed 
and the outcome of this reported back to Members at a future meeting of the 
Board.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the content of the Annual Internal Audit Report 
2016-17 enclosed as Appendix A to the covering report;

2. That Members support the conclusion of the Chief Audit Executive 
(CAE) that the Council had effective internal controls, risk management 
and governance arrangements in place, for delivering its objectives and 
for the management of its business risks, during the period 1 April 2016 
to 31 March 2017.

16. CIPFA TRAINING WITH SEVENOAKS AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

The Chairman advised that the joint CIPFA training with Members of the 
Sevenoaks Audit Committee on 5 June 2017 had been interesting, if slightly 
long at between 3-4 hours in length. He noted that Dartford Members had 
outnumbered their Sevenoaks counterparts on the night. 

Regarding the substance of the training, he said that he had not agreed with 
all the trainer’s recommendations. In particular, the advice that Audit 
Board/Committee Chairmen only serve for a term of 2 years. He saw value in 
Audit Chairmen serving longer terms given the experience and fiscal 
knowledge they acquired in the role.  

The Shadow Chairman echoed the comments of the Chairman concerning the 
length of the training at the end of a working day for many Councillors. He had 
found the training particularly instructive and interesting concerning external 
‘best practice’ and expressed the view that a next step might be further joint-
working with Sevenoaks Members over ‘best internal practice’. 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 28 JUNE 2017

14

The Chairman supported this proposal and reminded Members that he and 
his Sevenoaks counter-part had attend each other’s meetings on a guest 
basis previously. His personal impression from that experience was that the 
Council’s Audit Board tended to stick to the meeting agenda, whilst the 
Sevenoaks Audit Committee tended to debate topics more widely outside the 
parameters of the printed agenda. He supported further joint working with 
Sevenoaks Members, provided proceedings remained concise.  

RESOLVED:

1. That the Chairman and Shadow Chairman explore the possibility of 
attending meetings of the Sevenoaks Audit Committee in a working 
capacity and that their Sevenoaks counter-parts attend future meetings 
of the Audit Board in a similar working capacity.

The meeting closed at 8.35 pm

Councillor D A Hammock
CHAIRMAN



              
AUDIT BOARD
6 September 2017

Report from the External Auditor

1.      Summary

The External Auditor has completed the audit of the Council’s 2016/17 
Accounts and now presents her “Audit Findings” report to Members 
(attached as Appendix A to this report). 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members welcome the External Auditor’s intention to issue an
  unqualified opinion on both the Financial Statements and the Value for
  Money Conclusion.

      2.2 That Members approve the Letter of Representation at Appendix B.

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1 The 2016/17 Statement of Accounts was completed by the 30 June deadline 
and submitted to the External Auditor for review. The External Auditor has 
completed the audit of the accounts and now presents the Audit Findings 
Report (Appendix A) to the Board. The Board should consider the External 
Auditor’s report before approving for publication the 2016/17 accounts (see the 
next item on the agenda).  

3.2 The Audit Manager (Elizabeth Jackson) will present the report to the Board. 
The External Auditor proposes an unqualified opinion on the accounts and an 
unqualified value for money conclusion.

3.3 Members should note that the audit process went well with improved 
communication and the relationship between the External Auditor and finance 
staff has remained positive.

3.4 The Auditors have noted their findings in their report. Limited changes were 
made to the draft statement as part of the audit process however, no changes 
were made that change the draft outturn position for revenue and capital 
budgets presented to Cabinet in July. There have been no changes to the level 
of usable reserves.

3.5 There is one unadjusted misstatement in the accounts. During the audit two 
non-material errors related to plant, property and equipment revaluations were 
identified. Amendment would require a number of the statements and notes to 
be revised so the risk of making the amendment is not outweighed by the 
value. 



 
AUDIT BOARD
6 September 2017

3.6 The report includes a management action plan in relation to recommendations 
that the auditors have made. The management response is shown alongside 
the recommendations.

3.7 Appendix B is the letter of Representation that the Strategic Director of Internal 
Services is required to sign. It confirms that the Council has complied with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, provided the auditor with 
access to all relevant information and other sundry matters. The External 
Auditor requires the Board to approve the letter.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The completion, approval and audit of the annual statement of accounts by the 
statutory deadline are key requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015. This is one way that the Council demonstrates that it is a well-managed 
organisation making the best use of its resources, which is part of the Council 
Performing Strongly theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None specifically
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Audit Findings report 2016/17;
Appendix B – Letter of Representation for the year ended 31 March 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
343148

Financial 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

.

The Audit Findings Report

for Dartford Borough Council

Year ended 31 March 2017

Elizabeth Jackson

Engagement Lead

T 020 7728 3329

E elizabeth.l.jackson@uk.gt.com

Matt Dean

Engagement Manager

T 020 7728 3181

E matthew.dean@uk.gt.com

Sangeeta Kakati

In-Charge Accountant

T 020 7728 3421

E sangeeta.Kakati@uk.gt.com

6 September 2017



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council |  2016/17 2

Private and Confidential

Chartered Accountants

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP.

A list of members is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and

its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. Please see grant-thornton.co.uk for further details..

Private and Confidential

This Audit Findings Report highlights the key findings arising from the audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance (in the case of 

Dartford Borough Council, the Audit Board), to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260, the Local 

Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice. Its contents have been discussed with management.

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK & Ireland) ('ISA (UK&I)'), which is directed towards 

forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of 

the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements. 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the 

purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and giving a value for money conclusion. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all 

areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be 

relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive special examination might 

identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this 

report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the kind assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Yours sincerely

Elizabeth Jackson

Engagement Lead

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

30 Finsbury Square

London

EC2P 2YU

T +44 (0) 20 7383 5100

www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

6 September 2017

Dear Members of the Audit Board

Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council for the year ending 31 March 2017

Dartford Borough Council

Civic Centre

Home Gardens

Dartford

Kent

DA1 1DR



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 3

Contents

Section Page

1. Executive summary 4

2. Audit findings 8

3. Value for Money 22

4. Fees, non-audit services and independence 25

5. Communication of audit matters 28

Appendices

A Action plan 31

B  Audit opinion 32



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 1: Executive summary

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

05. Communication of audit matters

04. Fees, non audit services and independence



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 5

Executive summary

Purpose of this report

This report highlights the key issues affecting the results of Dartford Borough 

Council ('the Council') and the preparation of the Council's financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2017. It is also used to report our audit findings to 

management and those charged with governance in accordance with the 

requirements of ISA (UK&I) 260, and the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 ('the Act').  

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we 

are required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial statements 

give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and its income 

and expenditure for the year and whether they have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. . 

We are also required to consider other information published together with the 

audited financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

and Narrative Report, whether it is consistent with the financial statements, 

apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our 

knowledge of the Council acquired in the course of performing our audit; or 

otherwise misleading.

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves on whether the 

Council has made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM) conclusion'). 

Auditor Guidance Note 7 (AGN07) clarifies our reporting requirements in the 

Code and the Act. We are required to provide a conclusion whether in all 

significant respects, the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure 

value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for 

the year.

The Act also details the following additional powers and duties for local 

government auditors, which we are required to report to you if applied:

• a public interest report if we identify any matter that comes to our attention 

in the course of the audit that in our opinion should be considered by the 

Council or brought to the public's attention (section 24 of the Act); 

• written recommendations which should be considered by the Council and 

responded to publicly (section 24 of the Act);

• application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 

to law (section 28 of the Act);  

• issue of an advisory notice (section 29 of the Act); and

• application for judicial review (section 31 of the Act).  

We are also required to give electors the opportunity to raise questions about 

the accounts and consider and decide upon objections received in relation to 

the accounts under sections 26 and 27 of the Act. 

Introduction

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change our audit 

approach, which we communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 12 April 

2017. 

Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our procedures in 

the following areas: 

• receipt of the outstanding confirmation from your investment counter 

parties

• completion of our final internal reviews

• review of the final version of the financial statements

• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation

• review of final version of the Annual Governance Statement, and

• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the 

opinion

We received draft financial statements and accompanying working papers at the 

commencement of our work, in accordance with the agreed timetable. 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 6

Executive summary

Key audit and financial reporting issues

Financial statements opinion

We have identified no adjustments affecting the Council's reported financial 

position (details are recorded in section two of this report).  The draft financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 recorded net expenditure of 

£38,606k, which will be the figure reported in the audited financial statements. We 

have recommended a number of adjustments to improve the presentation of the 

financial statements.

The key message arising from our audit of the Council's financial statements are:

• A good quality set of draft accounts were prepared for the earlier deadline of 

end May 

• Supporting working papers were of a good standard and were provided in 

advance of the audit commencing

• The finance team responded promptly to queries which enabled us to complete 

the audit in the agreed timeframe

• During the course of our work on Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE), we 

identified two assets which had been revalued by the Council’s valuer, but had 

not been reflected on the PPE Register. As the value of this error was not 

material, and would require a number of adjustments to the accounts, the 

Council has chosen not to amend the accounts. There is no impact on the 

reported financial position and we have reported this as an Unadjusted 

Misstatement. 

Further details are set out in section two of this report.

We anticipate providing a unqualified audit opinion in respect of the financial 

statements (see Appendix B).

Other financial statement responsibilities

As well as an opinion on the financial statements, we are required to give an 

opinion on whether other information published together with the audited 

financial statements is consistent with the financial statements. This includes if the

AGS and Narrative Report is misleading or inconsistent with the information of 

which we are aware from our audit.

Based on our review of the Council’s Narrative Report and AGS we are satisfied 

that they are consistent with the audited financial statements. We are also 

satisfied that the AGS meets the requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE 

guidance and that the disclosures included in the Narrative Report are in line 

with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice.

Controls

Roles and responsibilities

The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 

management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 

monitoring the system of internal control.

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of 

control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 

control weaknesses, we report these to the Council. 

Findings

We draw your attention to control issues identified in relation to:

• timely and accurate updating of the Property, Plant and Equipment Register; 

and

• setting a de-minimus for accruals of both income and expenditure at year 

end to ensure due focus can be provided to the material elements of the 

accounts.

Further details are provided within section two of this report.



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 7

Executive summary

Value for Money

Based on our review, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the 

Council had proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Further detail of our work on Value for Money are set out in section three 

of this report.

Other statutory powers and duties

We have not identified any issues that have required us to apply our 

statutory powers and duties under the Act.

Grant certification

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code, we are required to 

certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the 

Department for Work and Pensions. At present our work on this claim is 

in progress and is not due to be finalised until 30 November 2017. We will 

report the outcome of this certification work through a separate report to 

Audit Board in early 2018 once this work is complete.

The way forward

Matters arising from the financial statements audit and our review of the 

Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

its use of resources have been discussed with the Strategic Director of 

Internal Services.

We have made a number of recommendations, which are set out in the 

action plan at Appendix A. Recommendations have been discussed and 

agreed with the Strategic Director of Internal Services and the finance team.

Acknowledgement

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

Grant Thornton UK LLP

September 2017



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 2: Audit findings

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Fees, non audit services and independence

05. Communication of audit matters



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 9

Audit findings

In performing our audit, we apply the concept of materiality, following the requirements of ISA (UK&I) 320: Materiality in planning and performing an audit. The standard 

states that 'misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements'. 

As we reported in our audit plan, we determined overall materiality to be £1,328k (being 2% of gross revenue expenditure). We have considered whether this level remained 

appropriate during the course of the audit and have made no changes to our overall materiality.

We also set an amount below which misstatements would be clearly trivial and would not need to be accumulated or reported to those charged with governance because we 

would not expect that the accumulated effect of such amounts would have a material impact on the financial statements. We have defined the amount below which 

misstatements would be clearly trivial to be £66,400. This remains the same as reported in our audit plan.

As we reported in our audit plan, we have not identified any items where we decided that separate materiality levels were appropriate.

Materiality

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of the financial statements; Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, 

or a combination of both; and Judgments about matters that are material to users of the financial statements are based on a consideration of the common financial information needs 

of users as a group. The possible effect of misstatements on specific individual users, whose needs may vary widely, is not considered. (ISA (UK&I) 320)



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 10

Audit findings against significant risks

Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 there is a presumed risk that 

revenue may be misstated due to the improper 

recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes 

that there is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud 

relating to revenue recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of 

the revenue streams at Dartford Borough Council, we have determined 

that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 

because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including

Dartford Borough Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as 

unacceptable.

Therefore we did not consider this to be a significant risk for Dartford 

Borough Council.

Our audit work has not identified any issues 

in respect of revenue recognition.

Management over-ride of controls

Under ISA (UK&I) 240 it is presumed  that the risk of  

management  over-ride of controls is present in all 

entities.

Summary of work performed:

• review of entity controls

• review of journal entry process and selection of unusual journal 

entries for testing back to supporting documentation

• review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by 

management

• review of unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any 

evidence of management over-ride of 

controls. In particular the findings of our 

review of journal controls and testing of 

journal controls and testing of journal entries 

has not identified any issues.

We set out later in this section of the report 

our work and findings on key accounting 

estimates and judgements. 

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 

presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, due to either size or nature, 

and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement uncertainty." (ISA (UK&I) 

315) . In making the review of unusual significant transactions "the auditor shall treat identified significant related party transactions outside the entity's normal course of business as 

giving rise to significant risks." (ISA (UK&I) 550)



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 11

Audit findings against other risks

Transaction 

cycle Description of risk Work completed

Assurance gained & issues 

arising

Operating

expenses

Non-pay expenditure represents a 

significant percentage of the Council’s 

gross expenditure. Management uses 

judgement to estimate accruals of un-

invoiced non-pay costs. 

We identified the completeness of non-

pay expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring 

particular audit attention: 

• Creditors understated or not 

recorded in the correct period 

(Operating expenses understated)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 undertaken a walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls 

were in line with our documented understanding

 performed substantive testing of operating expenditure across the year

 tested creditor payments, including accruals, for completeness, classification and 

occurrence.

 reviewed control account reconciliations

 completed cut-off testing of expenditure incurred either side of year end

 reviewed the allocation of apportioning expenses in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement (CIES) in line with the changes made as part of the CIPFA 

Telling the Story presentation changes.

Our audit work has not 

identified any issues in 

respect of this risk. 

We have raised a 

recommendation to set a de-

minimus level for accruals in 

2017/18.

Employee 

remuneration

Payroll expenditure represents a 

significant percentage of the Council’s 

gross expenditure.

We identified the completeness of 

payroll expenditure in the financial 

statements as a risk requiring 

particular audit attention: 

• Employee remuneration accruals 

understated (Remuneration 

expenses not correct)

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 undertaken a walkthrough of the key controls to assess the whether those controls 

were in line with our documented understanding

 reviewed the reconciliation between the payroll system and the general ledger at 

year end

 undertaken substantive testing of employee remuneration expenses across the year

 performed a trend analysis of employee remuneration expenses across the year and 

undertaken follow-up procedures on any unexpected movements or variances 

identified.

Our audit work has not 

identified any issues in 

respect of this risk. 

Audit findings

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  Recommendations, together with management 

responses are attached at appendix A.

"In respect of some risks, the auditor may judge that it is not possible or practicable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence only from substantive procedures. Such risks may 

relate to the inaccurate or incomplete recording of routine and significant classes of transactions or account balances, the characteristics of which often permit highly automated 

processing with little or no manual intervention. In such cases, the entity’s controls over such risks are relevant to the audit and the auditor shall obtain an understanding of them." 

(ISA (UK&I) 315) 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 12

Audit findings against other risks continued
Transaction 

cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising

Valuation of the 

pension fund net 

liability

The Council’s pension fund 

net liability that is reflected in 

its balance sheet represents 

a significant estimate in the 

financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 we have identified the controls put in place by management to ensure that the 

pension fund liability is not materially misstated. We have also assessed 

whether these controls were implemented as expected and whether they are 

sufficient to mitigate the risk of material misstatement.

 reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried 

out your pension fund valuation. We have also gained an understanding of the 

basis on which your valuation is carried out.

 undertaken procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial 

assumptions made.

 reviewed the consistency of the pension fund net liability and disclosures in the 

notes to the financial statements with the actuarial report from your actuary.

 we have also written to the auditor of the Kent Superannuation Fund to gain 

assurance over the data provided to the Actuary by the Fund on behalf of the 

Council to enable them to come up with a reasonable estimate for inclusion 

within the Council’s Accounts.

Our audit work has not identified any 

issues in respect of this risk. 

However, we identified that the 

discount rate factor used by the 

actuary, Barnett Waddingham, is 

outside of the auditors expert 

assessment and we performed 

additional procedures to confirm the 

factor used and variance is 

reasonable.

Valuation of 

property, plant 

and equipment

The Council revalues its 

assets on a rolling basis over 

a five year period. The Code 

requires that the Council 

ensures that the carrying

value at the balance sheet 

date is not materially different 

from current value. This 

represents a significant

estimate by management in 

the financial statements.

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 Reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the 

estimate.

 Reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts 

used.

 Reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work

 Discussed with the valuation expert about the basis on which the valuation is 

carried out and challenged the key assumptions.

 Reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuation expert to ensure it 

is robust and consistent with our understanding.

 Testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they are input correctly 

into the Council's asset register

 Evaluation of the assumptions made by management for those assets not 

revalued during the year and how management has satisfied themselves that 

these are not materially different to current value.

As mentioned in the summary, we 

identified two properties where the 

Council had not updated the PPE 

Register for the latest revaluations, 

resulting in a £504k understatement of 

the net book value shown in the 

Accounts. We have confirmed that the 

asset register is complete and that no 

other assets are missing from the 

register. 

The Council has decided not to amend 

the Accounts for this error and hence it 

is reported as an unadjusted 

misstatement in this report. 

No other issues were identified from 

the work performed in respect of this 

risk. 

Audit findings



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 13

Audit findings against other risks continued

Audit findings

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 

preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” 

(ISA (UK&I) 570). 

We reviewed the management's assessment of the going concern assumption and the disclosures in the financial statements and concluded that the Council remains a 

going concern for the foreseeable future. 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 14

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Revenue recognition The Council's revenue recognition policy is disclosed 

within Note 1 of the Accounts, within Accounting 

Policies, and covers each of the main areas of revenue 

received by the Council, including revenue received 

from the sale of goods, the provision of services along 

with how revenue is recognised for the non-exchange 

transactions such as Council Tax, Housing Rents and 

Business Rates.

Based on the work performed we have obtained sufficient and 

appropriate assurance over the breadth and detail provided in the 

revenue recognition accounting policy. We are satisfied that there 

are no material omissions.

Our testing of your various revenue sources did not identify any 

instances of inappropriate revenue recognition.



Green

Judgements and estimates Key estimates and judgements include:

 Useful life of capital equipment

 Pension fund valuations and settlements

 Impairments

 PPE revaluations

 Depreciation

 Bad debt provisions

 Business rate appeals

Your critical judgements and estimation uncertainties are disclosed 

within Notes 3 and 4 of the financial statements, and are in line with 

the requirements of the CIPFA Code.

We have reviewed your Business Rate Appeals provision, along with 

the calculation of depreciation in respect of Council Dwellings, and 

are satisfied with the approaches taken in each of these areas.



Green

Assessment

 - Red - Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  - Amber - Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 - Green - Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included 

with the Council's financial statements.  



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 15

Accounting policies, estimates and judgements continued

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment

Judgements - changes to the

presentation of local authority 

financial statements

The Council have undertaken a restatement 

of the prior year Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement to take account of the 

changes arising from the CIPFA Telling the 

Story Review. This has been clearly 

disclosed within the Narrative Report, and the 

required disclosures and notes have been 

included within the Accounts. 

Based on the work performed, we are satisfied with the approach 

taken by the Council in respect of the Telling the Story Review and 

this is clearly shown within the Accounts. 



Green

Going concern The Strategic Director of Internal Services, 

who is the s151 officer, has a reasonable 

expectation that the services provided by the 

Council will continue for the foreseeable 

future.  Members concur with this view. For 

this reason, the Council continue to adopt 

the going concern basis in preparing the 

financial statements.

We have reviewed the Council's assessment and are satisfied with 

management's assessment that the going concern basis is 

appropriate for the 2016/17 financial statements.



Green

Other accounting policies We have reviewed the Council's policies against the requirements of 

the CIPFA Code of Practice. The Council's accounting policies are 

appropriate and consistent with previous years.



Green

Assessment

 - Red - Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators  - Amber - Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure

 - Green - Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient

Audit findings

.  



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 16

Other communication requirements

Issue Commentary

1. Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit Board.  We have not been made aware of any incidents in the period 

and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

2. Matters in relation to related 

parties

 From the work we carried out, we have not identified any related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

3. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 

identified any incidences from our audit work.

4. Written representations  A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Council, which is included in the Audit Board papers. This letter does 

include a schedule detailing the unadjusted misstatement which has not been amended by management so the Audit Board can 

approve this decision and management’s judgement for not amending the accounts.

5. Confirmation requests from 

third parties 

 We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to all of the Council’s counter parties. This permission was 

granted and the requests were sent. All of these requests were returned with positive confirmation.

6. Disclosures  A number of minor disclosure amendments have been agreed following our review of the draft financial statements to improve the 

transparency of the disclosures included.

7. Matters on which we report by 

exception

 We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas:

We have not identified any issues we would be required to report by exception in the following areas

 If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 

misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit

 The information in the Narrative Report is materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements or our 

knowledge of the Group/Council acquired in the course of performing our audit, or otherwise misleading.

8. Specified procedures for 

Whole of Government 

Accounts 

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation

pack under WGA group audit instructions. 

 Note that detailed work has not be required as the Council did not exceed the £350m threshold across any of the criteria set out by 

the National Audit Office.

Audit findings

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 17

Internal controls

Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations

1.


Amber

Timely and accurate updating of the Property, Plant and Equipment Register

During the course of our work on the Council’s Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) we identified 

several issues relating to the PPE Register. These were: 

• A dwelling had been removed from the register in error due to it sharing an almost identical 

name to the dwelling which should had been removed. This had no financial impact as both 

properties had the same values;

• The revalued amounts for two properties had not been reflected in the updated Register, 

leading to an understatement of the PPE balance in the Accounts of £504k; and

• Embedded leases which had been fully depreciated by the Council had not been removed from 

the Register, which meant the gross values in the accounts were being overstated but the net 

values were correct.

Therefore the Council needs to ensure that the Register is updated in a timely and accurate 

manner to ensure it shows an accurate position of the Council’s PPE Assets at any given point in 

time, in particular ensuring it is accurate ahead of the accounts preparation. 

Ensure that the PPE Register is updated in a timely 

and accurate manner to ensure this reflects the 

Council’s current position during the course of the 

year.

2.


Amber

Setting a threshold for Income and Expenditure Accruals

Our audit testing of income and expenditure in the year identified a number of small value items. 

This creates extra work for the Council and could not have a material impact on the financial 

statements if they were incorrect. We have discussed setting a de-minimus level for accruals in the 

accounts to streamline the closedown process.

Set a de-minimus value for income and expenditure 

items to be included within the Accounts.

Audit findings

Assessment

 - Red - Significant deficiency – risk of significant misstatement

 - Amber - Deficiency – risk of inconsequential misstatement

The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have 

identified during the course of our audit and that we have concluded are of 

sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing 

standards.

"The purpose of an audit is for the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

Our audit included consideration of internal control relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 

The matters being reported are limited to those deficiencies that the auditor has identified during 

the audit and that the auditor has concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported 

to those charged with governance." (ISA (UK&I) 265) 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  | Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council |  2016/17 18

Internal controls – review of  issues raised in prior year

Assessment Issue and risk previously communicated Update on actions taken to address the issue

1. 


Lack of timely bank reconciliations

During the walkthrough of the Operating Expenses system, we identified 

that the Council was behind on its monthly bank reconciliations, with 

some having not been completed and others not having been reviewed. 

Whilst the Council was able to resolve this for year end, they needed to 

ensure the reconciliations were completed and reviewed in a timely 

manner during the course of the year to ensure any reconciling items 

could be identified and dealt with.

From our work performed during 2016/17, we identified that the Council has 

been completing and reviewing monthly bank reconciliations in a timely manner, 

and thus we are satisfied this point has been adequately cleared.

Audit findings

Assessment

 Action completed

X Not yet addressed



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 19

Adjusted misstatements

Audit findings

No adjusted misstatements have been identified from the work performed on this year’s accounts, refer to the following pages for the other issues identified from the 

work performed. 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 20

Unadjusted misstatement

Audit findings

Detail Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£'000

Balance Sheet

£'000

Reason for not adjusting

1 Our testing on PPE Revaluations identified two properties 

where the value in the fixed asset register, and thus the 

Accounts, had not been updated for the 2016/17 

revaluations. The revalued amount of these two properties 

was £636,933.00, which generated a gain on revaluation of 

£504,175.59, all of which would have been transferred to 

the Revaluation Reserve as no previous revaluation 

movements had been processed for these two properties.

There is no impact on the reported financial position of the 

Council.

Dr PPE 504

Cr Revaluation 

Reserve 504

The client has not adjusted this 

error as it is not material to overall 

financial position of the Council. 

The amendment would require a 

number of the Statements and 

notes to be revised so the risk of 

making the amendment is not 

outweighed by the value. 

Overall impact £0 £504

The table below provides details of the adjustment identified during the audit which has not been made within the final set of financial statements.  The Audit Board is 

required to approve management's proposed treatment of the item recorded within the table below:



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 21

Misclassifications and disclosure changes

Audit findings

Adjustment 

type

Value

£'000

Account balance Impact on the financial statements

1 Disclosure n/a Note 14 – Property, Plant

and Equipment

The Council has added some narrative to this note to set out the work performed to ensure 

the carrying value of the Property, Plant and Equipment included within the Accounts has not 

moved materially since the date of the most recent valuations.

2 Disclosure 6 Note 27 – Audit Fees The final housing benefit audit fee was not confirmed prior to the draft Accounts being 

submitted for audit and thus this disclosure has now been updated to reflect the revised fee 

agreed by PSAA Ltd for 2015/16.

3 Disclosure Various Collection Fund Statement Our testing identified that the Council had incorrectly disclosed the Collection Fund surpluses 

allocated to Kent Fire and Kent Police. These should be £317k and £240k respectively.

4 Disclosure Various Various Some minor disclosure amendments were made to the financial statements. These include: 

• Note 13 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure - narrative has been 

added to explain the Business Rate Pooling arrangements for 2016/17

• Note 33 Nature and Extent of Risks - the values within the table under Credit Risk for ‘less 

than three months’ and between ‘three and twelve months’ had been incorrectly disclosed

All other amendments were clearly trivial and do not require separate reporting. 

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 3: Value for Money

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04 Fees, non-audit services and independence

05. Communication of audit matters



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 23

Value for Money

Background

We are required by section 21 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
('the Act') and the NAO Code of Audit Practice ('the Code') to satisfy 
ourselves that the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper 
arrangements are in place at the Council. The Act and NAO guidance state 
that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on 
whether the Council has put proper arrangements in place. 

In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's Auditor 
Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2016. AGN 03 identifies 
one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

AGN03 provides examples of proper arrangements against three sub-criteria 
but specifically states that these are not separate criteria for assessment 
purposes and that auditors are not required to reach a distinct judgement 
against each of these. 

Risk assessment 

We carried out an initial risk assessment in March 2017 and from this work we 
confirmed that we had not identified any significant risks in respect of specific 
areas of proper arrangements using the guidance contained in AGN03. This 
was communicated to you in our Audit Plan dated 12 April 2017 

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving 
our report, and have not identified any further significant risks where we need 
to perform further work.

Significant qualitative aspects

AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the 

Council's arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

Whilst we did not identify any Significant Risks, we have undertaken an high level 

review of the Council’s short and long term financial position. From this work we have 

identified the following:

• The Council has increased the Earmarked Reserves at the end of 2016/17. The 

Council was able to maintain the General Fund Balance at £3m and set aside the 

£3.56m of New Homes Bonus in Earmarked Reserves. The led to an overall 

increase of £2.3m in these Reserves.

• The Council is forecasting that it will be able to take most of its New Homes Bonus 

to Reserves in 2017/18, which will lead to a further strengthening of this position.

• The Council is continuing to identify potential savings, and undertook a budget 

review exercise in 2016/17 to support the financial position. This will support the 

Council in years to come as the challenges for delivering services with a reducing 

budget increase.

The Council is in a sound position to deal with the forthcoming challenges over the 

medium term based on the financial planning for 2017/18 and performance in 

2016/17.

Overall conclusion

Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we concluded that:

• the Council had proper arrangements in all significant respects to ensure it delivered 

value for money in its use of resources. 

The text of our report, which confirms this can be found at Appendix B.



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 24

Value for money

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work

We did not identify any significant difficulties in undertaking our work on your 

arrangements which we wish to draw to your attention.

Significant matters discussed with management

There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 

significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 

management or those charged with governance. 

Any other matters

There were no other matters from our work which were significant to our 

consideration of your arrangements to secure value for money in your use of 

resources.



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 4: Fees, non-audit services and independence

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Fees, non audit services and independence

05. Communication of audit matters



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 26

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.

Independence and ethics

• We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our 

independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We 

have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and confirm that 

we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 

statements.

• We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the 

requirements of the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards.

• For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP 

teams providing services to the Council. The table below summarises all non-audit 

services which were identified.

Fees for other services

Service Fees £

Audit related services:

• Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts 

Return

TBC

Non-audit services None

Fees, non audit services and independence

Fees

Proposed fee  

£

Final fee  

£

Council audit 46,405 46,405

Grant certification 19,485 TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) 65,890 TBC

The proposed fees for the year were in line with the scale fee set by 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA).

Grant certification

Our fees for grant certification cover only housing benefit subsidy 

certification, which falls under the remit of Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited. Fees in respect of other grant work, such as 

reasonable assurance reports, are shown under 'Fees for other services'. 

Our final fee for this work will only be confirmed once we have 

completed all of the work required by this certification, which will be 

completed by the end of November 2017, which is the national deadline 

for the completion of this work. 



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 27

Independence and non-audit services

We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived as a threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that appropriate safeguards 

are put in place.

The above non-audit service is consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditor.

Fees, non audit services and independence

Service provided Fees Threat? Safeguard

Pooling of Housing Capital 

Receipts Return

TBC – expected £2,000

(£2,000 in 2015/16)

 Self-interest This is a recurring fee and therefore a self-interest threat exists. However, the 

level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered to be a significant 

threat to independence as the fee for this work in comparison to the total fee 

for the audit (£46,405) for the Council, and in particular to Grant Thornton UK 

LLP overall turnover. Furthermore, the work relates to audit related services 

for which there is a fixed fee and no contingent element to the fee. These 

factors are deemed to adequately mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to 

an acceptable level.

TOTAL Expected £2,000



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Section 5: Communication of  audit matters

01. Executive summary

02. Audit findings

03. Value for Money

04. Fees, non audit services and independence

05. Communication of audit matters



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 29

Communication to those charged with governance

Our communication plan

Audit 

Plan

Audit 

Findings

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged 

with governance



Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 

and expected general content of communications



Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 

financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 

during the audit and written representations that have been sought



Confirmation of independence and objectivity  

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence,  relationships and other matters which might  

be thought to bear on independence. 

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 

network firms, together with  fees charged 

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence

 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit 

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or others 

which results in material misstatement of the financial statements



Non compliance with laws and regulations 

Expected modifications to auditor's report, or emphasis of matter 

Unadjusted misstatements and material disclosure omissions 

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties 

Significant matters in relation to going concern  

ISA (UK&I) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters which we are required to 

communicate with those charged with governance, and which we set out in the table 

opposite.  

This document, The Audit Findings, outlines those key issues and other matters 

arising from the audit, which we consider should be communicated in writing rather 

than orally, together with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited (http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-

appointment/)

We have been appointed as the Council's independent external auditors by the Audit 

Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public 

bodies in England at the time of our appointment. As external auditors, we have a 

broad remit covering finance and governance matters. 

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 

('the Code') issued by the NAO (https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-

code/). Our work considers the Council's key risks when reaching our conclusions 

under the Code. 

It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that proper arrangements are in place 

for the conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 

accounted for.  We have considered how the Council is fulfilling these 

responsibilities.

Communication of audit matters

http://www.psaa.co.uk/appointing-auditors/terms-of-appointment/
https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/about-code/


© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

Appendices

A. Action Plan

B. Audit Opinion



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 31

A. Action plan

Priority

Rec no. Recommendation Priority Management response Implementation date and responsibility

1. Timely and accurate updating of the PPE 

Register

Ensure that the PPE Register is updated in a 

timely and accurate manner to ensure this 

reflects the Council’s current position during 

the course of the year.

Medium Additional controls will be added to the PPE Register 

process to ensure that all changes are accurately reflected.

28 February 2018 / Financial Services 

Manager

2. Threshold for Income and Expenditure 

Accruals

Set a de-minimus value for income and 

expenditure items to be included within the 

Accounts.

Medium A new de-minimus level for accruals will be set to simplify 

the closedown process.

28 February 2018 / Financial Services 

Manager

Controls

 High – Significant effect on control system

 Medium – Effect on control system

 Low – Best practice



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 32

B: Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DARTFORD 

BOROUGH COUNCIL

We have audited the financial statements of Dartford Borough Council (the "Authority") for the 

year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The 

financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Housing Revenue 

Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement on the Housing Revenue Account 

Statement, the Collection Fund and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has 

been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 

of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and 

Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has 

been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are 

required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority 

and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 

we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and 

auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Section 151 Officer is 

responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial 

statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and 

fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 

accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit 

Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit Practice”) and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 

error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s circumstances 

and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 

made by the Section 151 Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 

financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement to identify 

material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently 

materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 

performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

• the financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2017 

and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

• the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 

on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the Narrative Report 

and the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the audited financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:

• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance included in ‘Delivering 

Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE; or

• we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the conclusion 

of the audit; or

• we have made a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Act in the course of, or at the 

conclusion of the audit; or

• we have exercised any other special powers of the auditor under the Act.

Appendices



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 33

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly 

the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required 

to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 

guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, as to 

whether the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 

resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and 

Auditor General determined this criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 

Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in all significant respects the 

Authority has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources.

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller 

and Auditor General in November 2016, we are satisfied that in all significant respects the Authority put in 

place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 

year ended 31 March 2017.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of the Authority in accordance with 

the requirements of the Act and the Code of Audit Practice.

[Signature]

ELIZABETH JACKSON 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

30 Finsbury Square

LONDON

EC2P 2YU

[Date]

Appendices



© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Dartford Borough Council  |  2016/17 

© 2017 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights served. 

'Grant Thornton' refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton 
member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their 
clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 
requires. 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton 
International LTD (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate 
legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does 
not provide services to clients. GTIL, and its member firms are not 
agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for 
one another's acts or omissions. 

grant-thornton.co.uk



Appendix B

Page | 1

Please ask for: S MARTIN
Direct Line: (01322) 343632
Direct Fax: (01322) 343045
E-mail: sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

Your Ref:
Our Ref: SDIS/letrep1718

Date: 6 September 2017

Dear Sirs,

Dartford Borough Council Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements of Dartford Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 2017 for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and 
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17 and applicable law. 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as 
we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements

i We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements 
in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 ("the Code") 
which give a true and fair view in accordance therewith.

ii We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the 
Council and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the 
financial statements.

iii The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. 
There has been no non-compliance with requirements of regulatory authorities that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-
compliance.

Sarah Martin Strategic Director (Internal Services)

Grant Thornton UK LLP
30 Finsbury Square
London
EC2P 2YU

mailto:sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk


Appendix B

Page | 2

iv We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance 
of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

vi We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the 
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and 
adequately disclosed in the financial statements. There are no other material 
judgements that need to be disclosed.

vii Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 
a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b none of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-

recurring items requiring separate disclosure.

viii We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the 
valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits 
disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  We confirm that all settlements and 
curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.  We also confirm that 
all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and properly 
accounted for. 

ix Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 
and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

x All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the 
Code requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.  

xi Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Code. 

xii We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and 
disclosures changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The 
financial statements have been amended for these misstatements, 
misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, 
including omissions.

xiii We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit 
Findings Report and attached. We have not adjusted the financial statements for 
these misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the results of 
the Council and its financial position at the year-end.

xiv We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xv We believe that the Council’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support 
will be more than adequate for the Council’s needs. We believe that no further 



Appendix B

Page | 3

disclosures relating to the Council's ability to continue as a going concern need to 
be made in the financial statements.

Information Provided

xvi We have provided you with:
a access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation 

of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;
b additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your 

audit; and
c unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you determined it 

necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xvii We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

xviiiAll transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in 
the financial statements.

xix We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xx We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting 
the Council involving:
d management;
e employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
f others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xxi We have disclosed to you all our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the Council’s financial statements communicated by 
employees, former employees, regulators or others.

xxii We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements.

xxiiiWe have disclosed to you the identity of all the Council's related parties and all the 
related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxivWe have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
xxv We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the 

Council's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not 
aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.



Appendix B

Page | 4

Narrative Report
xxviThe disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the 

Council's financial and operating performance over the period covered by the 
financial statements.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council's Audit Board at 
its meeting on 6 September 2017.

Yours faithfully

Signed by the Chief Finance Officer Signed on behalf of the Audit Board by

………………………………………………….. ……………………………………

Sarah Martin Councillor D Hammock
Strategic Director (Internal Services) Chairman of the Audit Board

Date …………………………………………… Date………………………………………



                      
AUDIT BOARD

6 SEPTEMBER 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS) 2016/17

1. Summary

To present to Members the Council’s Statement of Accounts for the period 1 
April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and to ask Members to adopt the Statement and 
approve its publication (attached as Appendix A to this report).

2. RECOMMENDATION

That Members adopt, approve the publication of, and authorise for issue, the 
2016/17 Statement of Accounts at Appendix A.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1.     The production and publication of the annual Statement of Accounts 
2016/17 are governed by the Local Government Finance Act 1982, and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  These require that the Accounts be 
prepared by 30 June and audited and approved for publication by 30 
September. 

3.2. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the 2017/18 
Statement of accounts are prepared by the 31st May 2018. They should also 
be audited and approved for publication by the 31 July 2018.  

3.3. The 2016/17 Statement of Accounts were completed by the 31st May 2017 
in readiness for the new deadline. The Financial Services Manager would 
like to record his thanks for the hard work of the Financial Services Team in 
moving the completion dates forward again.  The Audit process was also 
successfully moved forward in preparation for the new deadlines. 

3.4.     The previous agenda item was a report from the External Auditor including 
the Audit Findings report. The External Auditor is proposing to give an 
unqualified opinion both on the accounts and on the Value for Money 
conclusion.  The Auditor cannot sign off the accounts until they have been 
formally endorsed by Members.  Having considered the report of the 
External Auditor, the Board is asked to endorse the Statement of Accounts 
and approve its publication.

3.5.     A copy of the Statutory Accounts is attached as Appendix A to this report. 
This is a long and complex document and not something that most 
Members would be familiar with. The most important items are:



                     
AUDIT BOARD

6 SEPTEMBER 2017

Note 1a Expenditure and Funding Analysis
Movement in Reserves Statement (page 24)
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (page 26)
Balance Sheet (Page 27)
Housing Revenue Account (page 100) Collection Fund (page 110)

The Financial Services Manager will highlight the important areas at the 
meeting.

3.6    Members are more familiar with the management accounts that are 
presented to Cabinet. Draft outturn reports for the revenue and capital 
budgets were presented to Cabinet in June. There are no changes to these 
reports following the audit. 

3.7     The responsibility for producing and signing the Statement of Accounts rests 
with the Strategic Director (Internal Services) as Section 151 Officer. The 
Chairman of the meeting is certifying that the Council considered a report on 
the Statement of Accounts and approved them for publication.

4   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The completion of the annual Statement of Accounts by 30 June and its 
approval by 30 September are key requirements of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. 

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The Statement of Accounts details the 
Council’s financial position as at 31 
March 2017.

Legal Implications These are detailed in paragraph 3.1.
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6 Appendices

Appendix A – Statement of Accounts 2016/17

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 



                     
AUDIT BOARD

6 SEPTEMBER 2017

Category
Code of Practice 
on Local Authority 
Accounting 
2016/17

Tim Sams
01322 343148 

Financial 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A





Appendix A 

                                                                   
Dartford Borough Council

STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS

2016/17



Appendix A 

                                                                   
Dartford Borough Council



Appendix A 

                                                                   
Dartford Borough Council

CONTENTS  

Narrative Statement 1
Independent Auditor’s Report 7
Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 10
Approval of the Statement of Accounts 12
Annual Governance Statement 13

Note 1a Expenditure and Funding Analysis   22

Core Statements
-  Movement in Reserves Statement 24
-  Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 26
-  Balance Sheet 27
-  Cash Flow Statement 28

Notes to the Accounts
Note 1b Accounting Policies 29
Note  2  Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 46
Note  3  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 46
Note  4  Assumptions Made about the Future and Other Major 

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 47
Note  5  Events After the Reporting Period 49
Note 6a Note to the Expenditure and Funding analysis 49
Note 6b Segmental Reporting 51
Note  7  Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 52
Note  8  Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 

under Regulations, including Usable Reserves Disclosure 53
Note  9  Unusable Reserves   57
Note 10 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 62
Note 11 Other Operating Expenditure 63
Note 12 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 63
Note 13 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure 63
Note 14 Property, Plant and Equipment                                                                                          64
Note 15 Investment Properties 67
Note 16 Assets Held for Sale 69
Note 17 Financial Instruments 70
Note 18 Debtors 75
Note 19 Cash and Cash Equivalents 76
Note 20 Creditors 76
Note 21 Provisions 77
Note 22 Operating Activities (Cash Flow Statement) 78
Note 23 Investing Activities (Cash Flow Statement) 79
Note 24 Financing Activities (Cash Flow Statement) 79



Appendix A 

                                                                   
Dartford Borough Council

Note 25 Members’ Allowances 80
Note 26 Officers’ Remuneration and Termination Benefits 80
Note 27 External Audit Costs 82
Note 28 Grant Income 82
Note 29 Related Parties 84
Note 30 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 85
Note 31 Leases 87
Note 32 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 89
Note 33 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial 

Instruments 96

Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement 100
Movement on the HRA Statement 101
Note to the Movement on the HRA Statement 102
Housing Revenue Account Notes 103
Collection Fund 109
Collection Fund Notes 110
Glossary 113
Further Information 121

The Statement of Accounts 2016-17 showing signatures is available for 
inspection at the Civic Centre.



1 Dartford Borough Council

NARRATIVE REPORT

Introduction

This Narrative Report provides a guide to the Council’s accounts for the year ending 
31 March 2017.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the 2016/17 
Statement of Accounts to be prepared, and signed, by the responsible officer by 30 
June. The statement also provides some analysis of the development and 
performance of the Council in the financial year and of its position at the end of that 
year.

The accounts are set out on pages 22 to 112.

The Statement of Accounts comprises:

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts:  this sets out 
the Council’s and the Chief Finance Officer’s responsibilities for the statement of 
accounts.  This statement also carries the certification of the Chief Finance Officer.

Expenditure and Funding Analysis: Officially a note to the accounts, this analysis 
brings together both the fiscal/funding framework and the accounting framework by 
service. It takes the net expenditure that is chargeable to taxation and rents and 
reconciles it to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services line in the 
Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement.

Movement in Reserves Statement: this statement shows the movement in the year 
on the different reserves held by the authority, analysed into usable reserves (i.e. 
those that can be used to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and unusable 
reserves. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true 
economic cost of providing the authority’s services, more details of which are shown 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This is different from the 
statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund and the Housing 
Revenue Account for Council Tax setting and dwellings’ rent setting purposes. The 
line titled “Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves” shows 
the statutory General Fund and Housing Revenue Account balances, before any 
discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Council. 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:  this statement shows the 
accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this 
may be different from the accounting cost. 

Balance Sheet: The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date 
of the assets and liabilities recognised by the authority. The net assets of the 
authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the authority. 
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves is usable 
reserves, i.e. those reserves that the authority may use to provide services, subject 
to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on 
their use (for example, the Capital Receipts Reserve may only be used to fund 
capital expenditure or repay debt). The second category of reserves is those that the 



2 Dartford Borough Council

authority is not able to use to provide services. This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation 
Reserve) where amounts would only become available to provide services if the 
assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis 
under regulations’.

Cash Flow Statement:  this statement brings together the total movements of the 
Council’s assets and liabilities during the financial year; these are inflows and 
outflows of cash arising from both revenue and capital transactions with third parties.

Notes to the Accounts: the various accounts and statements are supported by 
detailed notes to help the reader. These include the significant accounting policies 
adopted by the Council and other explanatory information.

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and notes: the Council is required by law to 
account separately for the provision of housing.  This account shows the major 
elements of housing revenue expenditure: repairs and maintenance, administration 
and financing costs as well as how the expenditure is financed from rents and other 
income. The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement is supported by a Movement 
on the HRA Statement.

Collection Fund and notes: there is a statutory requirement for local authorities 
that bill for council tax and non-domestic rates (billing authorities) to maintain a 
separate fund to show the transactions in respect of these items and the way in 
which they have been distributed to precepting authorities.
 
Glossary: this provides a guide to some of the technical terms used in this 
document.

Changes to the 2016/17 Statement of Accounts

CIPFA and CIPFA/LASAAC have undertaken a review, Improving the Presentation 
of Local Authority Financial Statements (Telling the Story Review).  

The changes to the 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code) as a result of the Telling the Story consultation have two 
main strands:

 To allow local authorities to report on the same basis as they are organised by 
breaking the formal link between the Service Reporting Code of Practice 
(SeRCOP) and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 To introduce a new Expenditure and Funding Analysis which provides a direct 
reconciliation between the way local authorities are funded and prepare their 
budgets and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in a way 
that is accessible to the lay reader.

These changes are reflected in the 2016/17 Statement of Accounts and prior year 
figures have been restated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-201617-online
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/c/code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-201617-online


3 Dartford Borough Council

Statement under the Council’s own organisational structure rather than in the 
categories defined by the Service Reporting Code of Practice.

Notes 6 and 7 provide further breakdown as to the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis.

Summary of financial performance in the year

The General Fund

The financial statements are produced in accordance with accounting principles. 
These differ markedly from the internal financial management information used to set 
budgets and monitor performance. 

The General Fund accounts for all revenue services other than those provided in 
respect of council housing.  The budget requirement is the net expenditure on 
services and is the sum to be met from government grants, retained business rates 
and council tax. 

The Council set its budget requirement for 2016/17 at the budget meeting on 22 
February 2016. This allowed for a net increase in reserves and balances of 
£1,495,061.
 
The following table compares the final figures for 2016/17 with the original budget.

Original
Budget Actual
£,000 £,000

Net expenditure on services 12,251 10,521
Contribution to reserves 3,560 3,560

Budget Requirement 15,811 14,081

Less:   
Revenue Support Grant (1,283) (1,283)
Business Rates Retention (3,100) (3,551)
Other grants 0 (26)
New Homes Bonus (3,560) (3,560)
Council tax (5,803) (5,803)

Contribution from reserves (2,065) 0

Deficit (Surplus) for the year 0 (142)

Net expenditure on services was £1.73m lower than the original budget. This was 
mainly caused by £1.1m additional income from interest relating to the Council’s 
externally managed funds. The funds have performed well in year and the switch of 



4 Dartford Borough Council

the Council’s funds to income share class has resulted in improved income flows. 
There is no guarantee that future performance will follow this trend. 

Other areas where income was higher or expenditure was lower than budget include 
benefits payments of £267,000, staffing vacancies of £262,000 and development 
income of £157,000. Conversely, an overspend of £781,000 was incurred in relation 
to temporary accommodation.

There were several other smaller budget variances. Full details can be found in the 
report to Cabinet of 29 June 2017.

As previously projected, retained business rate income was higher than that 
budgeted. The final improvement compared to the budgeted position was £451,000. 
The figure shown for business rates in the table above excludes the 2015/16 deficit 
payment of £1.25m, which was funded by specific reserves, and also an element 
which has been transferred to a growth funding reserve in accordance with the terms 
of the Kent pooling agreement to be spent on growth scheme identified by the 
Council. Due to Collection Fund accounting regulations, not all of the Council’s share 
of the retained rates fund are included in year. Another £776,000 remains in the 
Collection Fund for future distribution.

In respect of the Income and Expenditure figures, due to the more favourable outturn 
position, it was possible to avoid the planned draw-down from reserves and make an 
additional contribution to specific reserves of £142,000 to help towards meeting the 
challenge of future resource reductions. The General Fund balance has been 
maintained at £3m.  

Earmarked Reserves

Earmarked Reserves movements not reflected in the table above include 
expenditure of £681,000 and transfers of £219,000 from the General Fund into 
reserves. The total amount carried forward in earmarked revenue reserves was 
£20m.

The Housing Revenue Account

The Housing Revenue Account accounts for all revenue services in respect of 
council housing.  

The Housing Revenue Account is "ringfenced", i.e. it cannot subsidise or receive 
subsidies from other accounts.  It is also known as the ‘Landlord Account’, as all 
costs and income relate to the provision of council housing.  

The 2016/17 account was budgeted to make a deficit of £1.37m; the final outturn 
was a surplus of £1.03m.

The main areas which had lower than budgeted expenditure were Planned Repairs 
£0.236m, Responsive Repairs £0.271m and General Management £0.272m. There 
was also a reduction in the total contribution made towards capital expenditure of 



5 Dartford Borough Council

£0.790m. Additionally, as projected, the budgeted Housing Subsidy Limitation 
transfer of £0.25m between the HRA and General Fund was not required.

The HRA has to face ongoing rent reductions for the next three years and 
government policy on new building and right to buy is likely to develop. The reserve 
balance of £12.7m will be important in responding to these challenges.

The Capital Programme

The Capital Programme consists of a number of projects where expenditure is 
incurred on investment in new assets or improving existing ones. Ongoing revenue 
costs, such as those charged to the General Fund or Housing Revenue Account, 
cannot be charged to capital. 

The Council originally budgeted to spend £11.857m on investment in assets of a 
capital nature; actual expenditure was £10.188m. Capital expenditure was funded 
from capital receipts, government grants, revenue contributions and the Major 
Repairs Reserve. 

The Usable Capital Receipts Reserve had a balance at the beginning of the year of 
£3.905m. New usable receipts during the year totalled £6.862m, £1.141m was used 
to finance expenditure, and £0.409m was paid to the Government’s capital receipts 
pool. Capital receipts of £1.986m, arising from the sale of council housing, were set 
aside to be used to finance the provision of new social housing under the “one for 
one receipts” scheme. The balance of usable capital receipts carried forward at the 
end of the year was £9.216m.

The Balance Sheet valuation of property, plant and equipment plus investment 
properties at the end of the year is £356.3m, an increase of £24.9m on the previous 
year. The increase is mainly due to revaluations to existing properties.

Capital commitments as at 31 March 2017 stand at £5.6m, compared with £2.675m 
as at 31 March 2016. Most of this commitment relates to the ongoing completion of 
the New Build Council Housing.

Non-Financial Performance

The Council measures its performance against a series of performance indicators 
linked to the Corporate Plan. Of these indicators 76% were within target parameters.

Improvement from last year can be seen in the number of affordable homes 
completed and in short and long term sickness levels. Performance has gone down 
from last year on the average time (working days) to process a new Housing Benefit 
Claim and the percentage of customer service telephone calls answered within 20 
seconds.

Of the data only indicators, there has been a significant rise in the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Income, and Fairfield user figures continue to exceed the 
contractor’s expectations. However, the percentage of obese children in year six 
(2015-16) saw an increase from previous year figures, and some crime figures have 
increased.                                                      



6 Dartford Borough Council

More details about performance including mitigating actions are found at agenda 
item 10 in the year-end report made to Cabinet on 25 May 2017.

Influences affecting the Authority’s income and expenditure and levels of 
reserves

The Council has cash and short term investments of approximately £91m, compared 
to £75m as at 31 March 2016. Whilst these levels are affected by various factors, it is 
expected that, balances will increase over the next 12 months. The increase is likely 
due to expected capital receipts although the timing of these is not yet confirmed.

The capital programme for 2017/2018 totals nearly £11.9m, of which £8.8m is for 
housing. The capital programme is funded from a mixture of capital receipts, grants 
and contributions, and revenue/reserve contributions. When the budget was set the 
required capital expenditure outstripped the predicted level of known capital receipts 
by around £6.3m over the three-year period, but this position is likely to change over 
the next year as there is a likelihood of additional capital receipts. If the shortfall is 
not covered by additional receipts, options at the Council’s disposal are to fund from 
revenue or reserves or to borrow. The Council will not commit expenditure in any 
year unless resources have first been fully identified and the sustainability of any 
proposal established.

Recent years have seen significant reductions in government grant, and further 
significant reductions will occur over the next few years. However, the Council has 
the opportunity to benefit from increased income from business rates and the New 
Homes Bonus, although the latter may only be short term. The Council has made 
significant budget reductions in recent years and has approved a Medium Term 
Financial Plan to address potential budget gaps in the next few years. 

The major financial risks for the Council in the coming years are the further 
reductions in general and other government income, business rate changes - 
including appeals and the ongoing consultation for the move towards 100% business 
rates retention and additional changes to New Homes Bonus. The Council continues 
to review all its operations to ensure the taxpayer is getting value for money. 

At 31 March 2017, the Council had £23m of usable reserves for general use and 
£12.7m for housing. This is considered prudent and adequate for current estimated 
needs and unexpected events.

The Council has sufficient balances and earmarked reserves to enable a smooth 
transition to lower expenditure levels. The main variable risk to cash flows is income 
from investments and from charges made for the provision of services. Prudent 
estimates are made for these.



7 Dartford Borough Council

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

 We have audited the financial statements of Dartford Borough Council (the 
"Authority") for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 (the "Act"). The financial statements comprise the Movement 
in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the 
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Housing Revenue Account Income 
and Expenditure Statement, the Movement on the Housing Revenue Account 
Statement, the Collection Fund and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17.

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance 
with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and 
auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Financial Officer’s 
Responsibilities, the Strategic Director (Internal Services) is responsible for the 
preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, which give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the Authority’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the s. 
151 officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we 
read all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Report and the 
Annual Governance Statement to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 



8 Dartford Borough Council

incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in 
the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:
 present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 

March 2017 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
 have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and 
applicable law.

Opinion on other matters

In our opinion, the other information published together with the audited financial 
statements in the Narrative Report and the Annual Governance Statement is 
consistent with the audited financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:
 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the 

guidance included in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: a 
Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007; or

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Act; or
 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the 

Act; or
 we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under the Act.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements to secure value for money 
through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and auditor

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper 
stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements.

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the Authority 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.



9 Dartford Borough Council

Scope of the review of the Authority's arrangements to secure value for money 
through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Act (the 
"Code"), having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, as to whether the Authority had 
proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined these criteria as those 
necessary for us to consider under the Code in satisfying ourselves whether the 
Authority put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money through the 
economic, efficient and effective use of its resources for the year ended 31 March 
2017.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether in 
all significant respects the Authority has put in place proper arrangements to secure 
value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources.

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria 
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2016, we are satisfied 
that in all significant respects the Authority has put in place proper arrangements to 
secure value for money through economic, efficient and effective use of its resources 
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of the Authority in 
accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code.

Elizabeth Jackson

Elizabeth Jackson
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor

Grant Thornton House
Melton Street
Euston Square
London
NW1 2EP

xx September 2017



10 Dartford Borough Council

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS AND 
CERTIFICATE OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

The Council’s responsibilities

The Council is required:  

 to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and 
to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs. In this authority that officer is the Strategic Director of Internal 
Services who is the named Chief Finance Officer under section 151 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.

 to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets.

 to approve the Statement of Accounts.

The Section 151 Officer’s responsibilities

The Section 151 officer is responsible for the preparation of the authority’s Statement 
of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

In preparing that statement of accounts, the Section 151 officer has:

 selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;

 made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;

 complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

The Section 151 officer has also:

 kept proper accounting records which were up to date;

 taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.



11 Dartford Borough Council

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER’S CERTIFICATION TO THE STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTS

I hereby certify that the Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 
required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 gives a true and fair view of 
the financial position and transactions of the Council, and its income and expenditure 
for the same year then ended.

S Martin

S.J. MARTIN FCCA
SECTION 151 OFFICER
31 May 2017



12 Dartford Borough Council

APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT REGULATIONS 2015 

COMPLETION OF THE APPROVAL OF THE ACCOUNTS 

The Statement of Accounts was formally approved for publication by the Audit Board 
on 6 September 2017.

COUNCILLOR D A HAMMOCK
CHAIRMAN OF THE AUDIT BOARD

 6 September 2017



13 Dartford Borough Council

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2016 TO 31 MARCH 2017

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

Dartford Borough Council (the Council) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for. The Council also has a duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 (as amended) to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is responsible for implementing 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, the stewardship of the 
resources at its disposal and facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which 
includes arrangements for the management of risk.

The Council has approved and adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance (the 
Local Code), which is consistent with the principles and reflects the requirements of 
the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
(2016).  The Local Code is published on the Council’s website at www.dartford.gov.uk. 

This statement explains how the Council has complied with the Local Code and with 
meeting the requirements of regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
to review and report on the effectiveness of its system of internal control and to 
prepare an Annual Governance Statement.

The Council has in place appropriate management and reporting arrangements to 
enable it to satisfy that its approach to corporate governance is adequate and effective 
in practice.  

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for ensuring 
that there is a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise 
of the Council's functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of 
risk.

THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture and 
values, by which the Council is directed and controlled, and by which it, through its 
activities, can account to, engage with and lead the community.  The governance 
framework enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives 
and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-
effective services. 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal control is based on an 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


14 Dartford Borough Council

ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the 
Council's policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

This Annual Governance Statement is produced for the year 1 April 2016 to 31 March 
2017 and includes the period up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council’s 
governance arrangements are summarised below:

Identifying and communicating our vision and outcomes for citizens and 
service users

The Corporate Plan 2014-2017 has been approved by the General Assembly of the 
Council [22 January 2015 Min 104]. The Corporate Plan is published on the Council’s 
website.  

Reviewing our vision and its implications for our governance arrangements

Progress towards the achievement of the objectives is monitored through the 
Performance Management Framework, with performance reports to Management 
Team, Cabinet and Policy Overview Committee and through other internal review 
mechanisms.

Measuring the quality of services for users, to ensure that they are delivered in 
accordance with the Council’s objectives and for ensuring that they represent 
the best use of resources

The Council measures the quality of service to users through a number of 
mechanisms including:
                        

Customer surveys
  Comments, compliments and complaints
  Monitoring against targets and indicators
  Reviews by the Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee
  Comparison with similar authorities

Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of our 
community and other stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging 
open consultation

The Council has developed a Consultation and Engagement Strategy to meet its duty 
to inform, consult and involve people in the delivery of Council services. An Equalities 
Scheme has been developed to meet the Council’s obligations under the Equality Act 
2010. The Statement of Community Involvement sets out how the community will be 
involved in decisions about the Council’s Local Plan.



15 Dartford Borough Council

Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive, 
non-executive, scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation 
arrangements and protocols for effective communication

The Council has an adopted Constitution which details how the Council operates, 
how decisions are made and the procedures which are to be followed to ensure that 
these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  The Constitution 
defines the terms of reference for all Council committees. The Cabinet (exercising the 
executive functions of the Council) is responsible for most decisions.  The Cabinet is 
made up of the Leader and six Councillors. The Council elects the Leader and the 
Leader appoints the Cabinet. Major decisions are published in advance, in the 
Regulation 9 Notice, and will generally be discussed in a meeting open to the public.  
All decisions must be in line with the Council's overall policies and budget.  Any 
decisions the Cabinet wishes to take outside the budget or policy framework must be 
referred to the General Assembly of the Council to decide.  There is a Scrutiny 
Committee that scrutinises the work of the Cabinet.  A "call-in" procedure allows 
Scrutiny Committee to review Cabinet decisions before they are implemented, thus 
presenting challenge and the opportunity for a decision to be reconsidered.

The Policy Overview Committee reviews general policies and makes 
recommendations on future policy options to Cabinet. 

 A Scheme of Delegation to Officers is approved by the General Assembly of the 
Council. This defines the framework and limits within which officers can take 
decisions.

Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the 
standards of behaviour for members and staff

The standards of conduct and personal behaviour expected of Council Members and 
Officers, its partners and the community are defined and communicated through 
codes of conduct and protocols.  These include:

 Member Code of Conduct 
 Employee Code of Conduct
 Regular performance appraisals for staff linked to corporate and service 

objectives
 An Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy
 Member/Officer Protocol
 Whistleblowing Policy
 Annual Monitoring Officer report
 An Audit Board to oversee and monitor the Member Code of Conduct
                        

Whistleblowing and receiving and investigating complaints from the public

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed each year and provides for 
confidential reporting on matters of concern. Informants are requested to be open in 
their disclosure, but it is recognised that on occasions, informants will wish to remain 
anonymous.



16 Dartford Borough Council

The Council has an effective Corporate Complaints Procedure. A report is submitted 
annually to the Audit Board on corporate complaints.  

Reviewing and updating standing orders, financial instructions, scheme of 
delegations and supporting procedure notes/manuals, which clearly define how 
decisions are taken and the processes and controls required to manage risks

Standing Orders, Contract Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and the Scheme 
of Delegations to Officers are regularly reviewed as are supporting procedures and 
manuals. 

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
procedures, and that expenditure is lawful

The Council has a duty to ensure that it acts in accordance with the law and various 
regulations in the performance of its functions.  It has developed policies and 
procedures for its Officers and Members to ensure that, as far as possible, they 
understand their responsibilities both to the Council and to the public. Key documents 
and procedures include:

 Standing Orders
 Contract Standing Orders
 Procurement Guide
 Finance Guidance Manual incorporating Financial Regulations
 Money Laundering procedures
 Committee reporting procedure including requirements for the monitoring of 

legal    and financial implications
 Regular training on new legal requirements
 Regular updates from the Head of Legal Services for Members and Officers 

on key changes to the local authority legal framework
                     

Other key corporate policies on a range of topics such as Equalities, Customer 
Care, Data Protection, Freedom of Information and Fraud have been adopted.  All 
policies are subject to internal review, to ensure they are adequately maintained and 
fit for purpose. 

Measuring the quality of services for users, for ensuring they are delivered in 
accordance with our objectives and for ensuring that they represent the best 
use of resources

The Council, through its budgetary monitoring and control processes, ensures that 
financial resources are being used in accordance with the budget and corporate 
policy via regular management reporting to Directors, Finance Portfolio Member and 
Cabinet.

Financial planning is underpinned by service planning and annual budget reviews to 
ensure that individual service plans and service improvements are in line with 
corporate objectives. 



17 Dartford Borough Council

Through performance reports, corporate and key service objectives are monitored to 
ensure that performance targets and indicators are being achieved. 

Economic, effective and efficient use of resources is subject to review through the 
work of the Scrutiny and Policy Overview Committees, Internal and External Audit 
and annual budget reviews.

Financial Management

Responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal financial control is 
maintained and operated rests with the Section 151 Officer.  The systems of internal 
financial control provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are 
safeguarded, that transactions are authorised and properly recorded, and that 
material errors or irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a 
timely period.

 The CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer is reported to the 
General Assembly as part of the annual budget report. The Council meets all the 
governance requirements contained in the statement.

Internal financial control is based on a framework of management information, 
financial regulations and administrative procedures, which include the segregation of 
duties where practical, management supervision and a system of delegation and 
accountability. 

In particular, the process in 2016/17 included: 

 The setting of a one year detailed budget and Medium Term Financial Plan;
 Monitoring of actual income and expenditure against the annual budget;
 A detailed budget review by officers and Members
 Setting of financial and performance targets;
 Regular reporting of the Council's financial position to Members;
 Clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines;
 Managing risk in key financial service areas.
 Review of Financial Regulations

Effectiveness of Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Team reports to the Managing Director and Management Team, 
operating under a Charter, which defines its relationship with Council Officers and 
the Audit Board.  The main responsibility of the Internal Audit Team is to provide 
assurance and advice on the internal control system of the Council to the 
Management Team and Members.  Internal Audit reviews, appraises the adequacy, 
reliability and effectiveness of internal control within systems and recommends 
improvement.  It also supports management in developing systems, providing advice 
on risk and control.  The controls created by management are evaluated to ensure:

 Council objectives are being achieved;
 Economic and efficient use of resources;
 Compliance with policies, procedures, laws and regulations;



18 Dartford Borough Council

 The safeguarding of Council assets; and
 The integrity and reliability of information and data.

As part of the wider annual review of the governance arrangements and in particular, 
the system of internal control, the Council is required to undertake an annual review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal audit.  This review is undertaken 
annually and considered by the Managing Director. The review has highlighted an 
area where the Council has not fully complied with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). The PSIAS require the Internal Audit activity to be independent 
and objective, however, during the year the Chief Audit Executive for the Council has 
been the S151 Officer who was not entirely independent due to her operational 
responsibilities. 

This arrangement was of a temporary nature due to the absence of the Audit, Risk 
and Anti-Fraud Manager. Appropriate mitigating actions were put in place to ensure 
there was no threat to independence from this arrangement. These included 
ensuring that the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager /Principal Auditor  had access 
to both the Managing Director and the Audit Chair and ensuring that all internal audit 
reviews carried out during the year were summarised for the Audit Board within the 
Internal Audit progress report. A number of audits were undertaken within the area of 
responsibility of the S151 Officer, however, she had no direct involvement in these 
audits other than reviewing the final reports. 

Moving forward, the Chief Audit Executive role will pass to the Audit, Risk and Anti-
Fraud Manager, which will ensure the independence and objectivity of the role. 
Based on the internal reviews the Managing Director has assessed the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control as “satisfactory” – indicating that there are proper 
arrangements in place.  The full details of the  internal  review has been reported to 
the Audit Board, alongside this Annual Assurance Statement, as it is a key element 
of the review of the system of internal control and governance framework.

It is a responsibility of the Audit Board (as detailed in the Constitution) to monitor the 
work of Internal Audit and to ensure that any actions agreed are implemented. Its 
Terms of Reference are outlined in the Council's Constitution and are reviewed 
annually.

Performance and Risk Management

The following is the normal procedure for the review of risk:

 Reports on performance, which includes performance indicators and 
monitoring of key objectives and targets, is reported to management.

 The Council’s risk management processes are regularly reviewed and 
reported to the Audit Board and Cabinet as appropriate. 

 Strategic risk is aligned to corporate priorities and reports are produced for 
Management Team and Members.

A revised risk management process was implemented in 2013/14 and was reviewed 
by senior managers in 2015/16.



19 Dartford Borough Council

The development needs of Members and senior officers in relation to their 
strategic roles, supported by appropriate training 

Members receive training during the year on key topics or where significant changes 
have occurred or new legislation introduced. Training for officers is considered at the 
annual appraisal and also during the year, if required. 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

Dartford Borough Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 
internal control.  This review is informed by:

The work of Internal Audit and the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager's Annual 
Report.

 The work of senior managers within the Council who have responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the governance environment.

 The work of the Senior Information Risk Owner
 Opinion of the external auditors as expressed in their annual report to the 

Audit Board.
 Detailed review which is undertaken on behalf of the Management Team.
 Overview conducted by the Management Team.
 Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report to the Audit Board.

The following processes have been applied in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the governance framework: 

Council

The Corporate Plan, Constitution, budget and other strategies and polices are 
approved and reviewed by the General Assembly of the Council.  

Cabinet 

The Cabinet receives reports on financial performance.

Scrutiny Committee and Policy Overview Committee 

These Committees have respectively a role in (a) advising on policy and (b) 
reviewing/scrutinising action and decisions taken.

Audit Board

The Audit Board receives quarterly updates on the assurance which can be placed 
against various systems and processes during the year, along with an annual 
assessment at the year end. 

The Audit Board reviews reports presented to it by the Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud 
Manager on the review of internal control.  The Board receives a summary of all 



20 Dartford Borough Council

internal audit reports and keeps a check on those areas that were assessed as 
unsatisfactory.  Additionally, it reviews the effectiveness of the Council’s risk 
management arrangements.

The Audit Board receives an annual report from the Monitoring Officer on ethical 
governance arrangements and on the effectiveness of the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure. 

Ethics is a key element of governance and the purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s 
annual review of the Council’s ethical governance is to ensure that robust 
arrangements are in place and that the Council continues to develop and improve 
management and reporting arrangements so as to satisfy itself that its approach to 
ethical governance is both adequate and effective in practice.  

Senior Information Risk Officer

The ICT Manager has been designated as the Senior Information Risk Officer 
(SIRO), a role as recommended by LGA and Information Commissioner with 
responsibility for ensuring that information governance is embedded into the 
organisation. The SIRO should also ensure that management of personal data 
related risks are weighed alongside the management of other risks facing the 
Council, such as financial, legal and operational risk.

Internal Audit

Based on an overview of the work undertaken throughout the year, in conjunction 
with previous years' work and current risk assessments, the Chief Audit Executive 
places a Satisfactory Assurance on the systems of internal control in place. 

SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES  

As highlighted earlier within this report, the Chief Audit Executive role should be 
independent and objective, however, due to the absence of the Audit, Risk and Anti-
Fraud Manager, this role has sat with the S151 Officer who is not independent due to 
her operational responsibilities. Appropriate steps have been taken to mitigate this 
potential threat to independence and, consequently, this has not prevented the 
Council’s corporate governance arrangements from operating effectively during the 
year. 

On the basis of the detailed review undertaken and consideration of that review by 
the Managing Director, the Council is satisfied that there are no other significant 
governance matters that need to be brought to the immediate attention of Members 
and that the Council’s corporate governance arrangements are adequate and 
operating effectively.

However, the following area has been highlighted as requiring improvement and/or 
further development:

 Workforce Strategy



21 Dartford Borough Council

An action plan has been developed to deliver this and other less significant 
improvements.

Over the ensuing year, the Council will take steps to address the action plan to 
further enhance its governance arrangements.  We are satisfied that these steps will 
address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness 
and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual 
review. 

          
J Kite G Harris

COUNCILLOR J KITE G J HARRIS
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL MANAGING DIRECTOR

 



22 Dartford Borough Council

NOTE 1a EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

This analysis brings together both the fiscal/funding framework and the accounting 
framework by service. It takes the net expenditure that is chargeable to taxation and 
rents, and reconciles it to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services line in 
the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement.

2016/17 Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund and HRA 
Balances 

(MIRS)

Adjustments 
between 

Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis
(Note 6)

Net Expenditure in 
the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement

 £,000  £,000  £,000

Managing Director 241 9 250

Strategic Director External Services 6,442 1,132 7,574

Strategic Director Internal Services 4,301 2,797 7,098

Local Authority Housing (HRA) (2,441) (7,286) (9,727)

Net cost of services 8,543 (3,348) 5,195

Other income and expenditure (11,882) (7,712) (19,594)

(Surplus) or deficit (3,339) (11,060) (14,399)

Opening General Fund and HRA 
Balance at 31 March 2016 32,383

Plus Surplus on General Fund and 
HRA Balance in year 3,339
Closing General Fund and HRA 
Balance at 31 March 2017 

35,722

 



23 Dartford Borough Council

2015/16 Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund and HRA 
Balances 

(MIRS)

Adjustments 
between 

Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis
(Note 6)

Net Expenditure in 
the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement

 £,000  £,000  £,000

Managing Director 204 9 213

Strategic Director External Services 6,192 1,013 7,205

Strategic Director Internal Services 4,624 4,110 8,734

Local Authority Housing (HRA) (3,739) (6,486) (10,225)

Net cost of services 7,281 (1,354) 5,927

Other income and expenditure (14,142) (3,488) (17,630)

(Surplus) or deficit (6,861) (4,842) (11,703)

Opening General Fund and HRA 
Balance at 31 March 2015 25,522

Plus Surplus on General Fund and 
HRA Balance in year 6,861
Closing General Fund and HRA 
Balance at 31 March 2016 32,383



24 Dartford Borough Council

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

The statement below shows the movement in the financial year 2016/17 on the 
different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into ‘Usable Reserves’ (i.e. those 
that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and Unusable 
Reserves. 

The (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic 
cost of providing the Authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. This is different from the 
statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund balance and the 
Housing Revenue Account for council tax setting and dwellings rent setting 
purposes.

The Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the 
statutory General Fund and Housing Revenue Account balances before any 
discretionary transfers to or from Earmarked Reserves undertaken by the Council.

Movement in 
Reserves during 

2016/17

General 
Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 
GF 

Reserves

Total 
General 

Fund 
Reserves

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Unusable 
Reserves

Total 
Authority 
Reserves

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Balance at              
31 March 2016

(3,000) (17,688) (20,688) (11,695) (1,790) (3,905) (38,078) (222,738) (260,816)

(4,964) 0 (4,964) (9,435) 0 0 (14,399) (24,207) (38,606)

Adjustments 
between 
accounting basis 
and funding basis 
under regulations 

Note 8 2,648 0 2,648 8,412 (944) (5,311) 4,805 (4,805) 0

(2,316) 0 (2,316) (1,023) (944) (5,311) (9,594) (29,012) (38,606)

Transfers (to) / 
from Earmarked 
Reserves 

Note 10 2,316 (2,316) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(Increase) / 
Decrease in Year

0 (2,316) (2,316) (1,023) (944) (5,311) (9,594) (29,012) (38,606)

Balance at 31 
March 2017

(3,000) (20,004) (23,004) (12,718) (2,734) (9,216) (47,672) (251,750) (299,422)

Total Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure

(Net increase) / 
decrease before 
transfers to Earmarked 
Reserves



25 Dartford Borough Council

Further analysis of the specific adjustments and transfers which have been made to 
reserves is contained in notes 8 and 9.

The following table shows the comparative information for movements in reserves 
which took place during the 2015/16 financial year:

Movement in 
Reserves during 

2015/16

General 
Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 
GF 

Reserves

Total 
General 

Fund 
Reserves

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Account 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Total 
Usable 

Reserves
Unusable 
Reserves

Total 
Authority 
Reserves

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Balance at                            
31 March 2015

(3,000) (12,654) (15,654) (9,868) (708) (12,451) (38,681) (170,835) (209,516)

(2,174) 0 (2,174) (9,529) 0 0 (11,703) (39,597) (51,300)

Adjustments 
between 
accounting basis 
and funding basis 
under regulations 

Note 8 (2,860) 0 (2,860) 7,702 (1,082) 8,546 12,306 (12,306) 0

(5,034) 0 (5,034) (1,827) (1,082) 8,546 603 (51,903) (51,300)

Transfers (to) / 
from Earmarked 
Reserves 

Note 10 5,034 (5,034) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

(Increase) / 
Decrease in Year

0 (5,034) (5,034) (1,827) (1,082) 8,546 603 (51,903) (51,300)

Balance at                    
31 March 2016

(3,000) (17,688) (20,688) (11,695) (1,790) (3,905) (38,078) (222,738) (260,816)

Total Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure

(Net increase) / 
decrease before 
transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves



26 Dartford Borough Council

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to 
be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The 
taxation position is shown in both the Movement in Reserves Statement and in the 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16
Gross 

Expenditure
Gross 

Income
Net 

Expenditure
Net 

Expenditure 
Restated

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Managing Director 250 0 250 213
14,111 (6,537) 7,574 7,205
38,066 (30,968) 7,098 8,734

Local Authority Housing (HRA) Page 100 11,815 (21,542) (9,727) (10,225)

Cost of Services 64,242 (59,047) 5,195 5,927

Other Operating Expenditure Note 11 (1,990) (2,639)
Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure Note 12

440 1,251

Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income and Expenditure Note 13

(18,044) (16,242)

Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

(14,399) (11,703)

(Surplus) / Deficit on the 
revaluation of non current assets Note 9

(25,425) (35,595)

(Surplus) or Deficit on the 
revaluation of available for sale 
financial assets Note 9

(1,636) 950

Remeasurements of the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) Note 9

2,854 (4,952)

Total Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure (24,207) (39,597)

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure (38,606) (51,300)

Strategic Director External Services
Strategic Director Internal Services



27 Dartford Borough Council

BALANCE SHEET

31.03.17 31.03.16
£,000 £,000

Long Term Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment  Note 14 344,135 318,326
Investment Property Note 15 12,192 13,080
Intangible Assets  121 166
Long Term Debtors  Note 18 17,781 17,756

Total Long Term Assets 374,229 349,328

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents Note 19 11,743 17,894
Inventories 2 3
Short Term Debtors Note 18 6,290 5,955
Short Term Investments Note 17 79,647 57,481
Assets Held for Sale Note 16 500 500

Total Current Assets 98,182 81,833

Current Liabilities
Short Term Borrowing Note 17 (4,694) (4,714)
Short Term Creditors Note 20 (23,281) (25,214)
Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue Note 28 (4) 0
Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital Note 28 0 (838)
Provisions Note 21 (1,367) (775)

Total Current Liabilities (29,346) (31,541)

Net Current Assets 68,836 50,292

Long Term Liabilities
Long Term Creditors Note 20 (17,904) (12,173)
Provisions Note 21 (3,723) (4,229)
Long Term Borrowing Note 17 (60,292) (64,736)
Net Pensions Liability Note 32 (61,724) (57,666)

Total Long Term Liabilities (143,643)  (138,804)

Total Net Assets 299,422 260,816

Financed by:
Usable Reserves

Usable Capital Receipts Reserve Note 8 (9,216) (3,905)
Earmarked Reserves Note 10 (20,004) (17,688)
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve Note 8 (2,734) (1,790)
General Fund (3,000) (3,000)
Housing Revenue Account HRA (12,718) (11,695)

Unusable Reserves
Capital Adjustment Account Note 9 (182,539) (176,868)
Revaluation Reserve Note 9 (108,663) (85,014)
Available-for sale Financial Instruments Note 9 (2,061) (423)
Collection Fund Note 9 (1,646) 487
Pensions Reserve Note 9 61,724 57,666
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve Note 9 (18,565) (18,586)

Total Net Worth (299,422)  (260,816)



28 Dartford Borough Council

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Authority 
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as 
Operating, Investing and Financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising 
from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the 
Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of 
services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which 
cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the 
Authority’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are 
useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) 
to the Authority.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000

Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services 14,399 11,703

Note 22 13,196 12,972

Note 22 (11,821) (11,838)

Net cash flows from operating activities 15,774 12,837

Investing activities Note 23 (21,286) (11,896)

Financing activities Note 24 (639) (8,096)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,151) (7,155)

17,894 25,049

11,743 17,894

Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services for non cash movements

Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services that are investing and 
financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period



29 Dartford Borough Council

1b  Accounting Policies

General Principles

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2016/17 
financial year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2017. The Authority is 
required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015, which require it to be prepared in accordance with proper 
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 supported by International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting convention adopted in the 
Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

Accruals and Revenue Recognition

Expenditure and Income are accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply 
when cash payments are made or received and relate to activity on all of the 
Council’s functions including non-exchange transactions e.g. Council Tax, Housing 
Rents and Business Rates. In particular:

 revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that 
the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will 
flow to the Authority;

 revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can 
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is 
probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Authority;

 supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is 
a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are 
carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet;

 expenses in relation to services received, including those from employees, are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when 
payments are made;

  interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate 
for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract;

  Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written 
down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.



30 Dartford Borough Council

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three months of the Balance 
Sheet date and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value. In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are 
shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part 
of the Authority’s cash management.

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and 
Estimates and Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or 
to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the 
effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position 
or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts 
for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. Material errors 
discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets

Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following 
amounts to record the cost of holding fixed assets during the year:

 depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service;
 revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are  

no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can 
be written off;

  amortisation of intangible fixed assets attributable to the service.

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual 
contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement 
(equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the authority in 
accordance with statutory guidance).

Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore 
replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance [MRP or loans fund 
principal], by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.



31 Dartford Borough Council

Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates 

Billing authorities act as agents, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) 
on behalf of the major preceptors (including government for NDR) and, as principals, 
collecting council tax and NDR for themselves. Billing authorities are required by 
statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e. the Collection Fund) for the collection and 
distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. Under the legislative 
framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities, major preceptors and central 
government share proportionately the risks and rewards that the amount of council 
tax and NDR collected could be less or more than predicted. 

Accounting for Council Tax and NDR 

The council tax and NDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the Authority’s share of accrued income for the year. 
However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NDR that must be 
included in the Authority’s General Fund. Therefore, the difference between the 
income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the 
amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken to the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The Balance Sheet includes the Authority’s share of the end of year balances in 
respect of council tax and NDR relating to arrears, impairment allowances for 
doubtful debts, overpayments and prepayments and appeals.

Discounted Sales Scheme

Discounts have been provided by two third parties on sales of new dwellings on a 
development scheme in the borough.

The income due is based on a percentage of the market value of the properties and 
becomes due to the Council upon either the first sale of the property or after 25 years 
if no sale takes place.

The income due is secured as a result of a charge on the properties. For properties 
sold before January 2017 the charge is in the Council’s favour. For properties after 
this date the charge is in the favour of a third party and a floating charge over the 
portfolio held by the Council. 

To determine the fair value of the asset at the balance sheet date each year the 
following method will be used:

 Adjust the historic sale figure by appropriate price indices to reflect the gross 
income due at the balance sheet date.

 Estimate the likely income stream based on disposals of properties over the 25 
year period.



32 Dartford Borough Council

 In order to reflect that the income will come in the future these values are 
discounted, using an appropriate rate of discount to be determined by the 
Council and its advisers.

Indices and discount rates are reviewed annually, and the value is updated for any 
sales that have occurred, to reflect the estimated position at 31 March.

Employee Benefits

Benefits Payable During Employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the 
year-end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees. Such 
benefits are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees 
render service to the Authority. The calculated cost of unpaid benefits owing to 
employees at year end is not considered material, so no accrual has been made in 
the accounts for this.

Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to 
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the 
Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Authority 
recognises costs for a restructuring. 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory 
provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable 
by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, appropriations are made to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits 
and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners 
and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.

Post-Employment Benefits
Employees of the Council are generally eligible to be members of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme, administered by Kent County Council. 

The scheme provides defined benefits (retirement lump sums and pensions) to its 
members, linked to their length of service as employees of the Council, including 
transferred-in service from past employers. 

The local government scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme. The 
liabilities of the Kent County Council pension scheme attributable to the Council are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis, using the projected unit method 
– i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of earnings for current employees.



33 Dartford Borough Council

Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality (AA) corporate bonds. At March 2017 
the discount rate was 2.7%.

The assets of the Kent County Council pension scheme, attributable to the Council, 
are included in the Balance sheet at their fair value, as follows:

Quoted securities: current bid price
Unquoted securities: professional estimate
Unitised securities: current bid price
Property: market value

The change in net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

Service Cost
  current service cost: the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 

earned this year (allocated to the revenue accounts of services for which the 
employees worked, in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

  past service cost: the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or 
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years 
(debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed 
Costs).

   net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. net interest expense for 
the authority – the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability 
(asset) that arises from the passage of time (charged to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to 
measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period, taking into account 
any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a 
result of contribution and benefit payments).

Remeasurement
  the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

  actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise 
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because the actuary has updated their assumptions – charged to the 
Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

  contributions paid to the Kent County Council pension fund - cash paid as 
employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not 
accounted for as an expense.

Statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the 
amount payable by the Council to the pension fund, or directly to pensioners, in the 
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In 
the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required, to and from the 



34 Dartford Borough Council

Pensions Reserve, to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits 
and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners, or 
any amounts payable to the fund but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance 
that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the 
General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of 
cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make 
the award, and are accounted for using the policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme.

Events After the Reporting Period
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be 
identified:

  those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting 
period –  the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events

 those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes 
of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts.

Financial Instruments

Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities are recognised in the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally 
recognised. This means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable and the interest charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year according to 
the loan agreement.



35 Dartford Borough Council

Financial Assets
The Council’s financial assets (investments) are classified into two types:

  Loans and receivables - assets that have fixed or determinable payments but 
which are not quoted in an active market;

  Available for sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not 
have fixed or determinable payments;

Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and are 
initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised 
cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are 
based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest 
for the instrument. For most of the loans that the Authority has, this means that the 
amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus 
accrued interest), and the interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written 
down and a charge made to the relevant service (for receivables specific to that 
service) or the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Available for sale Assets
Available for sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and are 
initially measured and carried at fair value. Fair value at the balance sheet date for 
this class of investments was determined by reference to the market price as at 31 
March 2017. Where the asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the 
amortised cost of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. Where there are no fixed or determinable payments, income (e.g. 
dividends) is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
when it becomes receivable by the Council.

Assets are maintained in the Balance Sheet at fair value. Values are based on the 
following principles:

 instruments with quoted market prices – the market price;



36 Dartford Borough Council

 other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow 
analysis;

 equity shares with no quoted market prices – independent appraisal of company 
valuations.

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the 
following three levels: 

 Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
that the Authority can access at the measurement date. 

 Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.

 Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.

Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry in the Available-for-Sale Reserve and 
the gain/loss is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Available-for-
Sale Financial Assets. The exception is where impairment losses have been 
incurred. These are debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along 
with any net gain or loss for the asset accumulated in the Available-for-Sale Reserve. 

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made (fixed or determinable 
payments) or fair value falls below cost, the asset is written down and a charge made 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. If the asset has fixed or determinable payments, 
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and 
the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. Otherwise, the impairment loss is measured as any shortfall of 
fair value against the acquisition cost of the instrument (net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation).

Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of the asset are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any accumulated 
gains or losses previously recognised in the Available-for-Sale Reserve. 

Government Grants and Contributions

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:

 the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and

 the grants or contributions will be received.



37 Dartford Borough Council

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the 
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using 
the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or 
future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced 
revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Community Infrastructure Levy

The Authority has elected to charge a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The levy 
will be charged on ‘new build’ (chargeable developments for the Authority) with 
appropriate planning consent. The Council charges for and collects the levy, which is 
a planning charge. The income from the levy will be used to fund a number of 
infrastructure projects (these include transport, flood defences and schools) to 
support the development of the area.

CIL is received without outstanding conditions; it is therefore recognised at the 
commencement date of the chargeable development in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, in accordance with the accounting policy for government 
grants and contributions set out above. CIL charges will be largely used to fund 
capital expenditure. However, a small proportion of the charges may be used to fund 
revenue expenditure.

Heritage Assets

A Heritage Asset is a tangible or intangible asset that is intended to be preserved in 
trust for future generations because of its historical, artistic, scientific, technological, 
geophysical or environmental qualities and is held principally for its contribution to 
knowledge and culture. The value of Heritage Assets held by the Council is not 
material and therefore is not recognised on the balance sheet.

Interest in Companies or Other Entities

The Council does not have material interests in companies, nor in other entities that 
have the nature of subsidiaries; accordingly group accounts have not been prepared. 
The Council is a shareholder in the Bridge Estate Management Company Limited. To 
date the company’s activities have been very limited and are not considered material; 



38 Dartford Borough Council

and it is not considered that the preparation of group accounts would aid in the 
understanding of the financial standing of the Council. 

Investment Property

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate 
the delivery of council services or is held for sale. 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, 
being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, 
investment properties are measured at highest and best use. 

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the 
following three levels: 
 Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

that the authority can access at the measurement date. 
 Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.
 Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for the asset.

Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market 
conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and 
losses on disposal. 

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing 
and Investment Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. 
However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory 
arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses 
are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Joint Operations
Joint operations are arrangements where the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the 
arrangement. The activities undertaken by the Authority in conjunction with other 
joint operators involve the use of the assets and resources of those joint operators. 
In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Authority as a joint operator 
recognises its:

 assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

 liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 

 revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;



39 Dartford Borough Council

 share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation;

 expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or 
equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings 
elements are considered separately for classification. Arrangements that do not have 
the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment 
are accounted for under this policy, where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of specific assets.

The Authority as Lessee 

Operating Leases 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg there is a 
rent-free period at the commencement of the lease).

The Authority as Lessor

Finance Leases
Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At 
the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, 
representing the Authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the same line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or 
loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of 
disposal), matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet. 

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between:

  a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property – applied to write down 
the lease debtor (together with any premiums received), and

   finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on 
disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund balance, and is 
required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this 
is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease 
asset is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted 



40 Dartford Borough Council

out of the General Fund balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element 
for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease 
debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The written-off value of 
disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are 
therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Operating Leases
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to 
the other operating expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

Overheads and Support Services

In past years these have been charged to appropriate Service Reporting Code of 
Practice line, however as part of the “Telling the Story” changes to the accounts 
outlined in the Narrative Report the costs of overheads and support services are now 
charged to service segments in accordance with the Authority’s arrangements for 
accountability and financial performance. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it 
is incurred. Expenditure above £10,000 is capitalised; amounts below this sum are 
charged directly to revenue.

Measurement
Assets have been valued on the basis recommended by CIPFA and in accordance 
with the Statements of Asset Valuation principles and Guidance Notes issued by the 
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). They have been classified in 
accordance with the IFRS Code.

Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:

 the purchase price;



41 Dartford Borough Council

 any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.

The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value.

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases:

 infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated 
historical cost

 dwellings – fair value, determined using the basis of existing use value for social 
housing (EUV-SH)

 council offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for 
the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV), 

 surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated at 
highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective 

 all other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 
for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV). 

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value. 
Where non-property assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), the 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair value. 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly 
to ensure that their carrying amount was not materially different from their fair value 
at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are 
matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. 
(Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a 
service).

The schedule of valuations for operational property is shown in note 14. The date of 
revaluation for non-dwelling Property, Plant and Equipment assets valued during the 
year has been changed to 1 January 2017 to reduce the level of estimation. 
Investment Properties have been revalued as at 31 March 2017.

The valuer has confirmed on the 31st March that the owner occupier market has not 
improved significantly since the 1st January 2017 and that the building cost index 
remained relatively stable from 1st January to 31st March. Therefore the Council is 
confident that the PPE valuations at 1st J January 2017 are materially correct as at 
the 31st March 2017. 



42 Dartford Borough Council

Council dwellings are revalued annually using the Beacon principle. The asset 
valuations in these accounts have been prepared by the Richard Robson BSc 
MRICS and by Michael Rogers LLP (HRA Beacon properties only). The valuations 
were produced in accordance with guidelines issued by CIPFA, and in accordance 
with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors’ current guidance notes for Asset 
Valuation. 

The basis for Council dwellings’ valuations is Existing Use Value for Social Housing 
(EUV-SH). Under this method the vacant possession value of the dwellings is 
reduced to 33% of the market value, to reflect their occupation by secure tenants. A 
full valuation of the Beacon properties in undertaken every five years, but an annual 
adjustment to reflect market changes is made in the intervening years. The date of 
valuation for Housing Revenue Account dwellings was 31 March 2017.

Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to 
recognise unrealised gains. Gains can also be credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a loss 
previously charged to a service.

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for in the following ways:

 where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains);

 where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired. Where such indications exist, and any possible differences 
are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, 
where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognised for the shortfall. 

Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for in the following ways:

  where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance 
(up to the amount of the accumulated gains);

  where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve, or an insufficient balance, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.



43 Dartford Borough Council

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to 
the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold 
land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. 
assets under construction). Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

 dwellings – straight-line allocation over 60 years, the useful life of the property as 
estimated by the valuer,

 other buildings – reducing balance charge over the useful life of the property as 
estimated by the valuer, (ranges from 10-60 years).

 vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – a percentage of the value of each class 
of assets in the Balance Sheet on a reducing balance basis, as advised by a 
suitably qualified officer, (ranges from 3-10 years).

 Infrastructure – reducing balance charge over the useful lives of the assets, 
(ranges from 10-35 years).

Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of an asset is not depreciated in the 
year it is incurred unless the value is significant.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each 
year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Components 
The IFRS code requires local authorities to identify elements of major assets that 
either have a capital cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset 
and/or have a different useful life or depreciation method. The Council accounts for 
components for individual assets with a gross book value in excess of £1m, and 
where any individual component has a value in excess of £100,000.

The treatment of components for the Housing Revenue Account dwellings differs 
from that shown above. The component policy for the HRA dwelling stock has been 
compiled based on advice received from external valuers and officers. The criterion 
for this asset class is if an individual component has a value in excess of 20% of the 
average dwelling valuation. The Council has not implemented component accounting 
for the HRA stock as no individual components meet the Council’s criterion.

Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value, less costs 



44 Dartford Borough Council

to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to its fair value, less costs to sell, the 
loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount 
of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. 
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying 
amount before they were classified as held for sale, adjusted for the depreciation, 
amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision 
not to sell. Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as 
Assets Held for Sale.

When an asset is disposed of, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet 
is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from 
disposals (if any) are also credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.

Amounts in excess of £10,000 received for a disposal are categorised as capital 
receipts. A proportion of certain receipts relating to housing disposals is payable to 
the Government.  The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment. Receipts 
are appropriated to the reserve from the General Fund balance in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of 
fixed assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Provisions

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the 
Authority becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at 
the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 
account relevant risks and uncertainties. When payments are eventually made, they 
are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are 
reviewed at the end of each financial year. 



45 Dartford Borough Council

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority. 
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made, but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note 
to the accounts.

Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise 
of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Authority.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential

Reserves

The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the 
General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to 
be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that 
year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then 
appropriated back into the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure. 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current 
assets and retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources for the 
Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant policies.

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS)

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory 
provisions but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Authority has determined to meet the 
cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no 
impact on the level of council tax.

Value Added Tax

VAT has been included in the income and expenditure accounts, whether of a capital 
or revenue nature, only to the extent that it is irrecoverable.



46 Dartford Borough Council

2 Accounting Standards that Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet 
Been Adopted

The 2016/17 Code requires changes in accounting policy to be applied 
retrospectively unless alternative transitional arrangements are specified in the 
Code. The Code requires an authority to disclose information relating to the impact 
of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been 
issued but not yet adopted by the Code for the relevant financial year.

The additional disclosures that will be required in the 2016/17 and 2017/18 financial 
statements in respect of accounting changes that are introduced in the 2017/18 
Code are: 

 Amendment to the reporting of pension fund scheme transaction costs
 Amendment to the reporting of investment concentration 

3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1 the Authority has had to make 
certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about 
future events.

The Council’s aggregate interest in the discounted sales scheme is continuing, (271 
properties as at 31 March 2017). The historic costs of the sales since the 
commencement of the scheme have been uplifted to March 2017 prices using the 
Land Registry indices for the South East, relevant to the respective balance sheet 
dates.

The Council’s income from this scheme is variable and dependant on the individual 
owner occupiers’ decisions to sell or not. During the 2016-17 financial year 43 
properties were sold and the Council continues to use a prudent estimate of future 
sales, i.e. that they fall equally over the period of the scheme.

The Council considers that the future value of its interest needs to be reduced in the 
statement of accounts by applying a net present value to the gross figure in order to 
reflect the long term, future, value of anticipated income. A discount rate of 2% has 
been applied, being the Bank of England forecast for long-term inflation.

It has been determined that the discounted sales scheme receivable is not a 
financial instrument as the Council’s rights under the scheme do not meet the 
definition of a financial asset. This is because the Council’s legal charge over the 
properties concerned does not arise from a contractual relationship between the 
Council and the purchasers of the property. Additionally, the Council has offered no 
consideration to the owners of the property in return for the economic benefits 
received.

In the financial year the arrangement relating to new properties in the scheme has 
changed. Due to Financial Conduct Authority changes the Council is no longer able 
to take a direct charge over property without registering under FCA rules. The 



47 Dartford Borough Council

Council determined to use an intermediary to register the second charges for the 
remaining properties on the scheme backed up by a floating charge over the 
property portfolio. Since the substance of these transactions is the same, the 
accounting treatment has remained consistent for the 17 properties that fall under 
this arrangement. The charge over these properties constitutes £861,000 of the 
balance sheet value.

There is still a fairly high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local 
government. However, the Authority has determined that this uncertainty is not yet 
sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Authority might be impaired 
as a result of a need to close facilities and/or reduce levels of service provision.

The Council is liable for losses on business rates arising from valuation appeals in 
respect of 2016/17 and earlier years.  The total rateable value for these appeals on 
31 March 2017 was £88m, of which the Council’s share was £35.2m; (£106m and 
£42m respectively at 31 March 2016).

The Council is a shareholder in The Bridge Estate Management Company Limited. 
To date the Company’s activities have been limited; they are increasing but are still 
not considered material, nor would the inclusion of the Company’s activities in the 
Council’s Statement of Accounts aid the understanding of the financial standing of 
the Council. In view of this, Group Accounts have not been prepared for 2016/17.

4 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of 
Estimation Uncertainty

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions 
made by the Authority about the future, or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are 
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other related factors. 
However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could 
be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

There are three items in the balance sheet where actual results could be materially 
different from assumptions and estimates:

Pensions Liability

The Council’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017 includes an amount of £61.72m for 
pension liability for which it is considered there is a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming financial years. Detailed information regarding the 
assessment of valuation and any risk is covered in Note 32.

Investment Property – The Bridge

The Balance Sheet includes a value for The Bridge investment property of £6.141m 
(£6.923m in 2015/16). The Bridge is a development the Council has entered into in 
partnership with Prologis. The value of the investment property is based on future 
estimated cash flows to the Council. These will vary each year and will, in part, be 
determined by the property market; The Bridge is revalued each year and the balance 
sheet adjusted accordingly.



48 Dartford Borough Council

Property Valuations

Valuations were carried out by external Valuers. Valuations of land and buildings 
were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. 
These methods involve comparisons with prevailing market conditions. Any 
uncertainty would have the greatest effect on Social Housing assets where a 
reduction in market values of 10% would decrease holding values by £28m.

Provision for Business Rate Valuation Appeals
A provision has been made for the potential effect of outstanding appeals in respect 
of rating list entries relating to the Collection Fund.

The provision for business rate valuation appeals is based on the latest list of 
outstanding rating list proposals provided by the Valuation Office and is an estimate 
based on changes in comparable hereditaments, market trends and other valuation 
issues, including the potential for some proposals to be withdrawn. If the rate and 
value of successful appeals were 1% higher than estimated there would be a 
shortfall of £1.23m in the collection fund provision.

Fair Value Measurements

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities cannot be measured 
based on quoted prices in active markets (i.e. Level 1 inputs), their fair value is 
measured using valuation techniques (e.g. quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets or the discounted cash flow (DCF) model). Where 
possible, the inputs to these valuation techniques are based on observable data, but 
where this is not possible judgement is required in establishing fair values. These 
judgements typically include considerations such as uncertainty and risk. However, 
changes in the assumptions used could affect the fair value of the authority’s assets 
and liabilities. 
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the authority employs relevant experts to 
identify the most appropriate valuation techniques to determine fair value (for 
example for investment properties, the authority’s external valuer). 
Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair 
value of the authority’s assets and liabilities is disclosed in notes below.

The authority uses the discounted cash flow (DCF) model to measure the fair value 
of some of its investment properties. The significant unobservable inputs used in the 
fair value measurement include management assumptions regarding rent growth, 
vacancy levels (for investment properties) and discount rates – adjusted for regional 
factors (for both investment properties and some financial assets) 
Significant changes in any of the unobservable inputs would result in a significantly 
lower or higher fair value measurement for the relevant assets. 



49 Dartford Borough Council

5 Events After The Reporting Period

The Statement of Accounts was approved and authorised for issue on 6 September 
2017 by the Audit Board, and this is the date to which events after the Balance Sheet 
date have been considered for inclusion in the financial statements.

6a Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis

The tables below show a further breakdown of the adjustments made to the General 
Fund position in order to arrive at Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement amounts.

Adjustments from General Fund to 
arrive at the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement amounts 
2016/17

Adjustment 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net Change 
for Pensions 
Adjustment

Other 
Differences

Total 
Adjustments

Note 1 Note 2 Note 3

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000

Managing Director 0 9 0 9

Strategic Director External Services 763 369 0 1,132

Strategic Director Internal Services 2,339 (1,012) 1,470 2,797

Local Authority Housing (HRA) (7,153) (133) 0 (7,286)

Net cost of services (4,051) (767) 1,470 (3,348)

Other income and expenditure (6,079) 1,971         (3,604) (7,712)

Surplus or deficit (10,130) 1,204         (2,134) (11,060)



50 Dartford Borough Council

Adjustments from General Fund to 
arrive at the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement amounts 
2015/16

Adjustment 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net Change 
for Pensions 
Adjustment

Other 
Differences

Total 
adjustments

Note 1 Note 2 Note 3

 £,000  £,000  £,000  £,000

Managing Director 0 9 0 9

Strategic Director External Services 571 434 8 1,013

Strategic Director Internal Services 3,516 (959) 1,553 4,110

Local Authority Housing (HRA) (6,769) 283 0 (6,486)

Net cost of services (2,682) (233) 1,561 (1,354)

Other income and expenditure (5,843) 1,530         825          (3,488)

Surplus or deficit (8,525) 1,297         2,386       (4,842)

1 Adjustments for Capital Purposes 

Adjustments for capital purposes – this column adds in depreciation and impairment 
and revaluation gains and losses in the services line, and for: 

Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income 
on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets. 

Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for capital 
financing i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are 
deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under 
generally accepted accounting practices.
 
Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are adjusted 
for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue 
grants are adjusted from those receivable in the year to those receivable without 
conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The Taxation 
and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is credited with capital grants 
receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the 
year. 



51 Dartford Borough Council

2 Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments 

Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 

For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made 
by the authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs 
and past service costs. 

For Financing and investment income and expenditure –- the net interest on the 
defined benefit liability is charged to the CIES. 

3 Other Differences 

This column includes variations in the amount chargeable for Business Rates and 
Council Tax under statute and the code. Other differences include interest costs 
budgeted and reported under the service headings during the year but accounted in 
other income and expenditure under the code and timing differences for debits or 
credits relating to premiums or discounts on debt settlement 

6b Segmental Reporting

Income received is analysed on a segmental basis below:

Revenues from External Customers 2016/17 2015/16
£000 £000

Managing Director 0 0

Strategic Director External Services (5,299) (4,653)

Strategic Director Internal Services (3,062) (4,842)

Housing Revenue Account (21,280) (21,511)

Total (29,641) (31,006)



52 Dartford Borough Council

7 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature

The authority's expenditure and income is analysed as follows:

2016/17 2015/16*

Expenditure/Income £000 £000

Expenditure
Employee benefits expenses  9,246         8,574         
Other services expenses  46,283        48,533        
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment  8,713         9,569         
Interest payments  5,583         5,945         
Precepts and levies  1,140         1,111         
Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool  409            416            
Loss on the disposal of assets  290            699            
Non Domestic Rates Tariff/Levy 31,189        30,942        

Total expenditure  102,853      105,789      

Income
Fees, charges and other service income  (29,641) (31,006)
Gain on the disposal of assets  (1,478) (1,149)
Discounted sale scheme (2,351) (3,716)
Interest and investment income  (5,143) (2,998)
Income from council tax, non domestic rates, district rate income (42,501) (40,668)
Government grants and contributions  (36,138) (37,955)

Total income  (117,252) (117,492)

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services  (14,399) (11,703)

* This is a new note. Prior year figures are from the Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis in note 23 in the 
2015/16 account. Some classification restatements have been made to help with comparability to the 
2016/17 figures under the new note requirement.



53 Dartford Borough Council

8 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 
Regulations, including Usable Reserves Disclosure

Details of movements in the Authority’s usable reserves are set out in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement and the tables later in this note. The movements are 
summarised in the table below.

2015/16 CI&ES MIRS Reserves 2016/17
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Balance 3,000 4,964 (2,648) (2,316) 3,000
Housing Revenue Account 11,695 9,435 (8,412) 0 12,718
Capital Grants Unapplied 1,790 0 944 0 2,734
Capital Receipts Reserve 471 0 4,044 0 4,515
"One for One" Receipts 3,434 0 1,267 0 4,701

Total 20,390 14,399 (4,805) (2,316) 27,668

Movements in Year 

The Usable Reserves are composed of:

General Fund Balance

The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of an authority are 
required to paid and out of which all its liabilities are to be met, except to the extent 
that statutory rules might provide otherwise. These rules can also specify the 
financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact on the General Fund 
Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The 
General Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that the Council is 
statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit 
of resources that the Council is required to recover) at the end of the financial year.

Housing Revenue Account Balance

The Housing Revenue Account Balance reflects the statutory obligation to maintain a 
revenue account for local authority council housing provision in accordance with Part 
VI of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. It contains the balance of income 
and expenditure, as defined by the 1989 Act, that is available to fund future 
expenditure in connection with the Council’s landlord function or (where in deficit) 
that is required to be recovered from tenants in future years.

Major Repairs Reserve

The Authority is required to maintain the Major Repairs Reserve, which controls the 
application of the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA). The MRA is restricted to being 
applied to new capital investment in HRA assets or the financing of historical capital 
expenditure by the HRA. 



54 Dartford Borough Council

Capital Grants Unapplied

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account (Reserve) holds the grants and contributions 
received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions that 
would otherwise require repayment of the monies but which have yet to be applied to 
meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant terms as to the nature of capital 
expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this 
can take place.

Capital Receipts Reserve

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other 
assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital 
expenditure or to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure. The balance 
on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied for these purposes at 
the year-end. 

‘One for One’ Receipts

This is a part of the capital receipts reserve and is broken down here for additional 
disclosure; these receipts arise from the sale of Council properties via the Right to 
Buy. The receipts must be held separately and used to fund the provision of new 
social housing, within three years of receipt.



55 Dartford Borough Council

Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations

The table below details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive 
income and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year, in accordance with 
proper accounting practice, to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions 
as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

2016/17 Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d 

Ba
la

nc
e 

£,
00

0

Ho
us

in
g 

Re
ve

nu
e 

Ac
co

un
t £

,0
00

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

Re
se

rv
e 

£,
00

0

Ca
pi

ta
l G

ra
nt

s 
Un

ap
pl

ie
d 

£,
00

0

Ca
pi

ta
l 

Re
ce

ip
ts 

Re
se

rv
e 

£,
00

0

Pensions Costs (934) (270) 0 0 0

Council Tax and NDR 2,134 0 0 0 0

Reversal of entries in relation to Capital Expenditure (6,839) (6,267) 0 0 0
Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (5,639) (6,537) 0 0 0

Transfer of Cash Sale Proceeds credited as part of the 
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement

3,691 3,170 0 0 (6,861)

Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts on receipt of 
cash

(1) 0 0 0 0

Recognition of Long Term Debtor re Discounted Sales 
Scheme

2,351 0 0 0 0

Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
finance the payments to the Government capital receipts 
pool

(409) 0 0 0 409

Capital expenditure financed from the General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account Balances

48 4,275 0 0 0

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 0 4,443 0 0 0

Transfer from HRA to Major Repairs Reserve 0 3,061 (3,061) 0 0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 
Resources 5,680 14,949 (3,061) 0 (6,452)

Capital Grants Applied to Finance Capital expenditure 1,211 0 0 452 0

Capital Grants and Contributions unapplied credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

1,396 0 0 (1,396) 0

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital 
expenditure

0 0 3,061 0 0

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital 
expenditure

0 0 0 0 1,141

Total Adjustments to Capital Reserves 2,607 0 3,061 (944) 1,141

Total Adjustments 2,648 8,412 0 (944) (5,311)

Usable Reserves

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Adjustments Between Revenue and Capital Resources

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources



56 Dartford Borough Council

2015/16 Ge
ne

ra
l F

un
d 

Ba
la

nc
e 

£,
00

0

Ho
us

in
g 

Re
ve

nu
e 

Ac
co

un
t £

,0
00

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

Re
se

rv
e 

£,
00

0

Ca
pi

ta
l G

ra
nt

s 
Un

ap
pl

ie
d 

£,
00

0

Ca
pi

ta
l 

Re
ce

ip
ts 

Re
se

rv
e 

£,
00

0

Pensions Costs (1,014) (283) 0 0 0

Council Tax and NDR (2,386) 0 0 0 0

Reversal of entries in relation to Capital 
Expenditure

(9,438) (5,512) 0 0 0

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (12,838) (5,795) 0 0 0

Transfer of Cash Sale Proceeds credited as part 
of the gain/loss on disposal to the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement

2,507 2,319 0 0 (4,826)

Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts on 
receipt of cash

(1) 0 0 0 (4)

Recognition of Long Term Debtor re Discounted 
Sales Scheme

3,716 0 0 0 0

Contribution from the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
finance the payments to the Government capital 
receipts pool

(416) 0 0 0 416

Capital expenditure financed from the General 
Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balances

98 3,874 0 0 0

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 39 4,443 0 0 0

Transfer from HRA to Major Repairs Reserve 0 2,861 (2,861) 0 0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 
Resources 5,943 13,497 (2,861) 0 (4,414)

Capital Grants Applied to Finance Capital 
expenditure

2,941 0 0 12 0

Capital Grants and Contributions unapplied 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement

1,094 0 0 (1,094) 0

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance 
capital expenditure

0 0 2,861 0 0

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance 
capital expenditure

0 0 0 0 12,960

Total Adjustments to Capital Reserves 4,035 0 2,861 (1,082) 12,960

Total Adjustments (2,860) 7,702 0 (1,082) 8,546

Usable Reserves

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Adjustments Between Revenue and Capital Resources

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources



57 Dartford Borough Council

9 Unusable Reserves

2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000

Capital Adjustment Account (182,539) (176,868)
Revaluation Reserve (108,663) (85,014)
Collection Fund Adjustment Account (1,646) 487
Pensions Reserve 61,724 57,666
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (18,565) (18,586)
Available for Sale Financial Instruments Account (2,061) (423)

Total Unusable Reserves (251,750) (222,738)

Capital Adjustment Account

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets 
and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets 
under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, 
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations 
are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with 
reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a 
historical cost basis). The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the 
Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. 
The account contains accumulated gains and losses on investment properties and 
gains recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the authority. 
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant and 
equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created 
to hold such gains.



58 Dartford Borough Council

CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT

Balance as at 1 April (176,868) (162,165)

Reversal of items relating to capital 
expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:
Charges for depreciation and impairment of 
non-current assets 7,503 8,008
Amortisation of intangible assets 48 120
Revenue expenditure funded from capital 
under statute 1,161 2,878
Amounts of non-current assets written off on 
disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement

2,783 3,293

Net written out amount of the cost of non-
current assets consumed in the year 11,495 14,299

Capital financing applied in the year:
Transfer to Government GrantsUse of the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
finance new capital expenditure (1,141) (12,961)
Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance 
new capital expenditure (3,061) (2,861)
Capital grants and contributions credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement that have been applied to capital 
financing (1,210) (2,875)
Application of grants to capital financing from 
the Capital Grants Unapplied Account (453) (77)
Statutory Provision for the financing of capital 
investment charged against the General Fund 
and HRA balances (4,442) (4,482)
Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund and HRA balances (4,323) (3,972)
Adjustment re Historic Cost Depreciation (1,257) (1,342)

(15,887) (28,570)
Movements in the market value of Investment 
Properties debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (1,279) (432)

Balance as at 31 March (182,539) (176,868)

2015/16
£,000

2016/17
£,000



59 Dartford Borough Council

Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 
increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment. 
The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:

   revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

 used in the provision of services as the gains are consumed through  
depreciation, or

 disposed of and the gains realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the 
date that the reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

REVALUATION RESERVE

Balance as at 1 April (85,014) (51,106)

Upward revaluation of assets (26,216) (40,318)

Downward revaluation of assets and 
impairment losses not charged to the 
surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services 791 4,723

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-
current assets not posted to the surplus 
or deficit on the provision of services (25,425) (35,595)

Difference between fair value depreciation 
and historical cost depreciation 1,257 1,342

Amount written off to the Capital 
Adjustment Account 519 1,776 345 1,687

Balance at 31 March (108,663) (85,014)

2016/17
£,000

2015/16
£,000

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the 
recognition of council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from council tax and business 
rates payers, compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts 
to the General Fund from the Collection Fund.



60 Dartford Borough Council

COLLECTION FUND ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT £,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April 487 (1,899)

Amount by which council tax income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different 
from council tax income calculated for the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements (216) (71)

Amount by which non domestic rates income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different 
from non domestic rates income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements (1,917) 2,457

Balance at 31 March (1,646) 487

2016/17 2015/16

Pensions Reserve

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits 
in accordance with statutory provisions. The Authority accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits 
are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities 
recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s contributions to 
pension funds, or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. 
The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve shows a shortfall in the benefits earned 
by past and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to 
meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set 
aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.

PENSIONS RESERVE £,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April 57,666 61,321

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) 2,854 (4,952)

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or 
credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the provision of Services 3,935 4,029

Employer's pensions contributions and direct payments to 
pensioners payable in the year

(2,731) (2,732)

Balance at 31 March 61,724 57,666

2015/162016/17



61 Dartford Borough Council

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal 
of non-current assets for which cash settlement has yet to take place. Under 
statutory arrangements the authority does not treat these gains as usable for 
financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by capital receipts. When the 
deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve. The Council has identified monies due to it in respect of 
discounts provided by two third parties on sales of new dwellings on a development 
in the borough. These receipts will arise over the next 25 years, as relevant 
properties are sold, and they are shown on the balance sheet and within Long Term 
Debtors in note 18 to the accounts.

DEFERRED CAPITAL RECEIPTS RESERVE £,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April (18,586) (15,612)
Discounted Sale Scheme 19 (2,979)

Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash 2 5

Balance at 31 March (18,565) (18,586)

2016/17 2015/16

Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Account

The Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Account absorbs the timing differences 
arising from the different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses 
relating to certain financial instruments and for bearing losses or benefiting from 
gains thereon, per statutory provisions.

AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
ACCOUNT £,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April (423) (1,374)
Upward revaluation of investments (1,731) (391)

Downward revaluation of investments not charged to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 29 196

Accumulated gains on assets sold and maturing assets written 
out to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as part of Other Investment Income 64 1,146

Balance at 31 March (2,061) (423)

2016/17 2015/16



62 Dartford Borough Council

10  Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in 
Earmarked Reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans, and the 
amounts posted back from Earmarked Reserves to meet General Fund expenditure 
in 2016/17.

Balance 
at 1 April 

2015 
£,000

Transfers 
Out 

2015/16 
£,000

Transfers 
In  

2015/16 
£,000

Balance at 
31 March 

2016 
£,000

Transfers 
Out 

2016/17 
£,000

Transfers 
In  

2016/17 
£,000

Balance at 
31 March 

2017  
£,000

Identified Initiatives (2,278) 433 (380) (2,225) 405 (152) (1,972)

Additional Pensions (2,000) 0 0 (2,000) 0 0 (2,000)

Acacia (403) 120 0 (283) 10 0 (273)

Structural Changes 
and Partnering

(575) 15 0 (560) 0 0 (560)

Default and 
Exceptional Loss

(430) 0 (143) (573) 1 0 (572)

Feasibility and Service 
Provision

(394) 90 (296) (600) 8 0 (592)

Minor Insurance 
Liabilities

(100) 0 0 (100) 0 0 (100)

Investment Volatility (300) 0 (700) (1,000) 0 0 (1,000)

Museum Donation Box (13) 0 (1) (14) 0 0 (14)

Replacement and 
Renewals

(511) 47 (181) (645) 60 (82) (667)

Corporate Property 
Maintenance

(500) 31 (31) (500) 4 0 (496)

Homelessness (300) 0 0 (300) 67 (67) (300)

New Homes Bonus (3,101) 285 (2,657) (5,473) 24 (3,560) (9,009)

Environmental and 
Waste Management

(749) 151 (152) (750) 146 0 (604)

NNDR Stability 0 0 (1,665) (1,665) 1,250 0 (415)

Exceptional Cost 
Overrun

(1,000) 0 0 (1,000) 0 0 (1,000)

Business Rates Pool 
Growth Fund

0 0 0 0 0 (325) (325)

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 

0 0 0 0 0 (105) (105)

Total (12,654) 1,172 (6,206) (17,688) 1,975 (4,291) (20,004)



63 Dartford Borough Council

11 Other Operating Expenditure

£,000 £,000

Parish Council precepts 1,140 1,111
Payments to the Government Housing Capital Receipts 
Pool 409 416

(Gains)/Losses on the disposal of non current assets (1,188) (450)
Notional Income Discounted Sale Scheme (2,351) (3,716)

Total Other Operating Expenditure (1,990) (2,639)

2016/17 2015/16

12 Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure

£,000 £,000

Interest payable and similar charges 1,630 1,738
Net interest on the net defined benefit (liability) 1,971 1,919
Interest receivable and similar income (1,570) (1,304)
Income and expenditure in relation to investment 
properties (312) (670)
Changes in the fair value of investment property (1,279) (432)

Total Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 440 1,251

2016/17 2015/16

13 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure

£,000 £,000

Council Tax Income (7,160) (6,795)
NNDR Tariff 30,505 30,252
NNDR Income Share (35,341) (33,873)
Business Rates Levy / Pool Contribution 685 844
Section 31 Business Rates Grants Note 28 (392) (604)
Non-Ringfenced Government Grants Note 28 (4,869) (4,702)
Capital Grants and Contributions Note 28 (1,472) (1,364)

Total Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (18,044) (16,242)

2016/17 2015/16

The Council joined the Kent Business Rates Pool from April 2016. This reduced the levy rate payable 
by the Council. The gains of the pool are shared between the upper tier authority and the Council. An 
element is also paid to maintain a safety net contribution for pool members. 



64 Dartford Borough Council

14  Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements on Balances

Movements in 2016/17
Co

un
ci

l D
we

llin
gs

O
th

er
 L

an
d 

an
d 

Bu
ild

in
gs

Ve
hi

cl
es

, P
la

nt
,

 F
ur

ni
tu

re
 &

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
 A

ss
et

s

Co
m

m
un

ity
 A

ss
et

s

Su
rp

lu
s 

As
se

ts
 

As
se

ts
 U

nd
er

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n

To
ta

l P
ro

pe
rty

, P
la

nt
 a

nd
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Cost or Valuation
at 1 April 2016 260,697 42,329 5,494 3,270 9,311 3,266 2,116 326,483

Additions 8,012 505 158 56 8 0 285 9,024

Revaluation increases / 
(decreases) recognised 
in the Revaluation 
Reserve 17,301 907 0 0 0 1,955 0 20,163

Revaluation increases / 
(decreases) recognised 
in the Surplus / Deficit on 
the Provision of Services (1,456) (1,228) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,684)
Derecognition - 
Disposals (1,712) 0 (1,713) 0 0 0 0 (3,425)

Assets reclassified 2,116 601 0 0 0 (58) (2,104) 555

At 31 March 2017 284,958 43,114 3,939 3,326 9,319 5,163 297 350,116

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment

At 1 April 2016 0 (2,293) (4,347) (1,154) (363) 0 0 (8,157)

Depreciation charge (3,061) (1,852) (327) (92) 0 0 0 (5,332)

Depreciation written out 
to Revaluation Reserve 3,041 2,221 0 0 0 0 0 5,262
Depreciation written out 
to Surplus/Deficit on 
provision of Services 0 513 0 0 0 0 0 513

Derecognition - 
Disposals 20 0 1,713 0 0 0 0 1,733

At 31 March 2017 0 (1,411) (2,961) (1,246) (363) 0 0 (5,981)

Net Book Value
at 31 March 2017 284,958 41,703   978        2,080     8,956     5,163     297        344,135   



65 Dartford Borough Council

During 2016/17 the Council spent £9.024m on works to its asset portfolio. Of this sum, £8m was spent on 
HRA dwelling stock assets, including a programme of new build/acquisitions. The Council sold 29 dwellings 
with a total balance sheet valuation of £1.7m under the Right to Buy scheme during 2016/17. 



66 Dartford Borough Council

Movements on Balances

Movements in 2015/16

Co
un

cil
 D

we
llin

gs

Ot
he

r L
an

d 
an

d 
Bu

ild
ing

s

Ve
hic

les
, P

lan
t,

 F
ur

nit
ur

e&
 E

qu
ipm

en
t

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
 A

ss
et

s

Co
m

m
un

ity
 A

ss
et

s

Su
rp

lus
 A

ss
et

s

As
se

ts
 U

nd
er

 C
on

st
ru

ct
ion

To
ta

l P
ro

pe
rty

, P
la

nt
 

an
d 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Cost or Valuation
at 1 April 2015 231,182 33,810 6,275 3,236 8,017 0 3,241 285,763

Additions 6,722 8,933 283 34 1,819 0 2,003 19,794

Revaluation increases / 
(decreases) recognised in 
the Revaluation Reserve 25,401 (697) 0 0 0 2,549 0 27,253

Revaluation increases / 
(decreases) recognised in 
the Surplus / Deficit on 
the
Provision of Services 0 (184) 0 0 0 0 0 (184)

Derecognition - Disposals (1,170) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,170)

Derecognition - Other 0 0 (1,064) 0 0 0 0 (1,064)

Assets reclassified 0 1,670 0 0 (525) 2,288 (3,128) 305

Impairment (1,439) (1,204) 0 0 0 (1,571) 0 (4,214)

At 31 March 2016 260,696 42,328 5,494 3,270 9,311 3,266 2,116 326,483

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment

At 1 April 2015 (2,646) (4,855) (5,048) (1,059) (363) 0 0 (13,971)

Depreciation charge (2,861) (1,429) (363) (95) 0 0 0 (4,748)

Depreciation written out to 
Surplus/Deficit on 
provision of Services 0 834 0 0 0 0 0 834

Reversed on revaluation 5,507 3,157 0 0 0 0 0 8,664

Derecognition - Other 0 0 1,064 0 0 0 0 1,064

At 31 March 2016 0 (2,293) (4,347) (1,154) (363) 0 0 (8,157)

Net Book Value
at 31 March 2016 260,696 40,035  1,147    2,116    8,948    3,266    2,116    318,326 



67 Dartford Borough Council

Depreciation

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 
depreciation:

Council Dwellings 60 years
Other Land and Buildings 10-60 years
Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 3-10 years
Infrastructure 10-35 years

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2017 the Authority was contractually committed to existing contracts for 
the construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment with an 
outstanding commitment of £0.02m, and was also committed to new contracts 
starting in 2017/18 with a value of £5.6m. Similar commitments at 31 March 2016 
totalled £2.675m.

Revaluations

The Authority carries out a rolling programme of valuations, in accordance with the 
IAS16 requirements, to ensure that all Property, Plant and Equipment required to be 
measured at current value is revalued at least every five years. Properties with a 
higher valuation are valued annually to ensure a materially correct carrying value.

Valuations were carried out by external Valuers. Valuations of land and buildings 
were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. 

With regard to PPE properties valued during the year, these were split between 
properties / land that were valued on an ‘Existing Use value’ basis (such as, Civic 
Offices and the Car Parks) and those valued on Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC) such as Public Conveniences, Theatre, Football Stadium etc. 

An existing use value involves analysing other market transactions, in terms of 
purchase price, rents, yields etc. and making adjustments to relate this evidence to 
the subject property and, where appropriate, making allowances for cost of 
acquisition etc. The relevant factors in terms of adjustments relate to tenure (in 
particular the terms of any leases), age, location, use, condition and suitability of the 
property for its intended use.

Housing is valued at Existing Use Value for Social Housing (EUV-SH) as detailed in 
the accounting policies.

With regard to DRC properties the Valuer relied on the rebuilding costs supplied by 
the RICS Building Cost Information Service and made assumptions based on the life 
expectancy of building components based on his knowledge of the property type and 
any other information supplied.



68 Dartford Borough Council

Council 
dwellings

Other land and 
buildings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Valued at fair value as at:
31 March 2017* 284,958 35,482            320,440
01 April 2015 0 4,723              4,723
01 April 2014 0 103                 103
01 April 2013 0 1,395              1,395

Total Cost or Valuation 284,958 41,703 326,661

* Council dwellings valued as at 31/03/17; Other Land and Buildings as at 01/01/17

Surplus Assets: land at Stone Lodge was revalued at Fair Value as at 31 March 
2017. The valuation technique was based on Significant Observable Inputs – level 2, 
i.e. it was based on the market approach using current market conditions and recent 
sales or lettings evidence and other relevant information for similar assets in Dartford 
Borough, or other suitably comparable locations. Where appropriate, adjustments 
have been made to the comparable evidence to relate these directly to the subject 
asset. Market conditions are such that similar assets are actively sold or let and the 
level of observable inputs are significant, leading the assets being categorised at 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

15 Investment Properties

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment 
properties over the year:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April 13,080 15,646

Additions:

Reclassifications (555) (830)

Disposals (1,611) (2,168)

Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments 1,278 432

Balance at 31 March 12,192 13,080

A review of investment properties took place during the year. It was considered that 
some properties previously held as investment properties were better held as 
Property, Plant and Equipment due to their contribution to service objectives and as 
such they have been transferred to this classification.



69 Dartford Borough Council

Fair Value Hierarchy  
Details of the authority’s investment properties and information about the fair value 
hierarchy as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 

Recurring fair
value measurements
using: 

Other signif icant 
observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Signif icant 
unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)
Fair value as at 31 

March 2017
 £,000  £,000  £,000

Commercial units 12,192 0 12,192

Total 12,192 0 12,192

Recurring fair
value measurements
using: 

Other signif icant 
observable 

inputs (Level 2)

Signif icant 
unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)
Fair value as at 31 

March 2016

 £,000  £,000  £,000

Commercial units 12,741 339 * 13,080
Total 12,741 339 13,080

* The asset previously valued using significant unobservable inputs – Stone Lodge 
Indoor Bowls Club – has been reclassified as PPE, following the review mentioned 
above.

Transfers between Levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy 
There were no transfers between Levels during the year

Valuation Techniques used to Determine Level 2 Fair Values for Investment 
Properties 

Significant Observable Inputs – Level 2 
The fair value for the commercial investment portfolio has been based on the market 
approach using current market conditions and recent sales or lettings evidence and 
other relevant information for similar assets in Dartford Borough, or other suitably 
comparable locations. Where appropriate, adjustments have been made to the 
comparable evidence to relate these directly to the subject properties. Market 
conditions are such that similar properties are actively sold or let and the level of 
observable inputs are significant, leading to the properties being categorised at Level 
2 in the fair value hierarchy.

Highest and Best Use of Investment Properties 
In estimating the fair value of the authority’s investment properties, the highest and 
best use of the properties is their current use. 



70 Dartford Borough Council

16 Assets Held for Sale

Non-current 31.03.17 31.03.16
£,000 £,000

Balance at 1 April 500 300

Assets newly classified as held for sale:
  Property, Plant and Equipment 0 525

Revaluation losses 0 (25)

Assets Sold 0 (300)

Total 500 500

The asset held for sale is still subject to completion which is expected to take place 
within the financial year. 



71 Dartford Borough Council

17 Financial Instruments

Categories of Financial Instruments 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2017 2016 2017 2016

Investments and Cash £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Loans and Receivables 0 0 7,021 17,412
Available for Sale Financial Assets 0 0 84,369 57,963

Total Investments and Cash 0 0 91,390 75,375

Debtors
Loans and Receivables 
(Operational Debtors) * 1,849 1,848 4,362 3,901

Total Debtors 1,849 1,848 4,362 3,901

Borrowings

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost 60,292 64,736 4,694 4,714

Total Borrowings 60,292 64,736 4,694 4,714

Creditors
Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost 17,904 12,173 4,486 9,628

Total Creditors 17,904 12,173 4,486 9,628

Long Term Current 

*Current debtors and creditors in the above table reflect only those debtors and 
creditors appropriate to this note and therefore exclude statutory items. A 
reconciliation of the figures used above to the total in notes 18 and 20 is set out in 
the table below.



71
D

artford B
orough C

ouncil

    

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Amounts included as Financial Instruments 1,849 1,848 4,362 3,901 17,904 12,173 4,486 9,628

Statutory Amounts 0 0 1,928 2,054 0 0 18,795 15,586

Discounted Sales Scheme 15,932 15,908 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total used in Specific Notes 17,781 17,756 6,290 5,955 17,904 12,173 23,281 25,214

Current 
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

Debtors (Note 18) Creditors (Note 20)
Long Term Current Long Term



72

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
A

ss
et

s:
 L

oa
ns

 
an

d 
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
A

ss
et

s:
 

A
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r 
sa

le
 a

ss
et

s

2016/17 
Total

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
A

ss
et

s:
 L

oa
ns

 
an

d 
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
A

ss
et

s:
 

A
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r 
sa

le
 a

ss
et

s

2015/16 
Total

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Interest Expense (1,630) 0 0 0 (1,738) 0 0 0
Losses on derecognition 0 0 0 0 0 0 (99) (99)

Interest Payable and Similar Charges (1,630) 0 0 0 (1,738) 0 (99) (99)
Interest income 0 256 1,251 1,507 0 332 302 634
Gains on derecognition 0 0 63 63 0 0 772 772
Interest and investment income 0 256 1,314 1,570 0 332 1,074 1,406
Gains on revaluation 0 0 1,730 1,730 0 0 196 196
Losses on revaluation 0 0 (29) (29) 0 0 (391) (391)

Net gain/(loss) for the year (1,630) 256 3,015 3,271 (1,738) 332 780 1,112

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 
am

or
tis

ed
 c

os
t

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 
am

or
tis

ed
 c

os
t

2016/2017 2015/2016

Financial 
Liabilities

Financial Assets Financial 
Liabilities

Financial Assets

D
artford B

orough C
ouncil



                                                                            73                            Dartford Borough Council

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities

Some of the authority’s financial assets are measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis and are described in the following table, including the valuation techniques 
used to measure them.

The ‘other financial instruments classified as for available sale’ consisted entirely of 
certificate of deposit (CD) investments as at the Balance Sheet date.  These were 
valued by the Council’s custodian using the unadjusted market rate for the holding 
prevailing on the valuation date. 

There has been no change in the valuation technique used during the year for the 
financial instruments, nor has there been any transfer between input levels 1 and 2.

The Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities that are not measured at 
Fair Value (but for which Fair Value Disclosures are required)

Except for the financial assets carried at fair value (described in the table above), all 
other financial liabilities and financial assets held by the authority are classified as 
loans and receivables or long-term debtors and creditors and are carried in the 
Balance Sheet at amortised cost. 

All loans and receivables as at the Balance Sheet date were short term (instant 
access account deposits and short term fixed deposits maturing within 12 months), 
they were not impaired and were held at amortised cost. Fair value disclosure is not 
required.

Financial assets measured at fair value
Recurring fair value 
measurements

Input level 
in fair 
value 

hierachy

Valuation technique 
used to measure fair 
value

Fair Value 
as at 31 

March 2017

Fair Value  
as at 31 

March 2016

£,000 £,000

Available for sale
External pooled fund 
investments

Level 1

Unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets 
for identical holdings 75,142 41,437

Money market fund 
investments

Level 1

Unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets 
for identical holdings 9,225 9,504

Other financial instruments 
classified as available for 
sale Level 1

Unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets 
for identical holdings 0 7,022

Total 84,367 57,963



                                                                            74                            Dartford Borough Council

The fair values, where disclosure is required, are as follows:

Carrying
Amount

Fair 
Value

Carrying
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Financial Liabilities

Borrowing 64,986 70,611 69,450 71,926

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

The 2016/17 Code of Practice requires the Fair Values of these assets and liabilities 
to be disclosed for comparison purposes. Fair Value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s-length transaction. 

The Council’s debt outstanding at 31 March 2017 consisted solely of loans from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). The PWLB has provided the Council with Fair 
Value amounts in relation to its debt portfolio; these have been assessed by 
calculating the amounts the Council would have had to pay to extinguish the loans 
on these dates.  This is a Level 2 valuation – other significant observable inputs. A 
maturity analysis of this debt is shown below:

Time to Maturity (years)
31 March 2017 

£'000's

Not over 1 4,694

Over 1 but not over 2 4,443

Over 2 but not over 5 18,330

Over 5 but not over 10 17,076

Over 10 but not over 20 19,110

Over 20 but not over 30 1,333

Total 64,986



                                                                            75                            Dartford Borough Council

18 Debtors

Long Term Debtors

Mortgages: Outstanding Loans on Council Houses 5 6
Finance Leases 1,775 1,776
Discounted Sales Scheme 15,931 15,908
Works in Default 4 12
Car Loans to Employees 66 54

Total 17,781 17,756

31 March 
2017

31 March 
2016

£,000 £,000

Short Term Debtors

Gross amounts owing at year end

Central Government Bodies 921 656
Other Local Authorities 466 633
Other Entities and Individuals 9,544 9,542

10,931 10,831

Less Impairment for Bad Debts analysed below (4,641) (4,876)

Total 6,290 5,955

£,000£,000

31 March 
2017

31 March 
2016

19 Cash 
and 

Bad Debts - Impairment

Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2016

Amounts 
Written 

Off Adjustments

Balance 
as at 31 
March 
2017

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

General Fund 2,812 (117) 14 2,709
Housing Revenue Account 1,009 (10) 74 1,073
Collection Fund - Council Tax 511 (94) (96) 321
Collection Fund - NNDR 544 (94) 88 538

4,876 (315) 80 4,641



                                                                            76                            Dartford Borough Council

Cash Equivalents

The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements:

Cash held by the Authority 3 6
Bank current accounts 495 511

Short term deposits in Money Market Funds and Instant 
Access Deposit Accounts 11,245 17,377

Total 11,743 17,894

31 March 
2017
£,000

31 March 
2016
£,000

20 Creditors

Long Term Creditors

Section 106 Agreements (3,425) (3,553)
The Bridge (13,105) (8,043)
Other Long Term Creditors (1,374) (577)

Total (17,904) (12,173)

Short Term Creditors

Central Government Bodies (9,073) (7,404)
Other Local Authorities (8,667) (6,860)
NHS Bodies (2) (1)
Other Entities and Individuals (5,539) (10,949)

Total (23,281) (25,214)

31 March 
2017

31 March 
2016

£,000 £,000

31 March 
2017
£,000

31 March 
2016
£,000



                                                                            77                            Dartford Borough Council

21 Provisions

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or 
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

2015/16 New Amounts 2016/17
£'000 Provision Used £'000

Business Rate Valuation Appeals (4,846) (825) 721 (4,950)
Other Provisions (159) 0 19 (140)

Balance Carried Forward (5,005) (825) 740 (5,090)

Provision for Business Rate Valuation Appeals

A provision is made against the potential effect of outstanding appeals in respect of 
rating list entries relating to the Collection Fund: 

The provision for business rate valuation appeals is based on the latest list of 
outstanding rating list proposals provided by the Valuation Office and is an estimate 
based on changes in comparable hereditaments, market trends and other valuation 
issues, including the potential for some proposals to be withdrawn. Specific 
knowledge about individual or a group of appeals is applied to the likelihood of 
success and the provision is based upon the results of similar claims in the area or 
elsewhere. A particular example of this is doctors’ surgeries where a number of 
appeals have been successful, resulting in around 60% reductions in Rateable 
Value. 

The provision is split between current and long term liabilities in the Balance Sheet; 
the current element is £1.367m and the long term element is £3.582m. 



                                                                            78                            Dartford Borough Council

22 Operating Activities (Cash Flow Statement)

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Interest received 1,490 1,223
Interest paid (1,650) (1,749)

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following
non-cash movements:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Depreciation 5,333 1,778
Impairment and downward valuations 2,170 6,231

Amortisation 48 120

Increase/(decrease) in Interest Creditors (20) (11)

Increase/(decrease) in Creditors 352 411

(Increase)/decrease in Interest Debtors (80) (82)

(Increase)/decrease in Debtors (298) (874)

(Increase)/decrease in Inventories 1 0

Movement in pension liability 1,204 1,297

Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-
current assets held for sale, sold or 
derecognised

5,675 3,638

Movement in investment property values (1,279) (432)

Contributions to (from) provisions 90 896

13,196 12,972

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following
items that are investing and financing activities:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Proceeds from the sale of property plant and 
equipment, investment property and intangible 
assets

(9,214) (7,803)

Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on 
the provision of services

(2,607) (4,035)

(11,821) (11,838)



                                                                            79                            Dartford Borough Council

23 Investing Activities (Cash Flow Statement)

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets

(9,386) (19,199)

Purchase of short-term and long-term investments (55,493) (85,100)

Other payments for investing activities (52) (27)

Proceeds from the sale of short term and long 
term investments

34,964 85,932

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment, investment property and intangible 
assets

6,862 4,835

Capital grants 1,770 1,624

Other receipts from investing activities 49 39

Net Cash flow from Investing Activities (21,286) (11,896)

24 Financing Activities (Cash Flow Statement)

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Council Tax and NNDR adjustments 3,804 (3,614)

Repayment of short-term and long-term borrowing (4,443) (4,443)

Cash payments for the reduction of the 
outstanding liabilities relating to finance leases 0 (39)

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities (639) (8,096)



                                                                            80                            Dartford Borough Council

25 Members’ Allowances
The Authority paid the following amounts to Members of the Council during the year.

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Allowances 363 344

Expenses 1 2

Total 364 346

26 Officers’ Remuneration and Termination Benefits
The remuneration paid to the Authority’s senior employees in 2016/17 was as 
follows:

Post title Salary, 
Fees and 

Allowance
s

Benefits 
in Kind

Pension 
Contributions

Total 
Remuneration  

2016/17

Total 
Remuneration  

2015/16

£ £ £ £ £

Managing Director 109,908 1,633 0 111,541 110,662
Strategic Director - External 84,554 970 0 85,524 118,761
Strategic Director - Internal 104,284 0 13,626 117,910 116,167
Head of Legal Services 66,128 1,041 9,721 76,890 57,020
Head of Housing 67,640 0 9,236 76,876 75,812
Head of Regeneration 67,640 0 9,236 76,876 75,812

500,154 3,644 41,819 545,617 554,234

The Authority’s employees (including those detailed above) receiving more than 
£50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s pension contributions) were 
paid the following amounts:



                                                                            81                            Dartford Borough Council

Termination Benefits and Exit Packages

Exit packages include compulsory and voluntary redundancy costs, pension 
contributions in respect of added years, ex-gratia payments and other departure 
costs.

The following gives an analysis of amounts included in the Comprehensive 
Expenditure and Income Statement. 

Number £ Number £ Number £ Number £

Up to £20,000 0 0 0 0 1 11,898 1 2,349

Departures

2016/17 2015/16

Compulsory
Redundancy

Other 
Departures

Compulsory Other 
Redundancy

2016/17 2015/16
Total Total

£ £ No. No.

50,000 - 54,999 4 3
55,000 - 59,999 4 1
60,000 - 64,999 5 7
65,000 - 69,999 3 3
85,000 - 89,999 1 0
100,000 - 104,999 1 2
110,000 - 114,999 1 1

Total 19 17

Remuneration Band



                                                                            82                            Dartford Borough Council

27 External Audit Costs

The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the 
Statement of Accounts, certification of grant claims and statutory inspections 
provided by the Authority’s external auditors:

2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000

Fees payable for external audit services:
Financial Statements/Scale Fee 47 46

Composite Certification Fee (includes Whole of Government 
Accounts) 22 23

Total 69 69

The certification fee for 2016/17 was £19,485. The figure above includes an 
additional certification fee of £2,913 for work relating to a 2015/16 claim.

28 Grant Income

The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2016/17.

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income Note 13

Capital Grants and Contributions (1,472) (1,364)
Revenue Support Grant (1,283) (1,973)
Section 31 Business Rates Grants (392) (604)
New Homes Bonus Grant (3,560) (2,656)
Council Tax Freeze Grant 0 (60)
Miscellaneous Grants (25) (13)

Total (6,732) (6,670)



                                                                            83                            Dartford Borough Council

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Credited to Services

Housing Benefits (DWP) (27,387) (27,601)
Green Deal Energy (DECC) (811) (2,412)
Housing Benefits Administration (DWP) (308) (372)
Supporting People (KCC) (261) (261)
Disabled Facilities Grant (DCLG) (325) (259)
Local Council Tax Support Scheme (KCC) (104) (104)
Local Council Tax Support Scheme (DCLG) (111) (100)
Other Miscellaneous Grants and Contributions (352) (707)

Total (29,659) (31,816)

The Council is also holding the following grants and contributions.

2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000

Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital

Department of Energy & Climate Change - Green Deal 0 (838)

Total 0 (838)

2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000

Grants Receipts in Advance - Revenue

Miscellaneous Grants (4) 0

Total (4) 0

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000 

Unapplied Capital Grants and Contributions
Performance Reward Grant 0 (137)
Community Infrastructure Levy (2,386) (1,115)
Other Third Party (348) (538)

Total (2,734) (1,790)



                                                                            84                            Dartford Borough Council

29 Related Parties

The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – 
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to 
be controlled or influenced by it. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to 
assess the extent to which the Council might have been constrained in its ability to 
operate independently, or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s 
ability to bargain freely with the Authority.

Central Government

Central government has significant control over the general operations of the 
Authority – it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
Authority operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and 
prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Authority has with other 
parties (e.g. council tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received from government 
departments are set out in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
and in notes 13 and 28..

Members

Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating 
policies. The total of Members’ allowances paid in 2016/17 is shown in Note 25.

Members have been asked to declare whether they, or any member of their close 
family, have had any significant interest in any company or voluntary organisation 
that had any financial dealing with the Council during the 2016/17 financial year.  A 
significant interest would include transactions exceeding £10,000 in total or a major 
shareholding in a company where the shareholding exceeds 25% of the total shares.   

Declarations are as follows:

Councillor Kite is the Leader of the Council and is a voluntary, unpaid and non-
shareholding Director of Dartford Football Club (1992) Limited. The Council made 
payments of £123,740 in 2016/17 to Dartford Football Club (1992) Limited to provide 
community facilities at Princes Park in accordance with service agreements.

Councillor Kite is also a voluntary, unpaid Director of Leigh Academies Trust which is 
a not for profit organisation. The Council transacted with the Education Funding 
Agency for the construction of a Secondary School at The Bridge in 2016/17. The 
gross value of the transaction was £1.8m, which was supported by an independent 
valuation. The school will be operated by the Leigh Academies Trust. 

Councillor Lees was a Trustee of Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB), which is 
now part of Citizens Advice in North & West Kent. He is also a trustee of Citizens 
Advice in North & West Kent. The Council has a service agreement with the CAB at 
a cost to the Council of £99,750. 



                                                                            85                            Dartford Borough Council

The above named Councillors declared interests at the relevant meetings and took 
no part in relevant discussions.

Officers

Senior officers have been asked to declare whether they, or any member of their 
close family, have had any significant interest in any company or voluntary 
organisation that had any financial dealing with the Council during the 2016/17 
financial year.  A significant interest would include transactions exceeding £10,000 in 
total or a major shareholding in a company where the shareholding exceeds 25% of 
the total shares.   No relevant declarations have been made.

Other Public Bodies

The Authority has a shared services arrangement with Sevenoaks District Council to 
provide various services, namely: Revenues, Benefits, Audit and Anti-Fraud, and 
Environmental Health.  The relevant costs to the Council are accounted for within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

30 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
below, together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are 
used by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Authority that has yet to be financed. 



                                                                            86                            Dartford Borough Council

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 70,331 74,811

Capital Investment
Property, Plant and Equipment 9,024 19,795
Investment Properties 0 2
Intangible Assets 3 72
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 1,161 2,878

Sources of Finance
Capital Receipts (1,141) (12,961)
Government Grants and Other Contributions (1,664) (2,952)
Major Repairs Reserve                                              (3,061) (2,862)
Direct Revenue Contributions (4,323) (3,972)
Notional MRP/Loan Fund Principal 0 (37)
Voluntary MRP (4,443) (4,443)

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 65,887 70,331

Explanations of movement in year
Increase/(decrease) in underlying need to borrow 
(unsupported by government financial assistance) (4,443) (4,443)
Assets acquired under finance leases 0 (37)

Increase /(Decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (4,443) (4,480)



                                                                            87                            Dartford Borough Council

31 Leases

Authority as Lessee

Operating Lease

The Authority’s refuse and waste collection contract conveys the right to use and 
control specific assets, namely refuse collection vehicles. Under IFRIC 4 this has 
been recognised as an arrangement containing a lease, which is also referred to as 
an ‘embedded lease’. The implied lease is disclosed in accordance with IAS 17 and 
the relevant section of the Code. The future minimum notional payments due under 
the lease in future years are:

Property, Plant and Equipment - Embedded leases 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£,000 £,000

Not later than one year 251 251

Later than one year and not later than five years 313 564

Total 564 815

Payments made under the embedded lease during the final year totalled £251,000 
(2015/16 £188,000). 

Authority as Lessor

Finance Leases

The Authority owns two properties which are leased out on finance leases. The first 
is Crown Buildings, comprising the Court House and Offices. The Court House is 
leased to Central Government and the offices are leased to BizNiz Point Dartford 
Lease Limited. Both are on 125 year leases which end in February 2113. The 
second property is ‘Air and Breathe’, a nightclub which is leased to Luminar Gems 
Limited, and has a remaining term of 24 years.

The Authority has a gross investment in the leases, made up of the minimum lease 
payments expected to be received over the remaining term and the residual value 
anticipated for the property when the lease comes to an end. The minimum lease 
payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest in the property 
acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Authority in 
future years whilst the debtor remains outstanding. The gross investment is made up 
of the following amounts:



                                                                            88                            Dartford Borough Council

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£,000 £,000

Finance Lease debtor (net present value of minimum lease 
payments):
 - current 178 177
 - non-current 1,591 1,594
Total 1,769 1,771

Unguaranteed residual value of property 179 179

Fair value at inception of lease 1,775 1,776
Unearned finance income 12,435 12,634
Gross investment in the lease 14,210 14,410

The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received 
over the following periods:

31 March 
2017

31 March 
2016

31 March 
2017

31 March 
2016

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
Not later than one year 200 200 200 200
Later than one year and not later than five years 798 798 798 798
Later than five years 13,213 13,412 13,034 13,233
Total 14,211 14,410 14,032 14,231

Gross Investment in 
the Lease

Minimum Lease 
Payments

Operating Leases

The Authority leases out property under operating leases both on commercial and 
non-commercial terms.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are:

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£,000 £,000

Not later than one year 485 534
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,791 1,840
Later than five years 37,004 37,405

Total 39,280 39,779



                                                                            89                            Dartford Borough Council

32 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Characteristics of Defined Benefit Plans and Associated Risks

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a 
rate as possible. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The fund is 
valued once every three years and the latest valuation was at 31 March 2016. The 
valuation disclosed a net deficit of £19.9m and a change in contribution rates as a 
result of that valuation will take effect from 1 April 2017. The employer’s contribution 
has been agreed with the actuary and is based on the aim of eliminating the deficit 
over 17 years. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for 
scheme members remains at 17 years for 2016/17, no change from 2015/16.

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a defined benefit statutory 
scheme administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2014, and is contracted out of the State Second Pension and benefits 
accrued up to 31 March 2016 are based on final salary and length of service on 
retirement. Changes to the LGPS came into effect from 1 April 2014 and any 
benefits accrued from this date will be based on career average revalued salary, with 
various protections in place for those members in the scheme before the changes 
took effect.
 
The administering authority for the fund is Kent County Council. The Pension Fund 
Committee oversees the management of the fund whilst the day to day fund 
administration is undertaken by a team within the administering authority. Where 
appropriate, some functions are delegated to the fund’s professional advisers. 

As administering authority to the fund, Kent County Council, after consultation with 
the fund actuary and other relevant parties, is responsible for the preparation and 
maintenance of the Funding Strategy Statement and the Statement of Investment 
Principles. These should be amended when appropriate based on the fund’s 
performance and funding.  Contributions are set every three years as a result of the 
actuarial valuation of the Fund required by the Regulations.  The next actuarial 
valuation of the Fund will be carried out as at 31 March 2019 and will set 
contributions for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023.  There are no 
minimum funding requirements in the LGPS but the contributions are generally set to 
target a funding level of 100% using the actuarial valuation assumptions. 

In general, participating in a defined benefit pension scheme means that the 
employer is exposed to a number of risks: 

 Investment risk. The fund holds investment in asset classes, such as equities, 
which have volatile market values and, while these assets are expected to 
provide real returns over the long-term, the short-term volatility can cause 
additional funding to be required if a deficit emerges;

 Interest rate risk. The fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high 
quality corporate bonds to discount future liability cashflows. As the fund holds 
assets such as equities the value of the assets and liabilities may not move in 
the same way;



                                                                            90                            Dartford Borough Council

 Inflation risk. All of the benefits under the fund are linked to inflation and so 
deficits may emerge to the extent that the assets are not linked to inflation;

 Longevity risk. In the event that the members live longer than assumed a deficit 
will emerge in the fund. There are also other demographic risks.

In addition, as many unrelated employers participate in the Kent County Council 
Pension Fund, there is an orphan liability risk where employers leave the Fund but 
with insufficient assets to cover their pension obligations so that the difference may 
fall on the remaining employers. All of the risks above may also benefit the employer 
e.g. higher than expected investment returns or employers leaving the fund with 
excess assets which eventually get inherited by the remaining employers.

Participation in pension schemes

As part of the terms and conditions of employment, the authority offers retirement 
benefits to its employees. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until 
employees retire, the authority has a commitment to make the payments that need to 
be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.

The authority participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme administered 
locally by Kent County Council. The current scheme is a Career Average Revalued 
Earnings Scheme, meaning that the authority and employees pay contributions into 
a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance pension liabilities with investment 
assets.

Transactions relating to retirement benefits

The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services 
as they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid 
as pensions. However, the charge required against council tax is based on the cash 
payable in the year, so the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed. This 
adjustment is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. The following 
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year:



                                                                            91                            Dartford Borough Council

Surplus and Deficit for the year to 31 March 2017

2016/17 2015/16

The amounts recognised in the profit and loss statement are £,000 £,000

Service Cost 1,918 2,060
Net Interest on Defined Liability 1,971 1,919
Administration Expenses 46 50

Total 3,935 4,029

Actual Return on Scheme Assets 14,872 779

Balance Sheet Disclosure as at 31 March 2017

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Net Pension Asset as at £,000 £,000

Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation 145,256 127,596
Fair Value of Scheme Assets (85,312) (71,721)

Deficit/(Surplus) 59,944 55,875

Present Value of Unfunded Obligation 1,780 1,791

Net Defined Benefit Liability 61,724 57,666



                                                                            92                            Dartford Borough Council

Asset and Benefit Obligation Reconciliation for the year to 31 
March 2017

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the present 2016/17 2015/16

value of the defined benefit obligation £'000 £'000

Opening defined benefit obligation 129,387 133,819

Current service cost 1,918 2,060

Interest cost 4,461 4,215

Changes in financial assumptions 22,259 (6,333)

Changes in demographic assumptions (2,563) 0

Experience loss/(gain) on defined benefit obligation (4,508) (136)

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in (4,210) (4,524)

Past service cost 0 0

Contributions by scheme participants 454 456

Unfunded pension payments (162) (170)

Closing Defined Benefit Obligation 147,036 129,387

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the 2016/17 2015/16

fair value of fund assets £'000 £'000

Opening fair value of fund assets 71,721 72,498

Interest on assets 2,490 2,296

Return on assets less interest 12,382 (1,517)

Other actuarial gains/(losses) (48) 0

Administration expenses (46) (50)

Contributions by employer including unfunded 2,731 2,732

Contributions by scheme participants 454 456

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net transfers in (4,372) (4,694)

Closing Fair Value of Fund Assets 85,312 71,721



                                                                            93                            Dartford Borough Council

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances 2016/17 2015/16

£'000 £'000

Surplus/ (Deficit) at beginning of the year (57,666) (61,321)

Current Service Cost (1,918) (2,060)

Employer contributions 2,731 2,732

Unfunded pension payments 162 170

Past service costs 0 0

Other finance income 10,155 (3,656)

Actuarial gains (losses) (15,188) 6,469

Surplus/(Deficit) at the end of the year (61,724) (57,666)

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected 
returns available on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected 
yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the 
Balance Sheet date.  Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real 
rates of return experienced in the respective markets.

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run 
to pay retirement benefits.

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities

The Kent County Council Fund liabilities have been assessed by Barnett 
Waddingham, an independent firm of actuaries. Estimates for the fund are based on 
the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2017. To assess the current 
value of liabilities as at 31 March 2017 the actuarial valuation has been rolled 
forward, using financial assumptions that comply with IAS19. The principal 
assumptions used by the actuary have been:



                                                                            94                            Dartford Borough Council

2016/17 2015/16

Mortality Assumptions
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners
Men 23.0 years 22.9 years
Women 25.0 years 25.3 years
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners
Men 25.1 years 25.2 years
Women 27.4 years 27.7 years

Rate of RPI increase 3.50% 3.20%
Rate of CPI increase 2.60% 2.30%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.10% 4.10%
Rate of increase in pensions 2.60% 2.30%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.70% 3.50%

Sensitivity Analysis

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial 
assumptions set out in the table above. The sensitivity analysis below has been 
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at 
the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption 
analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant. The 
assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or 
decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in 
some of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity 
analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial 
basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions 
used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in 
the previous period.



                                                                            95                            Dartford Borough Council

Sensitivity Analysis £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustment to discount rate +0.1% 0.0% -0.1%

Present value of total obligation 144,667 147,036 149,447

Projected service cost 2,484 2,541 2,599

Adjustment to long term salary increase +0.1% 0.0% -0.1%

Present value of total obligation 147,329 147,036 146,745

Projected service cost 2,541 2,541 2,541
Adjustments to pension increases and deferred 
revaluation +0.1% 0.0% -0.1%

Present value of total obligation 149,154 147,036 144,953

Projected service cost 2,599 2,541 2,484

Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption +1 Year None -1 Year

Present value of total obligation 152,817 147,036 141,481

Projected service cost 2,622 2,541 2,462

The scheme’s assets consist of the following categories, by proportion of the total 
assets held:

£000's % £000's %

Equity investments 60,208 70% 47,829 67%
Gilts 636 1% 635 1%
Bonds 8,311 10% 7,875 11%
Property 10,631 12% 10,418 14%
Cash 2,180 3% 1,847 3%
Target Return portfolio 3,346 4% 3,117 4%

85,312 100% 71,721 100%

2016/17 2015/16

Statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the 
Authority remains healthy. The deficit on the local government scheme will be made 
good by increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as 
assessed by the scheme actuary. The projected pension expense for the year to 31 
March 2017 is:



                                                                            96                            Dartford Borough Council

Remeasurement of the net assets/(defined liability) 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000's £000's

Return on fund assets in excess of interest 12,382 (1,517)
Other actuarial gains/(losses) on assets (48) 0
Changes in financial assumptions (22,259) 6,333
Change in demographic assumptions 2,563 0
Experience gain/(loss) on defined benefit obligation 4,508 136
Administration expenses (46) (50)

Remeasurement of the net assets/(defined liability) (2,900) 4,902

The table below shows the projections of the pension scheme transactions for the 
2017/18 financial year based on the assumptions and forecasts currently in use by 
the actuary.

Projections for the year to 31 March 2018 31 March 2018
£'000

Service Cost 2,541
Net Interest on the defined liability (asset) 1,630
Administration Expenses 55

Total loss (profit) 4,226

Employer Contributions 2,539

    

33 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

 credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 
the Council;

 liquidity risk - the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to 
meet its commitments to make payments;

 market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a 
result of changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market 
movements.

The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services. Risk management is carried out centrally by the treasury 
team under policies approved by the Council in its annual Treasury Management 
Strategy. The Council provides written policies covering specific areas, such as 
interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash.



                                                                            97                            Dartford Borough Council

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to the Authority’s customers.

The risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that 
deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum 
credit criteria. The Annual Investment Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be 
invested with a financial institution as well as a maximum period of investment. 

Although the Council recognises that credit ratings from rating agencies such as 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor remain a key source of information, they also 
have limitations, and investment decisions are based on a range of market 
intelligence. All investments as at 31 March 2017 met the Council’s credit rating 
criteria at that date and all investments made during 2016/17 were made in line with 
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2016/17 first agreed at 
the budget meeting of GAC on 22 February 2016.

The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks 
of £13.5m, and in Money Market Funds of £9.2m, cannot be assessed generally as 
the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum 
will be specific to each individual counterparty. Recent experience has shown that it 
is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments. A risk of 
irrecoverability applies to all of the Council’s deposits, but there was no evidence at 
31 March 2017 that this was likely to crystallise.  

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period without the prior written 
authority of the Managing Director, who has a delegated power to determine the 
amounts invested and periods of investment. The Council has neither experienced, 
nor does it expect, any losses from non-performance of any of its counterparties in 
relation to its investments. No investments are impaired. 

The Authority does not generally allow credit for customers. The due, but not 
impaired, amount can be analysed by age as follows:

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£,000 £,000

Less than three months 400 623
Three to twelve months 129 814
More than one year 99 57

628 1,494



                                                                            98                            Dartford Borough Council

Liquidity Risk

The Authority has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to 
ensure that cash is available as needed. As the Council has ready access to 
borrowings from the money markets and the Public Works Loans Board, there is no 
significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.

The risks to the Council are that it will:

 have to re-invest a significant proportion of its investments at a time of 
unfavourable interest rates; to offset this risk, maturity dates are staggered and 
different types of investment used;

 not have adequate liquidity on a day to day basis; to assist in managing this 
risk, a detailed cash flow model is maintained and updated daily.

Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

The Authority is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements 
on its borrowings and investments. The Authority has no variable rate borrowing 
other than occasional overnight borrowing to meet immediate cash flow 
requirements. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the authority. 
For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects:

 investments at variable rates (e.g. Money Market Funds) – the investment 
income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will rise;

 investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall;

 borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities will fall.

The Treasury Management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate 
exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget, and which is used to 
update the budget during the year. This allows any changes (negative or positive) to 
be accommodated.

According to this assessment strategy, at 31 March 2017, if interest rates had been 
1% higher with all other variables held constant, the financial effect would have 
been: 



                                                                            99                            Dartford Borough Council

£,000

Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments/Impact on 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 283

Decrease in fair value of available for sale assets/impact on 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 600

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borowings/liabilities (4,698)

The reverse calculations, whereby interest rates would be 1% lower for the full year, 
do not offer a realistic view given the current low interest rates.

Price Risk

The Council’s investments in pooled bond funds are governed by prevailing interest 
rates and the market risk associated with these instruments is managed alongside 
interest rate risk.

The Council’s investments in pooled equity funds are subject to the risk of falling 
share prices.  This risk is managed by ensuring the portfolio of investments held is 
diversified across a variety of investment types and by closely monitoring the 
performance in these funds.  A fall in share prices would result in a charge to Other 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure but would have no impact on the General 
Fund until the investments were sold.

The Council’s investment in a pooled property fund is subject to the risk of falling 
commercial property prices.  The risk is limited by the Council’s minimising the 
investment held in this fund and spreading risk across a variety of investment types.  
A fall in commercial property prices would result in a charge to Other Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure – this would have no impact on the General Fund until the 
investment was sold.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Council does not hold any financial instruments denominated in foreign 
currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising from the movement in foreign 
exchange rates.



                                                                            100                            Dartford Borough Council

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement
2016/17 2015/16*

HRA 
Note £,000 £,000

Expenditure
Repairs and Maintenance 3,011 2,865
Supervision and Management 4,007 3,883
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 22 22
Depreciation and Impairment of Non-current Assets 3,171 2,971
Revaluation of Non-current Assets 1,456 1,447
Movement in the allowance for bad debts 1 74 76

Total Expenditure 11,741 11,264

Income
Dwelling rents                                                        1 (19,790) (19,987)
Non-dwelling rents (585) (544)
Charges for services and facilities (901) (757)
Contribution towards expenditure - Supporting People (261) (261)
Minor capital receipts (5) 0

Total Income (21,542) (21,549)

Net Cost of HRA Services (9,801) (10,285)

HRA services share of Corporate and Democratic Core 74 60

(9,727) (10,225)

(Gain)/Loss on sale of HRA non-current assets (1,478) (1,149)

Interest payable and similar charges 1,630 1,738

Changes in the fair value of Investment Properties (49) (68)
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 8 402 389
Interest and investment income (51) (58)
Income and expenditure in relation to Investment Property (162) (156)

(Surplus) / Deficit for the year on HRA Services (9,435) (9,529)

HRA share of the operating income and expenditure 
included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:

Net (Income)/cost for HRA Services including HRA share 
of costs not allocated to specific services



                                                                            101                            Dartford Borough Council

Movement on the HRA Statement

2016/17 2015/16*
£,000 £,000

Balance on the HRA at the end of the previous year (11,695) (9,868)

(Surplus) or deficit for the year on the HRA Income and 
Expenditure Statement (9,435) (9,529)

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 
basis under statute 8,522 7,811

Net (increase) or decrease before transfers to and 
from reserves (913) (1,718)

Transfers to or (from) reserves (110) (109)

(Increase) or decrease in year on the HRA (1,023) (1,827)

(Surplus)/Deficit Balance on the HRA at the end of the 
current year (12,718) (11,695)



                                                                            102                            Dartford Borough Council

Note to the Movement on the HRA Statement

2016/17 2015/16*
£,000 £,000

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding 
basis under statute

Voluntary Minimum Revenue Provision 4,444 4,443

Impairment and Revaluation Losses charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (1,406) (1,371)

Gain/(Loss) on sale of Non Current Assets 1,478 1,148

Net charges for retirement benefits in accordance with 
IAS19 (803) (817)

Capital expenditure funded by revenue 4,275 3,874

Employer's contributions payable to the pension fund and 
retirement benefits payable direct to pensioners

534 534

Net additional amount required by statute to be 
debited or (credited) to the HRA balance for the year 8,522 7,811

Transfers to or (from) reserves

Major Repairs Allowance element of Housing (110) (109)

Net amount required by statute to be debited or 
(credited) to the HRA balance for the year (110) (109)

*Some minor rounding’s adjustments have been made to last year’s figures in the HRA and 
movement to the HRA tables in order to agree with the rounding adjustments made in the Movement 
in Statement in Reserves and the Balance Sheet. 



                                                                            103                            Dartford Borough Council

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT NOTES

1 Rent Income and Arrears

Total rent income from houses due in the year was:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Direct from tenants 9,449 9,179
From housing benefit 10,340 10,808

19,789 19,987

Average rents for the year were £90.15 per 52 week rent year, a decrease of 0.04% 
over the previous year. Gross rent arrears at the end of the year were 6.7% of rent 
income due (6.3% in 2015/16). The amounts were as follows:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Arrears at 31 March 1,318 1,262
Less Provision for Bad Debts (1,076) (1,009)

242 253

The Provision for Bad Debts (including rent rebate overpayments) was as follows:



                                                                            104                            Dartford Borough Council

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Provision Brought Forward 1009 950
Write offs during year (7) (17)
Change in provision 74 76

Provision Carried Forward 1,076    1009

Provision Analysed as follows: -
Former Tenants' Arrears 706 629
Current Tenants' Arrears 306 317
Total Provision - Rent Arrears 1012 946

Rent Rebate Overpayments/Other 64 63

1,076    1,009

2 Major Repairs Reserve

The Council is required to maintain separate records of the Major Repairs Reserve, 
as shown below.

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Balance as at 1 April 0 0
Contribution to the Reserve
Major Repairs Allowance (3,061) (2,861)

Payments from the Reserve
Capital Expenditure 3,061 2,861

Non-Dwelling Depreciation 110 109
Transfer from Capital Adjustment Account (110) (109)

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 0 0

3 Housing Stock

The stock was made up as follows: 



                                                                            105                            Dartford Borough Council

31-Mar-2017 31-Mar-2016

Bedsits 13 13
Houses 2,075 2,090
Flats/Maisonettes 1,394 1,408
Bungalows 132 132
Sheltered Units 593 593

4,207 4,236

29 properties were sold during the year, compared to 22 in 2015/16; the sales 
comprised of 15 houses and 14 flats. The numbers above exclude one shared-
ownership property and four “Rent-to-mortgage” properties, but include two non-
HRA properties.



                                                                            106                            Dartford Borough Council

4 Capital Receipts

The total capital receipts arising from the sale of Housing Revenue Account assets 
were:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Dwellings 3,123 2,070
Repayment of mortgage capital 1 4

3,124 2,074



                                                                            107                            Dartford Borough Council

5 Property, Plant and Equipment in the Housing Revenue Account

Movements on Balances
Movements in 2016/17

Co
un

cil
 D

we
llin

gs

Ot
he

r L
an

d 
an

d 
Bu

ild
in

gs

Ve
hi

cle
s, 

Pl
an

t,
 F

ur
ni

tu
re

& 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

To
ta

l P
ro

pe
rty

, P
la

nt
 

an
d 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2016 260,696     3,605      235 264,536    

Additions 8,012          0 0 8,012         

Revaluation increases / (decreases) 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 17,301 84 0 17,385      

Revaluation increases / (decreases) 
recognised in the Surplus / Deficit on the 
Provision of Services (1,456) 0 0 (1,456)-             

Derecognition - Disposals (1,712) 0 0 (1,712)

Impairment 0 0 0 0-             
Other movements in cost or valuation 2,116 12 0 2,128         

At 31 March 2017 284,957     3,701      235 288,893    

Accumulated Depreciation and 
Impairment
At 1 April 2016 0 (192) (235) (427)
Depreciation charge (3,061) (110) 0 (3,171)

Other Movements in depreciation and 
impairment 3,061 0 0 3,061

At 31 March 2017 0 (302) (235) (537)

Net Book Value
at 31 March 2017 284,957     3,399      0 288,356

at 31 March 2016 260,696     3,413      0 264,109

The opening PPE values for gross book value and depreciation have been restated in the table 
above. In the 2015/16 note, the net total revaluation adjustment for garages of £197,000 was included 
as a gross book value movement. The net book value carried forward was correct but the gross book 
value and accumulated depreciation should have been adjusted as part of the revaluation. Both gross 
book value and the depreciation carried forward should have been reduced by £1,073,000.



                                                                            108                            Dartford Borough Council

6 Vacant Possession Value of Dwellings in the Housing Revenue Account

The difference between the vacant possession value and the Balance Sheet value 
of the dwellings represents the economic cost to the Council of providing social 
housing at rents lower than those in the open market.

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Open Market Value 863,509 814,675
Balance Sheet Value (284,958) (260,696)

Economic Cost 578,551 553,979

7 Capital Expenditure

The total capital expenditure on dwellings, land and other properties within the 
Housing Revenue Account:

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Non-enhancing Works 0 1,439
Additions to Property, Plant and Equipment 8,022 5,283
Assets Under Construction 275 2,003

8,297 8,725

Funded by:
Contribution from Major Repairs Reserve 3,061 2,861
Revenue Contribution 4,275 3,874
Capital Receipts 961 1,990

8,297 8,725



                                                                            109                            Dartford Borough Council

8 Contribution to Pensions Reserve

The Council recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services 
when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually 
paid as pensions.  However, the charge made against housing rents is based on the 
cash payable in the year, so an adjustment is made in the Statement of Movement 
on the HRA Statement.

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000     

HRA Income and Expenditure Statement
Current Service Cost 392 418
Administration Expenses 9 10
Net Interest Expense Cost 402 389

Total Post-employment Benefit Charged to the HRA
Income and Expenditure Account 803 817

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of net charges made to the surplus and deficit 
for the provision of services for post-employment 
benefits in accordance with the code (803) (817)

Actual amount charged against the HRA Balance for
pensions in the year:

Employer's contribution payable to the scheme 534 534



                                                                            110                            Dartford Borough Council

COLLECTION FUND

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000
NNDR Council Tax Total

INCOME
Council Tax Receivable (55,955) (55,955) (52,684)

Business Rates Receivable (89,101) (89,101) (87,602)

(89,101) (55,955) (145,056) (140,286)
EXPENDITURE
Apportionment of Previous Year Surplus / (Deficit)
Central Government (1,563) (1,563) 3,017
Dartford Borough Council (1,250) 225 (1,025) 2,614
Kent County Council (281) 1,249 968 1,632
Kent Fire and Rescue Authority (31) 81 50 131
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 169 169 147

(3,125) 1,724 (1,401) 7,541
Precepts, Demand and Shares
Central Government 43,343 43,343 42,400
Dartford Borough Council 34,674 6,718 41,392 40,444
Kent County Council 7,802 38,816 46,618 43,851
Kent Fire and Rescue Authority 867 2,465 3,332 3,196
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 5,210 5,210 4,890

86,686 53,209 139,895 134,781
Charges to Collection fund
Less : Increase (-) / Decrease in Bad Debt Provision 221 (767) (546) 876
Less : Increase (-) / Decrease in Provision for Appeals 260 260 2,242
Less : Cost of Collection 175 175 176
Less : Transitional protection Payments 93 93 104
Less : Interest 0 0 0
Add : Deferred amount 0 0 0

749 (767) (18) 3,398

Total Expenditure 84,310 54,166 138,476 145,720

(Surplus) / Deficit  arising during the year (4,791) (1,789) (6,580) 5,434
(Surplus) / Deficit as at 1 April 2,851 (5,172) (2,321) (7,755)
(Surplus) / Deficit as at 31 March (1,940) (6,961) (8,901) (2,321)
Allocated to:
Dartford Borough Council (776) (870) (1,646) 488
Central Government (970) (970) 1,425
Kent County Council (175) (5,095) (5,270) (3,516)
Kent Fire and Rescue Authority (19) (317) (336) (212)
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (679) (679) (506)

(1,940) (6,961) (8,901) (2,321)



                                                                            111                            Dartford Borough Council

COLLECTION FUND NOTES

1. General

The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for 
billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The statement shows the 
transactions of the Council in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution 
to local authorities and the Government of Council Tax and National Non-Domestic 
Business Rates (NNDR)

The Council has a statutory requirement to operate a Collection Fund as a separate 
account to the General Fund. The purpose of the Collection Fund is to isolate the 
income and expenditure relating to Council Tax and National Non-Domestic 
Business Rates. The administrative costs associated with the collection process are 
charged to the General Fund.

2. Council Tax Base

The Council Tax is primarily a property based tax and derives from charges raised 
according to the value of residential properties, which have been classified into nine 
valuation bands (A-H) for this specific purpose.  Individual charges are calculated by 
estimating the amount of income required to be taken from the Collection Fund by 
the Council for the forthcoming year and dividing this by the Council Tax base (i.e. 
the equivalent numbers of Band D dwellings). 

The Council Tax base for 2016/17 was 34,242.99 (33,228.98 in 2015/16). 

The tax base and basic Council Tax payable for 2016/17 was approved at the 
Cabinet meeting on 22 February 2016. The basic tax for each band is shown below:

Basic Tax Chargeable 
Dwellings

Proportion 
of Band D 
Charge

Number of Band D 
Equivalent 
Dwellings

Band £
A 1,013.73 1,582 6/9 1,055
B 1,182.69 6,663 7/9 5,182
C 1,351.64 14,340 8/9 12,747
D 1,520.60 10,792 1 10,792
E 1,858.51 5,556 11/9 6,791
F 2,196.42 2,493 13/9 3,601
G 2,534.33 1,000 15/9 1,667
H 3,041.20 56 18/9 112
  Net effect of premiums and discounts (7,704)
Tax Base for the Calculation of Council Tax 34,243

Additional amounts are payable for precepts levied by the Parish and Town Councils 
within the borough. 

The level of non-payment provided for in 2016/17 was 2.5%. 



                                                                            112                            Dartford Borough Council

Council tax bills for Bands A to H were based on the following proportions of the 
Band D charge:

Band Range of 1991 property values Ratio

A £40,000 or less 0.67
B £40,001 to £52,000 0.78
C £52,001 to £68,000 0.89
D £68,001 to £88,000 1.00
E £88,001 to £120,000 1.22
F £120,001 to £160,000 1.44
G £160,001 to £320,000 1.67
H More than £320,000 2.00

3. Income from Business Ratepayers   

The Council collects National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) for its area based on 
local rateable values provided by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA), multiplied by a 
uniform business rate set nationally by Central Government. 

The total income from business rate payers, after reliefs, collectable in 2016/17 was 
£89.101m (£87.602m in 2015/16). 

For 2016/17, the total non-domestic rateable value (RV) at the year-end is £196.8m 
(£197.9m in 2015/16). The national multipliers for 2016/17 were 48.4p for qualifying 
Small Businesses, and the standard multiplier was 49.7p for all other businesses 
(48p and 49.3p respectively in 2015/16).

4. Contributions to Collection Fund Surpluses and Deficits

The share of the surplus/ (deficit) for each of the precepting authorities is:

Share of surplus/ (deficit) 2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

Kent County Council 5,270 3,516
Kent Police and Crime Commissioner 679 506
Kent Fire and Rescue 336 212
Dartford Borough Council * 1,646 (488)
Central Government 970 (1,425)

8,901 2,321

* Shown as the Collection Fund Adjustment Account in the Balance Sheet.



                                                                            113                            Dartford Borough Council

5. Provision for Uncollectable Amounts
The following provisions have been made against the possible non-collection of debt 
relating to the Collection Fund:

The Council Tax bad debt provision is based on an analysis of the age of the debt 
plus applying an additional percentage for non-payment to the total tax due, less the 
write-offs in year.  At 31 March 2017, the total Council Tax outstanding debt was 
£5.4m (£5.4m in 15/16) of which debt up to one year old was £1.8m, debt between 2 
to 5 years old was £3.1m and debt over 5 years old was £0.5m.

The provision for Business Rate debt is also based on an analysis of the age of the 
debt plus applying an additional percentage for non-payment and write offs.  At 31 
March 2017, the total Business Rates outstanding debt was £1.7m (£1.7m in 15/16) 
of which debt up to one year old was £1.0m, debt between 2 to 5 years old was 
£0.6m and debt over 5 years old was £0.1m.

6 Provision for Appeals (NNDR)

A provision is made against the potential effect of outstanding appeals in respect of 
rating list entries relating to the Collection Fund:

Balance Brought Forward 12,114 9,872

RV list amendments charged against 
the provision for appeals (1,803) (2,321)

Contribution to provisions during year 2,063 4,563

Balance Carried Forward 12,374 12,114

2016/17 2015/16
£,000 £,000

The provision for Business Rate valuation appeals is based on the latest list of 
outstanding rating list proposals provided by the Valuation Office and is an estimate 
based on changes in comparable hereditaments, market trends and other valuation 
issues, including the potential for some proposals to be withdrawn. The element 
included in the Council’s Accounts is shown in Note 21 to the main accounts.



                                                                            114                            Dartford Borough Council

A GLOSSARY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY FINANCIAL TERMS AND 
ABBREVIATIONS 

For the purposes of compiling the Statement of Accounts the following definitions 
have been adopted: 

Accruals 
The accruals concept means that income and expenditure are recognised as they 
are earned or incurred and not as money is received or paid. For example, if an 
invoice relating to March 2017 is expected to arrive in April 2017, it will be accounted 
for in the 2016/17 accounts (the financial year it relates to), not the 2017/18 accounts 
(the financial year it arrives in.)

Balances 
The non-earmarked capital or revenue reserves of an authority, made up of the 
accumulated surplus of income over expenditure on the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account. Revenue balances may be utilised to provide for 
unforeseen circumstances or to ensure that payments can be made pending the 
receipt of income, and may be used to reduce the council tax levy. 

Balance sheet 
This statement is fundamental to the understanding of an authority’s financial 
position at year end. It shows:

 the balances and reserves at an authority’s disposal 
 long-term indebtedness (over one year)
 the assets employed in its operations
 summarised information on the long-term assets (items that are held for more 

than one year) by category

Budget 
The Council’s aims and policies set out in financial terms, against which performance 
is measured. Both capital and revenue budgets are prepared. 

The revenue budget is a financial statement of planned expenditure required to 
deliver the Council’s policies over the financial year. It is illegal for councils to budget 
in excess of available resources.

The budget requirement is calculated in advance of each year. It is, broadly, 
estimated net revenue expenditure as funded by formula grant, council tax and 
business rates. 

Business Rate Retention Scheme 
A scheme introduced in April 2013 under which billing authorities are able to retain a 
proportion of the business rates they collect.



                                                                            115                            Dartford Borough Council

Key terms associated with the scheme are as follows:

 Tariff - each local authority has an agreed baseline funding position set by 
government. If its individual business rates baseline is greater than the set 
level, it must pay a tariff to government. 

 Pool – Local authorities can pool together to share risks around business rates. 
A pool can have the effect of reducing the total levy rate, enabling authorities to 
agree how to share the possible gains of this arrangement.

 Levy – this limits the amount business rates can grow in any one year. In a 
pool this is calculated by reference to the pools’ total baseline funding level and 
its total individual business rates baseline.

 Safety Net – this guarantees that the Council’s income from business rates will 
not fall below a certain level. The safety net is set at a percentage of the 
baseline funding level.

Capital expenditure 
Expenditure for the purchase or improvement of significant assets including land, 
buildings, and equipment, which will be of use or benefit in providing services for 
more than one financial year.

Capital receipts
The proceeds from the sale of land, buildings and other capital assets. Strict rules 
govern their use: they cannot be used for revenue purposes. 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
CIPFA is the accountancy body which represents at national level the interests of 
local government and public service finance. As well as awarding public sector 
specific accountancy qualifications the Institute also produces advice, codes of 
practice, and guidance to local authorities on best practice. 

CIPFA Code of practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17
Known familiarly as “the Code”, this specifies the principles and practices of 
accounting required to prepare a Statement of Accounts which “presents a true and 
fair view” of the financial position and transactions of an authority. 

Collection Fund 
A statutory fund used to record the billing and collection of council tax and non-
domestic rates. Though it is independent of the General Fund, payments are made 
from it to support the General Fund services of the billing and precepting authorities.

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
A statement that reports the net cost for the year of all the functions for which the 
authority is responsible, and demonstrates how that cost has been financed from 
general government grants and income from taxpayers. 

Condition



                                                                            116                            Dartford Borough Council

With reference to grants, a condition typically means that the grant awarding body 
may ask for it back if it is not used for a stated purpose. This is not the same as a 
specific grant, which is given for a specific purpose but which may legally be spent 
on something else if the recipient sees fit.

Grants are categorised as “condition” or “no condition.”

Consistency 
The concept of consistency states that the accounting treatment of like items within 
an accounting period, and from one period to the next, is the same, in order to 
facilitate comparisons.

Creditors 
Parties to whom the Council owes money at year end for goods and services 
supplied in year. 

Current liabilities 
Those amounts which will become payable or could be called upon within the next 
accounting period e.g. creditors and cash overdrawn.

Debtors 
Parties owing money to the Council at year end for goods and services supplied to 
them, by the Council. 

Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the useful 
economic life of a non-current asset, whether arising from use, the passage of time 
or obsolescence through technological or other changes. It means that, rather than 
the whole cost of an asset being charged to revenue in the year in which it is 
acquired, the cost is spread out over the life of the asset. As such, it illustrates an 
application of the matching concept.

Employee costs 
Pay and associated costs, such as National Insurance and pension contributions. 

Events After the Reporting Period
The occurrence of a material event between the balance sheet date and the date the 
accounts are authorised for issue, which might have a bearing on the financial 
results of the organisation. In such cases the event should be reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts as a note or amendment. 

Extraordinary Items 
Material items, possessing a high degree of abnormality, which derive from events or 
transactions that fall outside the ordinary activities of the authority and which are 
therefore expected not to recur frequently or regularly. 

Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm’s 
length transaction less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards its purchase 
or use. 



                                                                            117                            Dartford Borough Council

Financial Reporting Standard (FRS)
A statement of the practice to follow in UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
when dealing with a discrete area of financial accounting.

Most of these have now been superseded by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and International Accounting Standards (IAS) but, in some areas, 
the previous standards remain in effect.

Fund 
A major division of the Council’s accounts, for example the General Fund or the 
Collection Fund. It is sometimes also used in a different sense to designate an 
earmarked reserve.

General Fund 
This is the main revenue account and covers the day-to-day spending requirements 
of providing services. It is paid for out of council tax and formula grant, specific 
grants and fees and charges. It also includes the cost of services provided by other 
bodies which make a levy. It is clearly segregated from the Housing Revenue 
Account.

Going Concern 
The concept that the authority will remain in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future; in particular, that the revenue accounts and balance sheet are 
not based on the assumption of an intention to curtail significantly the scale of 
operations. 

Government grants 
Assistance by government and inter-government agencies and similar bodies, 
whether local, national or international, in the form of cash or transfers of assets, in 
return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of 
the authority. 

Gross expenditure 
The total cost of providing services before deducting any income. 

Held for Sale Assets
Where there is reasonable certainty that an item of property, plant or equipment is 
likely to be disposed of via a sale in the next twelve months it is reclassified to the 
category of ‘Held for Sale’. 

Heritage Assets
This is a separate class of asset (land, building, artefacts, vehicles etc.) that is held 
principally for its contribution to knowledge or culture and which meets the definition 
of a Heritage Asset. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
A statutory account which contains all expenditure and income to fund council 
housing - in effect, a landlord account. It shows the major elements of housing 
revenue expenditure and how this is met by rents, subsidy and other income.  The 



                                                                            118                            Dartford Borough Council

HRA must be kept entirely separate from the General Fund and the account must 
not be in deficit. 

Local authorities are not allowed to make up any shortfall on the HRA from the 
General Fund, and any surpluses or deficits must be retained within the HRA. No 
costs may be charged to council tax or business rate (NNDR) income. 

Intangible Assets
These are non-financial fixed assets (for example, they are not bonds or stocks) that 
do not have a physical substance, but are identifiable and are controlled by the 
Council through custody or legal rights. Examples are IT systems and software 
licences.

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
The interpretative body of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that 
reviews newly identified financial reporting issues not specifically addressed in IFRS, 
or issues where unsatisfactory or conflicting interpretations have developed, or seem 
likely to develop, with a goal to reach a consensus on the appropriate treatment.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
Principles-based standards, interpretations and the framework adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

Income 
Monies received or due from rents, fees and charges for services, specific grants 
and investment interest. 

Investments 
In the context of the Statement of Accounts, this term refers only to long-term 
investments which are intended to be held for use on a continuing basis in the 
activities of the authority. Where investments do not meet this criterion, they have 
been classified as current assets. 

Leases 
These can fall into two types: 

 Finance lease – a lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a fixed asset to the lessee; such leases are recognised on the 
balance sheet by the lessee.

 Operating lease – a lease other than a finance lease, which is not recognised 
on the balance sheet by the lessee, but by the lessor. 

The distinction between the two is the subject of an array of tests and is highly 
technical.

Liabilities 
Those amounts which will become payable by the Council in the short or long term. 

Matching 



                                                                            119                            Dartford Borough Council

The matching concept says that expenditure and income transactions, including 
accruals, are matched with one another so far as their relationship can be 
established, or justifiably assumed, and dealt with in the period to which they relate. 

Materiality 
Financial statements often cannot be precisely accurate but this need not detract 
from their ability to be fairly stated. Within certain limits, a tolerance is permitted in 
measurement and disclosure of financial statement items. The concept of materiality 
determines the acceptability of the degree of this tolerance. 

Movement In Reserves Statement (MIRS)
This statement reconciles the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account for 
the year with the authority’s budget requirement, which is governed by statute and 
differs in certain key respects from accounting conventions. 

Movement on the HRA Statement 
Similar to the General Fund’s Movement In Reserves Statement, this reconciles the 
HRA Income and Expenditure account for the year with the surplus or deficit for the 
year on the HRA Balance, calculated in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR)
A national rate, often familiarly called “business rates” and can also be referred to as 
NDR. Business Rates are levied on businesses by the Government and collected by 
local authorities. The total proceeds are shared between central government and 
local authorities as per the Retained Business Rate Scheme.

Net Book Value (NBV)
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their 
historical cost or current value less the cumulative amounts provided for 
depreciation. 

Net expenditure
Gross expenditure for a service, less (“net of”) directly related income. 

Net Realisable Value (NRV)
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the 
case of non-operational assets) less the expenses to be incurred in realising the 
asset. 
Precept
A levy on the Collection Fund by another public body (a precepting authority), 
requiring the billing authority to collect the required income from local taxpayers on 
their behalf.

Prior year adjustments
Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in 
accounting policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. They do not include 
normal recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior 
years. 



                                                                            120                            Dartford Borough Council

Property, Plant and Equipment
This classification covers all assets with physical substance (tangible assets) that are 
expected to be used by the Authority for more than one year. The item must have 
physical substance (e.g. land, buildings, vehicles) and must be held by the Authority 
for the provision of goods and services, for rental to others (as part of a service), or 
for administrative purposes. If the item is held purely to earn rentals or capital 
appreciation, it will be treated as ‘Investment Property’; if it is held to be sold (within 
the next twelve months), it will be accounted for as a ‘Held for Sale’ asset. 

Provisions 
A provision is required to be made and disclosed in the accounts for any liability or 
loss which, due to an event which has already occurred, is certain or likely to be 
incurred, but where there is uncertainty as to the amounts or the dates on which they 
will arise. As a result, it is often a matter of interpretation and careful judgement 
whether such an uncertainty should be disclosed (and accounted for) as a provision 
or simply included by way of a note as a contingent liability.

Prudence 
The prudence concept states that revenue is not anticipated but is to be recognised 
only when realised in the form either of cash, or of other assets whose ultimate cash 
realisation can be assessed with reasonable certainty. 

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)
A statutory body operating within the United Kingdom Debt Management Office, 
which is an Executive Agency of HM Treasury. Its function is to lend money from the 
National Loans Fund to local authorities and other prescribed bodies, primarily for 
capital projects, and to collect the repayments. 

Rateable Value (RV) 
The value of a business, assessed by the Valuation Office Agency, on which 
business rates are payable. 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 
Expenditure which legislation classifies as capital but which does not result in the 
creation of a fixed asset belonging to the authority. An example is where the Council 
pays a grant to a private householder for adaptations required by a disabled person; 
the work done is capital in nature, but the resultant asset does not appear on the 
Council’s balance sheet because it belongs to the private freeholder. These were 
previously defined as deferred charges. 

Related Party Transactions 
The transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a 
related party irrespective of whether a charge is made. 

Reserves 
Funds set aside to meet future expenditure which fall outside the definition of 
provisions. Reserves can be for general contingencies and to provide working 
balances, or earmarked for specific future expenditure. 



                                                                            121                            Dartford Borough Council

Note that certain reserves are statutory in nature – for example, the Council is 
obliged to hold a Revaluation Reserve and its use is closely prescribed under the 
IFRS as interpreted for use in local government. The Council has no discretion in the 
existence or use of such reserves.

Revenue expenditure and income
The regular day to day running costs an authority incurs in providing services, as 
distinct from capital expenditure (under the Local Government & Housing Act 1989, 
all expenditure is regarded as revenue unless specifically classified as capital). In a 
general sense, revenue expenditure (and income) arises from recurring items such 
as running services.

Revenue Support Grant (RSG)
A general grant paid by Central Government to local authorities to help them finance 
the cost of their services, distributed on the basis of Government’s relative needs 
formula for each authority. 

The Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities (SeRCOP)
This document provides a standard categorisation for expenditure and income in 
local authority accounting to enable comparison between two or more organisations.

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment
Formerly known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), this is the minimum 
amount that must be charged to a local authority’s revenue account each year and 
set aside to provide for debt repayment or other credit liabilities. 

Substance over form 
The concept of substance over form requires that transactions and other events are 
accounted for and represented in financial statements with regard to their economic 
substance and financial reality rather than just their legal form. 

Useful Life 
The period over which the local authority expects to derive benefits from the use of a 
fixed asset and over which, typically, it will be depreciated. 



                                                                            122                            Dartford Borough Council

FURTHER INFORMATION

For Further Information

These accounting statements have been prepared for the benefit of all those 
interested in the Borough’s activities, particularly Council Taxpayers and Business 
Ratepayers, and other parties who are associated directly or indirectly with the 
Council.

Further details on the general activities of the Council can be obtained from: 

Press and Design Officer
Dartford Borough Council,
Civic Centre, 
Home Gardens, 
Dartford, 
Kent       DA1 1DR.





AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN 2017/18

1. Summary

1.1. This report provides Members of the Board with information regarding the 
progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2017/18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the report and review progress against 
the 2017/18 Annual Audit Plan.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 This report provides details of the progress of the Internal Audit Team 
in delivering the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2017/18. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Board requires the Board to consider the 
achievements of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the assurance 
requirements for 2017/18.

3.2 The Internal Audit Function is a key process of the Council’s overall 
governance arrangements. Its key purpose is to conduct independent 
reviews of the Council’s system of internal controls, risk management 
processes and governance arrangements, in order to provide an 
assurance to both Senior Management and Members, regarding the 
effectiveness of such systems. The Internal Audit Manager is required 
to report periodically to the Audit Board, on the progress made in 
delivering the Annual Internal Audit Plan. 

3.3 A summary of progress made in delivering the assurance requirements 
for 2017/18 is attached as Appendix A to this report, which sets out 
details of the reviews agreed by the Audit Board in April 2017. 
Members may note that thirteen reviews have commenced, with five 
already at final report stage (which includes an additional piece of 
consultancy work outside the original plan), and the remaining eight are 
at various stages of work in progress. This is equivalent to 52% of the 
planned reviews in progress. 

4. Internal Audit Resources 

4.1      Appendix B shows the use of Internal Audit resources for the period 
up   to 31 July 2017; which takes account of additional training.  The 
Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager post is now vacant and as a 
result the Principal Auditor has stepped up into the role of Acting Audit 
Manager as well as fulfilling her duties as Principal Auditor. There 
remains an auditor vacancy within the team due to a resignation last 
year, however this, is being filled by a member of staff on a temporary 
contract. 



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

4.2    Members may also be pleased to note that the TeamMate electronic   
audit management software is progressing well and all audits for the 
year 2017/18 are being recorded and completed using this software.

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

5.1 Not applicable

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications The Principal Auditor has stepped up into the role 
of Acting, Audit, Risk and Anti-Fraud Manager as 
well has fulfilling her duties as Principal Auditor.
A vacant auditor post has put pressure on the 
team. The use of agency staff in the short term 
will partly alleviate this pressure.

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The Council is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015, regarding its arrangements for 
Internal Audit, in order to ensure fitness for 
purpose and taking into account the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and professional 
guidance. The staff issues identified above have 
meant that some of the audits within the Audit 
Plan have had to be slipped but nevertheless, the 
use of agency staff in the short term will ensure 
that the team is able to deliver on the Council’s 
assurance requirements and mandatory 
guidance.

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

7.1 Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A - Progress against 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan
Appendix B - Use of Internal Audit Resources

BACKGROUND PAPERS



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2017/18

New Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2016.

Account and Audit 
Regulations 2015.

12.4.17 Acting Audit 
Manager
01322 343004

Internal 
Audit/
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





Appendix A

PROGRESS AGAINST 2017/18 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN                                              As at 10/8/17   

System audited Final 
report 
issued

Draft 
report 
issued

Feedback 
process in 
progress

Fieldwork 
in progress

Brief 
issued

Cancelled     
or Defer to 

2018/19
1 Non-Domestic Rates (Business 

Rates)
x

2 Licensing 

3 Electoral Services
4 Data Protection & Freedom of 

Information
x

5 Parking Income x
6 External legal Fees
7 Agency Staff
8 Insurances x
9 Background Checks for New Starters x
10 Key Financial Systems 
11 Housing Benefits & Council Tax 

Reduction
x

12 Discretionary Housing Payments x
13 Payroll
14 IT Security
15 Event Income x
16 Dartford Museum
17 CCTV Operations x
18 Environmental Health
19 Strategic Transport Infrastructure 

Programme
x

20 Homelessness Prevention Grants x
21 Housing Rent Account x
22 Housing Options
23 Vulnerable Adult Safeguarding
24 Retention of Knowledge (Part 1)
25 Customer Services
26 Physical Data Security (additional 

review)
x

Total 5 0 0 5 3 0
COMPARATIVE POSITION 
SEPTEMBER 2016

1 1 5 2 1 0



APPENDIX B

USE OF INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES TO 31 JULY 2017

Actual Expected

Total workdays from April 2016 224 227

LESS:
Bank holidays and authorised leave 38 36
Staff development & training 34 16
Sick leave 2 5

Total 74 57

AUDIT DAYS AVAILABLE 150 170
Audits 88 86
Fraud, irregularity and special projects 0.5 6
Contract audit 0 0
Systems advice 0.5 8
Selective invoice checks 3 3
General administration/Board 
reporting/service development/risk 
management/joint working

52 57

Audit management 6 10

Total 150 170



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – 
PROGRESS REPORT 

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to update Members on progress of the implementation of 
recommendations agreed with Management during the year 2017, and to 
report on outstanding recommendations due for implementation by 31 July 
2017.

1.2 The process enables Members to review implementation of Internal Audit 
recommendations.  When recommendations have not been implemented, it 
enables Members to seek explanations or agree revised dates.  If Management 
propose not to action recommendations and accept the risk, Members can 
review this decision to determine if it meets the objectives of the Board and 
whether it represents an acceptable level of risk for the Council.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the information in Appendix A to the report and request 
further information or explanation as appropriate.

2.2 That Members note the reasons for delayed implementation of the actions 
and endorse the revised dates for implementation provided by Management, 
as noted in Appendix B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Audit Recommendation Progress report is presented to each 
meeting of the Board to inform Members of the progress made by 
Management to implement the recommendations agreed with Internal 
Audit.  The report also informs the Board where implementation dates 
have been revised, or where agreed recommendations have not been 
implemented.                           

3.2. Appendix A provides a summary of the reports for which Management 
had agreed recommendation implementation dates for the period to 31 
July 2017. Internal Audit has obtained the current status from the 
responsible managers, but it should be noted that where 
implementation has been confirmed, Internal Audit has not yet 
undertaken any additional testing to verify this.  Implementation checks 
will be carried out in due course, usually between 3 to 6 months of the 
agreed implementation date.

3.3. Appendix B provides details of agreed recommendations where 
Management have advised Internal Audit that implementation of  
agreed actions has initially been delayed from the originally planned 
date (for ease of reference, the numbering under the recommendation 
column, refers to the numbers on the original audit report). Enquiries 
with Management indicates that satisfactory progress is being made, or 
proposed, to implement the agreed recommendations. Management 



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

also advised that there are no material impacts to the Council, as a 
result of the change in implementation date. However, Internal Audit 
will continue to monitor progress where appropriate and report back to 
the Board as necessary.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications Implications may arise from implementation of 
some audit recommendations, but only in 
agreement with Management responsible for the 
areas audited.

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The purpose of audit recommendations is to 
address and manage identified risks. 
Consequently risk profiles may increase in areas 
where the implementation of recommendations is 
delayed, if there are no compensating mitigating 
controls in place.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Summary of recommendations followed-up.
Appendix B - ‘Overdue’ recommendations where implementation 

delayed.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None N/A Prepared on behalf of 
the Acting Audit 
Manager
01322 343004

Internal 
Audit/ 
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

None



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOLLOWED UP          APPENDIX A

Audit 

(Number of Recommendations 
Originally Accepted)

Date final 
report 
issued

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation 

now confirmed by 
management

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation 
delayed 

(Appendix B)

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation is no 
longer intended 

(Appendix C)

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation not 

confirmed or 
alternative date not 

provided
Safeguarding 2015/16 (2) 13/5/16 1 1 0 0

Human Resources 2015/16 (2) 31/5/16 1 1 0 0

Payroll 2015/16 (3)* 16/6/16 2 1* 0 0

Collection & Enforcement of Debt 
2015/16 (2)

22/7/16 2 0 0 0

Use of Consultants & Agency Staff 
2016/17 (4)

2/11/16 3 1 0 0

Key Financial Systems 2016/17 (2) 1/1/17 2 0 0 0

Council Tax 2016/17 (1) 27/1/17 1 0 0 0

Members’ Allowances 2016/17 (1) 29/3/17 1 0 0 0

Markets’ Income 2016/17 (1) 3/4/17 0 1 0 0

Contracts Register 2016/17 (2) 18/4/17 2 0 0 0
New Anti-Fraud Arrangements 2016/17 
(1)

18/5/17 1 0 0 0

Background Checks for New Starters 
2017/18 (2)

24/7/17 2 0 0 0

*Recommendation not yet due.





Appendix B

Page 1 of 4

‘OVERDUE’ RECOMMENDATIONS WHERE IMPLEMENTATION HAS BEEN DELAYED

Audit: Safeguarding 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date

1.That a full review of all 
posts in the Council that 
require a DBS (Disclosure 
and Barring Service) check is 
undertaken and to ensure that 
all members of staff in these 
posts have an up-to-date DBS 
check.

Medium Agreed Action:  Yes

Responsible Officer:  
HR Business Advisor

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
September 2016

These are now being managed 
in-house due to cost 
constraints on outsourcing this 
piece of work.  All checks are 
in progress and should be 
completed by end August in 
line with standard processing 
times.

HR Business Advisor – 25/7/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will continue to 
liaise with the HR Business 
Advisor regarding progress of 
this matter and will advise the 
Audit Board further, at the 
January 2018 meeting of the 
Board.

Audit: Human Resources 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date



APPENDIX B

Page 2 of 4

2. Although all the relevant 
HR policies are available to 
officers they need to be 
reviewed urgently, to ensure 
that they incorporate latest 
guidance, or statutory 
requirements and to ensure 
fitness for purpose A 
timescale and priority list 
should be agreed with senior 
management to ensure that 
the review process 
commence

High Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  
HR Business Advisor 

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
01/10/16

All policies are in draft format 
and are going through the 
approval process in stages.  
These will be ready to roll out 
by 31 March 2018 along with 
associated documentation and 
new employee handbook. 

HR Business Advisor – 25/7/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will continue to 
liaise with the HR Business 
Advisor regarding progress of 
this matter and will advise the 
Audit Board further, at the June 
2018 meeting of the Board.

promptly to ensure that the 
most urgent and important 
policies are reviewed without 
further delay. 

Audit: Use of Consultants & Agency Staff 2016/17

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date



APPENDIX B

Page 3 of 4

1.1 The Recruitment and 
Selection Toolkit Part 5 
should be reviewed and 
updated annually to ensure 
current and accurate 
information. This should be 
communicated to relevant 
officers via the intranet and 
senior management.

Medium Agreed Action: Yes, 
there is currently work 
being undertaken by 
the HR Business 
Advisor on new 
policy/guidance in this 
area. This will replace 
the Toolkit Part 5.

Responsible Officer: 
HR Business Advisor

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
31st March 2017

The Engagement of Agency 
Worker’s Policy and Procedure 
has been revised to include a 
section on the engagement of 
Consultants, and in particular 
new IR35 rules.  This has been 
sent to the Managing Director 
for review and a further 
meeting is to be set up to 
discuss proposed 
amendments.  Revised 
completion date 31st October 
2017.

HR Business Advisor – 25/7/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, 
Internal Audit will continue to liaise 
with the HR Business Advisor 
regarding progress of this matter 
and will advise the Audit Board 
further, at the January 2018 meeting 
of the Board.

Audit: Markets’ Income 2016/17

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)



APPENDIX B

Page 4 of 4

1. Management should 
monitor and encourage 
progress towards a higher 
percentage of traders 
paying by standing order 
and potentially by direct 
debit. 

Medium Agreed Action: Agreed.

Responsible Officer: Town Centre 
and Business Support Manager

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: June 2017

We have been encouraging traders to pay by standing 
order but have not implemented our new payment policy 
yet due to staff absence. However, we aim to fully 
execute the recommendations in the coming weeks when 
the service is fully staffed again.

Town Centre and Business Support Manager -26/7/17

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Town Centre and Business Support 
Manager regarding progress of this matter and will advise 
the Audit Board further, at the January 2018 meeting of 
the Board.



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE 
BOARD

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to inform Audit Board Members of the outcomes of the audits 
completed since the previous report to the Board on 28 June 2017 and to 
provide Members with the opportunity to request clarification or further 
information, if considered necessary.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the summary details of audits completed.

2.2 That Members consider whether they require clarification or further information 
at the next meeting of the Board.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In addition to the approval of the Annual Internal Audit Plan and 
consideration of progress of the Audit Plan, the terms of reference of 
the Audit Board also requires the Board to consider the outcome of 
Internal Audit Report findings.

3.2. To this effect, the Board receives reports on the outcomes of 
completed  audit reviews at each meeting and is able to seek further 
details and/or explanations from managers, where required.

3.3. Appendix A of this report sets out details of the five audit reports, which 
have been finalised since the last meeting of the Board and the opinion 
for each review. 

3.4. Brief summaries are customarily provided in this report for each final 
audit report with an audit opinion of Limited Assurance or below. On this 
occasion there is one final audit report with an opinion of Limited 
Assurance, details of which can be found in Appendix B. One final audit 
report issued has an opinion of Full Assurance and the other three have 
an opinion of Substantial Assurance.

3.5. In addition to the above, fourteen recommendations were agreed with 
management regarding the five reports, of which one was high risk, eight 
were medium risks and five were low risk.

3.6. The definition of the standard Internal Audit opinions are detailed in 
Appendix C, where a single opinion will be given, which will either be: 
Full Assurance; Substantial Assurance; Limited Assurance or No 
Assurance. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
4.1 Not applicable.



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The Board is required to receive and consider 
reports from the Audit Manager on progress of 
the Internal Audit Plan. This report addresses the 
risk of non-compliance with the Board’s terms of 
reference; and demonstrates that the Council’s 
Internal Audit Function is fulfilling its role as a 
provider of independent assurance to the Board 
and the Council, regarding the Council’s 
arrangements to manage identifiable risks in 
delivering Council objectives.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Final audit reports issued since the last meeting of the       
Board.

 SDC25-DBC26-17/18 Physical Data Security 2017/18
 SDC8-DBC12-17/18 Discretionary Housing Payments

2017/18
 DBC21-17/18 Housing Rent Accounts 2017/18
 DBC9-17/18 Background Checks for New Starters

2017/18
 DBC5-17/18 Car Parking Income 2017/18

Appendix B - Summary of audit findings where final reports issued 
have an opinion of Limited Assurance or below.

Appendix C – Definition of Audit Opinions

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Internal Audit 
Plan 2017/18

Lisa Nyon
(01322) 343004

Internal Audit/ Strategic 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

FINAL AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE THE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD

Recommendation Risks

Audit title Final 
Report 
Issued

Opinion
Framework/Compliance

Comments where the opinion is 
Limited Assurance or below

High Medium Low

1 Physical Data 
Security 2017/18 30.06.17 Audit Opinion: Limited 

Assurance See appendix B for details. 1 2 0

2 Discretionary 
Housing 
Payments 
2017/18

05.07.17 Audit Opinion: Full 
Assurance 0 0 2

3 Housing Rent 
Accounts 2017/18 18.07.17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 

Assurance 0 2 2

4 Background 
Checks for New 
Starters

24.07.17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 2 0

5 Car Parking 
Income 2017/18 27.07.17 Audit Opinion: Substantial 

Assurance 0 2 1





APPENDIX B

Review of Physical Data Security    Issued 30 June 2017               
(Revenues & Benefits Section) 2017/18

Opinion: Limited Assurance

Previous review: No previous review

1. The purpose of this review was to check the procedures and practice in place 
for the retention and storage of personal and sensitive physical data held within 
the Revenues and Benefits Service with special focus on compliance with the 
Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA).

2. This review was at the request of management and was an additional piece of 
work outside of the approved audit plan.

3. The scope of this review included the following:-

 Review of the internal procedures within the Revenues and Benefits 
Service concerning data retention and storage.

 Spot checks for adherence to Council Policy and DPA.
 Staff awareness of DPA and compliance with the Act.
 Access, storage and security of physical data held.

4. Assurance was provided in the following areas: -

 Staff within the Revenues and Benefits Section know how to dispose of 
confidential data

 Staff have an awareness of their responsibility under the DPA
 Staff receive annual training on aspects of data security as part of their annual 

appraisal process and briefing at team meetings.

5. However, there were key areas that need further enhancement.

 There is no policy within the Revenues and Benefits section that deals with 
physical data security

 There is no set clear desk policy for staff
 Documents containing names, addresses and bank details of  customers are not 

securely stored

6. To this effect the following recommendations have been agreed with management and 
it is pleasing to note have been promptly implemented.

 That boxes  containing confidential and sensitive information, such as 
payslips, bank statements, dates of birth and NI numbers are securely 
stored with controlled access

 A policy or information guidance should be devised and communicated to 
all staff within the Revenues and Benefits section. This will help to 
formulate a consistent approach to physical data retention and protection. 
It is recommended that a section on the adoption of ‘Clear Desk Policy’ is 
included in this.





APPENDIX C

DEFINITION OF AUDIT OPINIONS 

OPINION DEFINITIONS
Full Assurance
(Implies no High or 
Medium Risk 
Recommendations)

A sound framework of control is in place that meets the 
Council’s or service objectives. All expected controls 
tested are in place and are operating effectively.

No specific follow-up review will be undertaken; follow-
up will be undertaken as part of the next planned review 
of the system.

Substantial Assurance 
(Implies no High Risk 
Recommendations) 

There is generally a sound framework of control in place 
designed to meet the Council’s or service objectives. 
However, there are isolated weaknesses in design of 
controls, or inconsistent application of controls, which 
puts the achievement of a limited number of objectives 
at risk.

Follow up of medium priority recommendations only will 
be undertaken within 3 to 6 months; follow up of low 
priority recommendation will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

Limited Assurance Weaknesses identified within the framework and there 
exist evidence of non-compliance with Council 
procedures or good practice, which puts the 
achievement of the Council’s or service objectives in 
many of the areas reviewed at risk.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

No Assurance Absent or non-existent evidence of framework; 
fundamental weaknesses identified within design; 
operation of key controls has resulted in failure, or could 
result in failure to achieve the Council’s or service 
objectives in the areas reviewed.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.





AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS

1. Summary

1.1 During the June 2017 meeting of the Board, Members selected five creditor 
payments for checking. This report summarises the findings of that exercise 
and provides the opportunity for Members to select further payments for audit 
checking. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the content of this report and request any further 
explanations required.

2.2 That Members select further payments for checking by Internal Audit.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. It is a regular feature of the Audit Board’s work for Members to select a 
sample of payments made by the Council for review by Internal Audit, 
and to receive a report on the findings of these checks at the next 
meeting of the Board.  This is intended to provide Members with 
reasonable assurance that goods and services commissioned or 
procured, for which payments have been made, are in compliance with 
Council procedures. In particular, that they have been properly 
authorised, requisitioned, ordered and received, prior to making the 
appropriate payments.

3.2. During the meeting of the Board on 28 June 2017, Members selected 
the following five payments for checking:

 Mahn Estates Ltd £3,070.97 (Gross)
 Martin Vitera Ltd £227.88 (Gross)
 Michael Rogers LLP £14,400.00 (Gross)
 Mower Plant Services Ltd £2,078.86 (Gross)
 Multi Fire Maintenance Services £620.97 (Gross)

4. Summary of Findings

4.1 The results of the Internal Audit review, confirmed that all the spend 
decisions made were appropriate and in compliance with Council 
procedures. Detailed summaries of the outcome of each payment are 
set out below.

5. Detailed Findings

5.1 Mahn Estates Ltd (£3070.97) – This payment to Mahn Estates Ltd was 
for the lease of a property in Dartford under the Dartford Private 
Leasing Scheme Checks on the Cedar financial system have 
confirmed that this was a new 5 year lease for a two-bedroom 



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

maisonette in Dartford and this particular payment was the first 
payment, for the period starting 13 March 2017 to 30 June 2017. The 
lease agreement details the monthly rent on this property at £850.00 
per month, which will be paid quarterly to the landlord. Additional 
checks have confirmed that necessary inspections were carried out 
prior to the property being let to the tenant.  The Internal Audit review 
confirmed that the payment was justified and in compliance with 
Council procedures.

5.2 Martin Vitera Ltd (£227.88) – This payment was for janitorial supplies 
for the Civic Centre. In this instance, a purchase order was not raised 
via the Council’s Cedar procurement system, but Internal Audit have 
provided appropriate advice with regards to this matter.  Internal Audit 
also advised Customer Services that competitively tendered Lyreco or 
Banner cleaning products could be accessed from their respective 
websites under the workplace supplies and services framework. The 
Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified, made 
promptly and was in accordance with payment procedures. 

5.3 Michael Rogers LLP (£14,400.00) – This payment was for the Property, 
Plant and Equipment (PPE) revaluations for the Council’s investment 
and residential housing stock for 2016/17.  A purchase order was 
raised via the Council’s Cedar procurement system and a quotation 
was obtained in advance in accordance with Contract Standing Order 
No. 7. The Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was 
justified and in compliance with Council procedures. 

5.4    Mower Plant Services Ltd (£2,078.86) – This payment was for the 
supply of three Husqvarna lawnmowers and various lawnmower 
sundries, for the Council’s cemeteries. A purchase order was not raised 
via the Council’s Cedar procurement system, in this instance, due to 
the urgent nature of the supplies. However, a quotation was obtained in 
advance of the purchase   In March 2017, the beginning of the mowing 
season; three of the cemeteries’ lawnmowers broke down 
simultaneously.  Mower Plant was the only supplier to have all three 
mowers in stock and an urgent order was duly place.  Internal Audit 
has provided appropriate advice with regards to raising purchase 
orders. The Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was 
justified made promptly and was in accordance with payment 
procedures. 

5.5 Multi Fire Maintenance Services (£620.97) – This payment was for the 
supply, installation and testing of fire extinguishers at one of the 
Council’s sheltered housing schemes, along with replacing bulbs for 
the emergency lighting. A purchase order was not required in this 
instance and instead a job ticket was raised via the Housing Academy 
system. Multi Fire were awarded a three year contract in June 2015, for 
the service and maintenance of fire alarms, emergency lighting and fire 
extinguishers in the Council’s sheltered housing schemes and various 
general needs blocks throughout the borough. The Internal Audit 



AUDIT BOARD
6 SEPTEMBER 2017

review confirmed that the payment was justified and in compliance with 
Council procedures. 

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment Obtaining goods and services on behalf of the 
Council carries potential inherent risks of fraud, 
or misappropriation. The Selective Invoice 
Checks process is one of many steps employed 
by the Council to manage fraud risks and to 
ensure value for money.

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

None
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A Acting Audit Manager
01322 343023

Internal Audit / 
Strategic (Internal 
Services)

N/A




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2017.
	6 Report from the External Auditor
	Item 6 Appendix A Dartford BC Audit Findings Report
	Item 6 Appendix B letter of representation - to Ext Audit report

	7 Financial Statements (Statement of Accounts) 2016/17
	Item 7 Appendix A - Statement of Accounts 2016-17 with audit adjustments

	8 Progress Report on Internal Audit Annual Plan 2017/18
	Item 8 - Apps A and B - Progress Against Plan V2

	9 Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress Report
	Item 9 - Appendix A - Recommendations Progress - V1
	Item 9 - App. B - Recommendations Progress - V1

	10 Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board
	Item 10 - App. A Reports Issued Since Last Meeting Appendix V1
	Item 10 - App. B Reports Issued Since Last Meeting V2
	Item 10 - App. C Reports Issued Since Last Meeting V1

	11 Selective Invoice Checks

